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PART |

The statements contained in this Annual ReportarmFL0-K, including under the section titled “Maeagent’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and other sections of this Annual Rgpoclude forward-
looking statements within the meaning of SectioA &7the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, ardi®@e21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, dExisbange Act, including, without limitation, statents regarding our or
our management’s expectations, hopes, beliefjtiotes or strategies regarding the future, suabuagstimates regarding
anticipated operating losses, future revenues asjdqied expenses, particularly as they relateuell@nd SENSUS; our future
liquidity and our expectations regarding our nefedsind ability to raise additional capital; ouiilé to manage our expenses
effectively and raise the funds needed to contwrebusiness; our belief that there are unmet nieeitiee treatment of chronic
pain and our expectations surrounding Quell anccatnently marketed products; our expectation @uall has the potential to
be the largest contributor to 2015 revenues ofhoanketed products; our expected timing and plametelop and
commercialize our products, including our hopedmmercially launch Quell in the second quarter@E2 our belief that
controlled, personalized neuro-stimulation to segprpain provides an important complement to exjgiain medications and
treatments and that we are well positioned to nmekeo-stimulation widely available to chronic pairfferers; our ability to
execute our goal to build an installed base ofaatustomer accounts and distributors for our mackproducts; our plan to
conduct Quell clinical studies to support our mérigeand business plans and our hope that thed@stwill support future
adoption of both Quell and SENSUS; our ability bdadn and maintain regulatory approval of our eémgsproducts and any
future products we may develop; regulatory andslatjive developments in the United States anddareountries, including
developments related to third-party reimbursememt;expectation that we will continue to manufaetaur current marketed
products as well as Quell; our belief that our nfacturing relationships minimize our capital invasit, provide us with
manufacturing expertise, and help control costsatility to obtain and maintain intellectual profyeprotection for our
products; the successful development of our saldsvaarketing capabilities; the size and growthhef potential domestic and
international markets for our products and ourighiib serve those markets; our belief that theeeségnificant opportunities to
market Quell outside of the United States and ¢am o evaluate additional U.S. retail distributimpportunities after
commercial launch of Quell; the rate and degremarket acceptance of any future products, inclunell; our reliance on
key scientific management or personnel; and othetofs discussed elsewhere in this Annual RepoRosm 10-K or any
document incorporated by reference herein or thefidie words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,"continue,” “anticipate,”
“intend,” “expect,” “plan” and similar expressionsay identify forward-looking statements, but theetice of these words does
not mean that a statement is not forward-lookirtge forward-looking statements contained in thisuahmeport are based on
our current expectations and beliefs concerningréutievelopments and their potential effects oThere can be no assurance
that future developments affecting us will be ththet we have anticipated. These forward-lookimgeshents involve a number
of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyoadamntrol) or other assumptions that may causashotsults or performance
to be materially different from those expressednplied by these forward-looking statements. Thésles and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, those factors diégd in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Showolde or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, or should any of ouuagstions prove incorrect, actual results may veoynfthose projected in these
forward-looking statements. We undertake no obiligato update or revise any forward-looking statateewhether as a result
of new information, future events or otherwise,eptcas may be required under applicable secutities. Unless the context
otherwise requires, all references to “we”, “usie tCompany”, or “NeuroMetrix” in this Annual Repgan Form 10-K refer to
NeuroMetrix, Inc.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Our Business-An Overview

NeuroMetrix is an innovative health-care comparat ttevelops wearable medical technology and pdicare tests that
help patients and physicians better manage chpaiit nerve diseases, and sleep disorders. Oundsssis fully integrated
with in-house capabilities spanning product develept, manufacturing, regulatory affairs and compl& sales and
marketing, and customer support. We derive revefroasthe sale of medical devices and after-matkesumable products
and accessories. Our
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products are sold in the United States and selextetseas markets, and are cleared by the U.S. &mb&®rug Administration,
or FDA, and regulators in foreign jurisdictions wi@ppropriate. We have two principal product lines

«  Wearable neuro-stimulation therapeutic devices
e Point-of-care neuropathy diagnostic tests

Our core expertise in biomedical engineering hanlyefined over nearly two decades of designingdimg and marketing
medical devices that stimulate nerves and analgreerresponse for diagnostic and therapeutic pegpde created the market
for point-of-care nerve testing and were first tarket with sophisticated, wearable technology fanagement of chronic pain.
We have an experienced management team and BoBiiceotors. Our Scientific Advisory Board includiesernationally
recognized experts in diabetes and pain.

Chronic pain is a significant public health probldiis defined by the National Institutes of Héadts any pain lasting more
than 12 weeks in contrast to acute pain whichrisranal bodily response to injury or trauma. Chrgrain conditions include
painful diabetic neuropathy, fibromyalgia, sciaticausculoskeletal pain, cancer pain and many ati@monic pain may be
triggered by an injury or there may be an ongoiagse such as disease or iliness. There may also tlear cause. Pain signals
continue to be transmitted in the nervous systear extended periods of time often leading to otteaith problems. These can
include fatigue, sleep disturbance, decreased ipp@td mood changes which cause difficulty im@dag out important
activities and contributing to disability and deispln general, chronic pain cannot be cured. Trestt of chronic pain is
focused on reducing pain and improving functione Goal is effective pain management.

Chronic pain is widespread. It affects over 100ianladults in the United States and more tharbill®n people
worldwide. Within the US chronic pain populationeoof the largest segments is patients with neuhipagin estimated at 25
million persons. A significant subset of these gt is persons with diabetes of which 16% to 2G#fespainful diabetic
neuropathy, or PDN, estimated at 6 to 8 milliongras. The global market for pain management dangkdevices alone was
valued at $35 billion in 2012. The estimated inceatal impact of chronic pain on health care casthé United States is over
$250 hillion per year and lost productivity is esdited to exceed $300 billion per year.

The most common approach to chronic pain is paidicagion. This includes over-the-counter drugs lisas Advil and
Motrin), and prescription drugs including anti-caiteants (such as Lyrica and Neurontin) and antrelgants (such as
Cymbalta and Elavil). Topical creams may also terlysuch as Zostrix and Bengay). With severe pergotic pain
medications may be prescribed (such as codein@rfgin morphine, and oxycodone). The approachdattnent is
individualized, drug combinations may be employat the results are often hit or miss. Side effantsthe potential for
addiction are real and the risks are substantial.

Reflecting the difficulty in treating chronic paimadequate relief leads 25% to 50% of pain suféete turn to the over-the-
counter market for supplements or alternativesésgription pain medications. These include norsgniption medications,
topical creams, lotions, electrical stimulatorgtdiy products, braces, sleeves, pads and othes.ite total they account for
over $4 billion in annual spending in the Unitedt8s on pain relief products.

High frequency nerve stimulation is an establistiedtment for chronic pain supported by numeroimscell studies
demonstrating efficacy. In simplified outline, tinrechanism of action involves intensive nerve statiah to activate the
body’s central pain inhibition system resultingnidespread analgesia, or pain relief. The nervaudétion activates brainstem
pain centers leading to the release of endogengiofs that act primarily through the delta opioédeptor to reduce pain
signal transmission through the central nervousesysThis therapeutic approach is available thradegp brain stimulation
and through implantable spinal cord stimulatiorthbaf which require surgery and have attendansrislon-invasive
approaches to neuro-stimulation (transcutaneousriglal nerve stimulation, or TENS) have achieviedted efficacy in
practice due to device limitations, ineffective ihgsand low patient compliance.
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Our Strategy

There are large and important unmet medical ngedsronic pain treatment. Prescription pain medaoatand over-the-
counter therapies are often inadequate and candeatier health issues. We believe that contropedsonalized, neuro-
stimulation to suppress pain provides an importantplement to pain medications. As a medical dev@rapany with unique
experience in designing devices to manage and@tgsheral nerve function, we believe we are \elitioned to make neuro-
stimulation widely available to chronic pain suffes. We have direct experience with neuro-stimotetihrough our
prescription SENSUS wearable pain management dexhgsh has been on the market for the past twosyear

Our primary objective for 2015 is revenue growthe Akpect this to be led by the successful intradnand market
adoption of a new over-the-counter analgesic cayefgaturing Quell, our wearable device for pailefevhich builds upon the
core SENSUS neuro-stimulation technology. We algieet an important contribution to revenue growtnf DPNCheck, our
rapid, accurate diagnostic test for diabetic pesiphneuropathy, which we previously referred tdN&stat DPNCheck.

Our key business strategies for 2015 include:

Driving Commercial Adoption of Our Proprietary Products.

Quell, our over-the-counter (OTC) wearable device fan palief, was unveiled at the January 2015 Consume
Electronics Show (CES). Quell utilizes our promigtnon-invasive neurostimulation technology tovide relief from
chronic pain, particularly nerve pain due to dialseand lower back problems. This advanced weadahliee is
lightweight and can be worn during the day whiléva; and at night while sleeping. It has beenrelddy the FDA for
treatment of chronic pain without a doctor’s prgstoon. Users of the device will also have the optof using their
smartphones to automatically track and personéfiee pain therapy. Response to Quell at CES ayd fndependent
market studies has been positive. We hope to maledl @ommercially available in the United Statesiwuigi the second
quarter of 2015. Our commercial launch plan inveltxeo distribution channels: a professional chauoisélg a direct
sales force to target podiatrists, pain physicigrisjary care physicians, and chiropractors whold/oesell the produc
and a direct-to-consumer channel using online miawds@nd lead generation. During 2016 we plan twate
additional US retail distribution opportunities. Welieve there are significant opportunities to keaQuell outside of
the United States, particularly in Western Eurglagan and China; however, we do not intend to agprthose
markets until we have established a solid presenttee United States.

SENSUS, our prescription neuro-stimulation therapeuticide for relief of chronic pain, was launched ie fiirst
quarter of 2013 and provides the technological ftasion for Quell. SENSUS revenues in 2014 and 204:%
approximately $0.9 million and $0.2 million, respeely. SENSUS is distributed through durable metlequipment
(DME) suppliers who call on pain medicine physiganeurologists, endocrinologists, podiatrists, jarichary care
physicians to create awareness among physiciansavehchallenged with trying to manage chronic paitheir
patients. These physicians prescribe SENSUS to plagients who, in turn, have their prescriptioni§iffed by a DME.
The DME is also responsible for billing and colleatfrom third party payers such as Medicare am@winsurers. This
is a high cost distribution channel with tight miasy The DME channel is under pressure from Medisazompetitive
bidding initiative. We believe that the US growtbportunity for this prescription neuro-stimulatidavice is limited
and that there are more attractive opportunitiehénOTC market.

DPNCheck, our diagnostic test for peripheral neuropathias made commercially available in the fourth quaote
2011. DPNCheck revenues for 2014 and 2013 wereoappately $1.8 million and $1.3 million, respectiyeOur US
sales efforts focus on Medicare Advantage providdrs assume financial responsibility and the asdedirisks for the
health care costs of their patients. We believeEfRNCheck presents an attractive clinical cash weérly detection of
neuropathy allowing for earlier clinical intervemtito help mitigate the effects of neuropathy othhmatient quality of
life and cost of care. Also, the diagnosis and duetation of neuropathy provided by DPNCheck helpsfy the
patient health profile which, in turn, may haveird, positive effect on the Medicare
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Advantage premium received by the provider. Wedbvelithat attractive opportunities are developingapan where we
received regulatory approval and launched DPNCndttkOmron Healthcare in 2014; in China where weaorking
with Omron Healthcare on the regulatory process$/@xico where our distributor Scienta Farma regergteived
regulatory approval and plans to launch in earl¥22@&nd in the Middle East.

Maintaining a High Level of Research and Development Productivity. New products commercialized over the past three
years made up nearly fifty percent of our 2014 nexes, and we expect them to comprise the majafibuorevenues in 2015.
During those three years, we brought to market D& and SENSUS. Our research and developmentftea® its greatest
challenge of the past few years in completing demmlent of the Quell device, smartphone applicagiot electrode in time for
commercial launch in the second quarter of 201%s Bhour top priority and we believe Quell has pleential to be the largest
contributor to 2015 revenues of our marketed prtgjuscluding SENSUS and DPNCheck.

Our Business Model

Our products consist of a medical device used murwtion with a consumable electrode or bioserSther accessories
and consumables are also available to customersgy@d for these devices is to build an installadéof active customer
accounts and distributors that regularly orderrafteket products to meet their needs. We succégséfuplemented this model
when we started our business with the NC-stat systed applied it to subsequent product generatrahsding the
ADVANCE system. Our recently developed productsNSBS and DPNCheck, conform to this model. Quell ater
products in our development pipeline are basederévice plus consumables business model.

Marketed Products
Quell

Quell is a wearable device for relief of chroniérpauch as nerve pain due to diabetes and lowels f@blems,
incorporating our proprietary non-invasive neunostiation technology. Quell is comprised of (1) &c&onic device carried in
a neoprene band that is worn on the upper cal{2nadn electrode that attaches to the device atittigterface between the
device and the skin. The device is lightweight aad be worn during the day while active, and abhvghile sleeping. It has
been cleared by the FDA for treatment of chronia pad will be available OTC. Users of the devidé have the option of
using their smartphones to automatically track peronalize their pain therapy. The device was iletvat the Consumer
Electronics Show in January 2015 and we hope tcenitatommercially available in the United Statesinlythe second quarter
of 2015. Our commercial launch plan involves twstrdbution channels: a professional channel usidget sales force to
target podiatrists, pain physicians, primary cdrgsicians, and chiropractors who would resell tredpct, and a direct-to-
consumer channel using online marketing and leaeng¢ion.

SENSUS

The SENSUS pain therapy device is a prescriptiamastimulation device based on TENS for relief lofanic, intractable
pain. SENSUS, which was commercially launched énfifst quarter of 2014, is a convenient and wearebvice that offers
physicians and their patients a non-narcotic paliefroption as a complement to medications. SEN&Ut®mprised of: (1) an
electronic device with a strap that is worn onupeer calf and (2) an electrode which attachebdalevice. We provide
prescribing physicians with PC-based software lthias to the device via a USB connection, therellgnwang them to
download a record of the patient’s use of the dewe used our expertise in peripheral nerve sttir in the development of
SENSUS which incorporates several proprietary featéor ease of patient use and physician reporlihg SENSUS device
and electrodes were cleared by the FDA for comrakdistribution. When medically indicated and suped by proper
documentation, TENS are generally reimbursed byitéed and many commercial insurance companies uhdddME
benefit.

An evidence-based review by the American Academyeafrology determined that TENS was a useful mod&dr
managing pain associated with DPN. Our assessnfieatrently available TENS devices indicated thainyndo not meet the
needs of patients due to limitations of the devaed their difficulty to use.
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DPNCheck

DPNCheck is a fast, accurate, and quantitativeeneonduction test that is used to evaluate systamicopathies such as
DPN. It is designed to be used by primary care ighgyss, endocrinologists, podiatrists and othearicians at the point-of-care
to objectively detect, stage, and monitor DPN. @ieeice measures nerve conduction velocity and respamplitude of the
sural nerve, a nerve in the lower leg and ankles€lparameters are widely recognized as sensiti/sgecific biomarkers of
DPN. DPNCheck is comprised of: (1) an electroniodiaeld device and (2) a single patient use biageis addition, we
provide users with PC-based software that linkhéodevice via a USB connection. This PC softwéimva physicians to
generate reports and manage their sural nerve cbadulata.

DPNCheck is a modified version of our previouslyrkeded NC-stat nerve testing device and has the sdimical
indications with respect to DPN. The modified devitas the same functionality with respect to sueave testing as the
original device; however, the cost of the electtdmnd-held unit and the consumable biosensorbdes reduced by
approximately 50%. More than 1.8 million patientdies have been performed using our NC-stat teclggand there have
been approximately 6.4 million nerve tests, inahgdinore than 700,000 sural nerve tests. It has theesubject of many
published studies, including several studies sjmadif addressing the accuracy and clinical utitifithe device in assessment
of DPN.

ADVANCE System

Our legacy neurodiagnostics business is basedeoABIVANCE NCS/EMG System, or the ADVANCE System,ighhis a
comprehensive platform for the performance of tradal nerve conduction studies and invasive ed@aytography procedures.
The ADVANCE System is comprised of: (1) the ADVANG@Evice and related modules, (2) various typesentedes and
needles, and (3) a communication hub that enabéephysician’s office to network their device teittpersonal computers and
our servers for data archiving, report generatéom other network services. The ADVANCE System ishtommonly used
with proprietary nerve specific electrode arrayise3e electrode arrays combine multiple individletteodes and embedded
microelectronic components into a single patier-disposable unit. We currently market seven diffenerve-specific
electrode arrays.

Historically, the ADVANCE System has been marketed broad range of physician specialties includiagrologists,
orthopedic surgeons, primary care physicians, adderinologists, and utilized for a variety of difént clinical indications
including assessment of carpal tunnel syndrom€TS, low back and leg pain, and DPN. It is most camly used in the
assessment of CTS. Numerous papers have beenthmabbis the use of this technology in this clineaplication.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

The following chart summarizes our previously méekieproducts and currently marketed products.

No. Patients
Product Time on Market Technology Primary Clinical Indications Tested/Treated
NC-stat* Q2 1999 — Q3 2010 Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of
CTS, low back pain,
peripheral neuropathies
(including DPN)
> 1,800,000
(NC-stac and
Advance)
ADVANCE Q2 2008 — present  Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of
Invasive Needle CTS, low back pain,
EMG peripheral neuropathies
(including DPN)
DPNCheck Q4 2011 — present  Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of 300,000
peripheral neuropathies,
such as DPN
SENSUS Q1 2013 — present  Transcutaneous Relief for chronic, > 7,000
Electrical Nerve intractable pain, such as
Stimulation PDN
Quell Launch planned —  Transcutaneous Relief for chronic, Not yet
Q2 2015 Electrical Nerve intractable pain applicable
Stimulation

*  Support was discontinued in the first quarte261.2.

Customers

Our customers include physicians, clinics, hosgjtadanaged care organizations, retail health bsséase independent
distributors in the United States and abroad, amdlile medical equipment (DME) suppliers. With ldaench of Quell planned
for the second quarter of 2015 we expect our custemill expand to include patients who will pursbahe device directly
from us. SENSUS was launched in early 2013 andléste DME suppliers who, in turn, distribute theguct along with
consumables directly to patients. SENSUS customénchased approximately 5,800 devices during 20412300 devices
during 2013. DPNCheck shipments commenced in Iatd 2nd approximately 2,200 devices had been platbdustomers
through December 31, 2014. These customers inchadeged care organizations, retail health busisgeséocrinologists,
podiatrists and primary care physicians. As of Daoer 31, 2014, we had an installed base of appratein 610 active
customers using our ADVANCE System. These custolinetsde primary care, internal medicine, orthogeatid hand
surgeons, pain medicine physicians, neurologisigsipal medicine and rehabilitation, or PM&R, pltyans, and
neurosurgeons. At December 31, 2014, one custoogeuated for 30% of accounts receivable and mame 0% of revenue.
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201agle sustomer accounted for more than 10% of regen

Geographic Information

Substantially all of our assets, revenues, andresgsefor 2014, 2013, and 2012 were located atroredkfrom operations
in the United States. In addition, we have hadsstiieugh distributors in Europe, Asia, the MidHEEkst and various regions.
During 2014, 2013, and 2012, international reveragenunted for approximately 19%, 16%, and 7%,eaetbgely, of our total
revenues.

Sales, Marketing, and Distribution

We plan to begin commercial shipments of Quelhia Wnited States during the second quarter of 20L5launch plan
involves two distribution channels: a professiocteinnel using a direct sales force to target posligt pain physicians, primary
care physicians, and chiropractors who would rekelproduct, and a
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direct-to-consumer channel using online marketimgj lead generation. Marketing for Quell is led ly 8enior Vice President
and General Manager Consumer with support from etaty staff and supplemented by outside consult&vésbelieve there
are opportunities for Quell outside the United &aparticularly in Western Europe, Japan and Chioaever, we do not plan
to address those markets until we have establialsadid presence in the United States.

SENSUS is sold through a combination of national mgional DME suppliers whose sales representatia# on
endocrinologists, podiatrists, and primary carestigins that are challenged with trying to mandgemic pain in their
patients, including patients with painful diabeteuropathy. The efforts of DME suppliers are cawaitkd from our corporate
office.

Our US sales efforts for DPNCheck are focused onaged care, and specifically Medicare Advantageigers and
patient screening services, which we believe regmtssthe most attractive market opportunity. Weéebelthat attractive
opportunities are developing in Japan where weivedaegulatory approval and launched DPNCheck Withron Healthcare
in 2014; in China where we are working with Omrogaithcare on the regulatory process; in Mexico wioerr distributor
Scienta Farma recently received regulatory apprandlplans to launch in early 2015; and in the Néidehst.

Our installed base of ADVANCE accounts is suppoligaur customer service department. We are notedgtpursuing
new ADVANCE customers. Interest expressed in neWwARCE systems by potential customers is handledunycustomer
service department and our marketing departmetetriationally, ADVANCE sales and account suppohasdled by our
network of independent distributors.

Our marketing support for SENSUS, NC-stat DPNChaudk ADVANCE is provided by our Senior Vice Presitdeh
Commercial Operations and staff in our corporafeef

We invest significant effort and expense in techhiclinical, and business practices training for commercial operations
team, marketing staff and independent sales rempi@sees. We also require attendance at periodés smnd product training
programs. Promotion and sales of medical devicesighly regulated not only by the FDA, but alsothg U.S. Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, and théc®f Inspector General, or OIG, and, outsideUhéded States, by other
international bodies, and are subject to federdlstate fraud and abuse enforcement activities-SeEDA and other
Governmental Regulation” below.

Manufacturing and Supply

We perform final assembly and servicing of our SEX$Sand DPNCheck devices at our corporate headagsdatelity and
also intend to perform final assembly and servidorgQuell at this location. We rely on an outsabstractor for the
manufacture and servicing of our ADVANCE device agb for the components that we use in manufagy@ENSUS and
DPNCheck. We rely on outside contractors for theufiacture of our consumable biosensor/electrodéth ihve exception of
the biosensors for use with our DPNCheck deviceshwve acquire from two manufacturers, we do neotently maintain
alternative manufacturing sources for our SENSUBINDBheck or ADVANCE devices, communication hubs,
biosensors/electrodes, or any other finished gpoaiducts. In outsourcing, we target companiesriedt FDA, International
Organization for Standardization, or ISO, and othaality standards supported by internal policied procedures. Supplier
performance is maintained and managed throughraative action program ensuring all product recquieeats are met or
exceeded. Following the receipt of products or pobdomponents from our third-party manufactureses conduct the
necessary inspection, final assembly, packaging))ameling at our corporate headquarters faclée believe these
manufacturing relationships minimize our capitalestment, provide us with manufacturing expertésa help control costs.

Sunburst EMS, Inc., or Sunburst, has been manufagtour NC-stat devices since November 2005. Wered into a
supply agreement with Sunburst during 2006 fomtlamufacturing and supply of our neurodiagnostidaiss Sunburst
manufactures the current generation of our ADVAN{&lzice as well as the DPNCheck and SENSUS subatissraba
facility in Massachusetts.

Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc., or Parlex, hastbeganufacturing our nerve specific electrodes searéy 1999. In August
2006 we entered into a manufacturing and supplgeagent with Parlex pursuant to which Parlex wilhofacture and supply
to us, and we will purchase from Parlex, at agrtgmsh prices per
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unit, our requirements of nerve conduction tesétegtrodes for resale in the United States. Untideagreement, Parlex has
agreed not to manufacture electrodes to be use@asure nerve conduction for any other companyduhe term of the
agreement and, in some cases, for a period of eaetlgereafter. This agreement will continue inéfly until terminated by
either party upon not less than 18 months priott@minotice to the other party. Parlex manufactorgselectrodes at a facility
in Massachusetts and also has the ability to parfmrtain manufacturing steps for our electrodessscond site located in the
United Kingdom.

Katecho, Inc., or Katecho, a full service origieguipment manufacturer, or OEM, specializing in io&ldand cosmetic
devices, manufactures biosensors for use with ®M©Check devices and electrodes for use with ourS8EBldevices, and will
manufacture electrodes for use with Quell, undemab commercial terms contained in our purchaserstdKatecho
manufactures electrodes at its facility in lowa.

We and our third-party manufacturers are registeii¢ii the FDA and subject to compliance with FDAaljty system
regulations. We are also ISO registered and undeegoent quality system audits by European agen€er ADVANCE
System and DPNCheck are cleared for marketing witheé United States, Canada, and the European Uniaadldition, our
neurostimulation systems, SENSUS and Quell, amrettfor marketing in the United States. Our facib subject to periodic
inspections by regulatory authorities, and may vgaeompliance inspections conducted by the FDA@mtesponding state
agencies. As a registered device manufacturer, Wemndergo regularly scheduled FDA quality systerspections. However,
additional FDA inspections may occur if deemed seagy by the FDA.

Research and Development

We believe that we have research and developméid)Rapability that is unique to the industry witlkearly two decades
of experience in developing diagnostic and therp@evices involving the stimulation and measuretwd nerve signals for
clinical purposes. This group has extensive expedaen neurophysiology, biomedical instrumentat&ignal processing,
biomedical sensors, and information systems. R&Ek&alosely with our marketing group and custonterdesign products
that are focused on improving clinical outcomese Tdam consists of 10 people including two who MID. degrees and three
who hold Ph.D. degrees. It includes the extensivelvement of our founder and Chief Executive Gffigvho holds both M.D.
and Ph.D. degrees and who also coordinates theallprograms that we support.

R&D efforts currently encompass the following areas

« Development of Quel This wearable device for pain relief utilizes @uoprietary non-invasive neurostimulation
technology to provide relief from chronic pain, fi@arlarly nerve pain such as due to diabetes awéiddack problems.
It is lightweight and can be worn during the dayile/lactive, and at night while sleeping. It hasrbekeared by the FD
for treatment of chronic pain without a doctoprescription and will be available OTC. Usershef device will have th
option of using their smartphone to automaticalck and personalize their pain therapy. Quell gpraent is the
primary focus of our R&D group. This spans compigtQuell development for commercial shipments éngbcond
quarter of 2015, initiation of work on a second g&tion product and enhanced controls on propyietkctrodes, and
development of new clinical indications.

e Support of DPNCheck.We recently launched DPNCheck, our quantitatieeve conduction test for peripheral
neuropathies, in the Japan market. DPNCheck iseimtidst of regulatory review in China. The chagastics of these
markets often require device modification for loaateptance. We are collaborating with Omron Heal#hin Asia for
DPNCheck and anticipate continuing engineering supequirements.

e Support clinical studies that employ our productéd/e presently are involved in eight studies ttst DPNCheck in the
evaluation of neuropathy in persons with diabetegeu various study conditions. We are planning (ailical studies
to support our marketing and business plans. Tsteskes will be designed to expand the clinicahiation for use of
DPNCheck and Quell which, in turn, should suppottife adoption of these products.

Research and development expenses were approxiridtdl million, $3.4 million, and $3.5 million f@014, 2013, and
2012, respectively.
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Clinical Programs

We maintain a clinical program under the directidour Chief Executive Officer. This may from tinb@-time be
comprised of internal, collaborative, and exteciaical studies. Internal clinical studies areidasd and implemented directly
by us for the purposes of product design and edirlical validation. Collaborative studies are caotdd together with leading
researchers around the world to provide clinicéitieéion and to explore the clinical utility of oproducts. External studies are
entirely independent of us, although in many célsesesearchers request unrestricted grants fandial and/or material
support, such as for devices and consumables.riaitstudies may examine the clinical performanak ity of our products
or our products may be used as outcomes measures.

We actively seek to publish our clinical study fesin leading peer-reviewed journals while alseamraging our clinical
collaborators and clinical study grant recipietsld the same.

Following is a list of external studies involvingetuse of our products which are currently underway

Institution Initiated Study Focus Product Duration  Subjects
Ipswich Diabetes Centre, 2011 Evaluation of small fiber DPNCheck 4years 400
Ipswich Hospital (UK) neuropathy in patients with
diabetes
Royal Hallamshire Hospital, 2012 Evaluation of DPN based on DPNCheck 3years 100
University of Sheffield (UK) severity of diabetes
Royal Hallanshire Hospital 2014 One Stop Screening DPN Check 2years 1,000
University of Sheffield (UK) Service (OPSS) study
Joslin Diabetes Center 2012 Effect of weight loss on DPN DPNCheck 3 years 50
Institute for Clinical Diabetology, 2012 Assessment of DPN in newly DPNCheck 3 year 400
Heinrich Heine University diagnosed Type 2 diabetes
patients
Institute for Clinical Diabetology, 2013 Assessment of DPN in an DPNCheck 2years 700
Heinrich Heine University elderly population
First Vitals Health 2013 Effect of aggressive DPNCheck 3years 600

intervention on foot disease for
high risk patients

Mass General Hospital 2014 SENSUS efficacy in patients SENSUS 1 year 9
with restless leg syndrome

Competition

We believe there is no direct competition to owmestimulation devices, Quell and SENSUS, for tkeatiment of chronic
pain. The most common approach to chronic paimiis medication. This includes over-the-counter dr(gyich as Advil and
Motrin), and prescription drugs including anti-coiteants (such as Lyrica and Neurontin) and antrelgants (such as
Cymbalta and Elavil). Topical creams may also tedlysuch as Zostrix and Bengay). With severe peirgotic pain
medications may be prescribed (such as codein@rfgin morphine, and oxycodone). The approachdattnent is
individualized, drug combinations may be employat the results are often hit or miss. Side effantsthe potential for
addiction are real and the risks are substantial.

Reflecting the difficulty in treating chronic paiimadequate relief leads many pain sufferers to toithe over-the-counter
market for supplements or alternatives to pregorigbain medications. These include non-preschipti@dications, topical
creams, lotions, electrical stimulators, dietargdurcts, braces, sleeves, pads and other itemstairtiiey account for over $4
billion in annual spending in the United Stategain relief products.
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High frequency nerve stimulation is an establistiedtment for chronic pain supported by numeroumscell studies
demonstrating efficacy. In simplified outline, theechanism of action involves intensive nerve statiah to activate the
body’s central pain inhibition system resultingsiystemic analgesia, or pain relief. The nerve datmn activates brainstem
pain centers leading to the release of endogernmio&e that act primarily through the delta opioédeptor to reduce pain
signal transmission through the central nervoutesysThis therapeutic approach is available thralggp brain stimulation
and through implantable spinal cord stimulatiorthbaf which require surgery and have attendansridlon-invasive
approaches to neuro-stimulation (transcutaneowsrigial nerve stimulation, or TENS) have achieviedted efficacy in
practice due to device limitations, ineffective ishgsand low patient compliance. We believe thatlQared SENSUS clinical
and market claims covering chronic pain and slesghnical characteristics of high power and aut@magand the digital health
integration characteristics (Quell), place our pirid in a unique neurostimulation category. Thegenamerous manufacturers
of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation cei We believe that the largest such company isi,@Hnt. which is part of
DJO Incorporated.

We believe that DPNCheck is currently the only obje and standardized test for DPN widely avadadd the point-of-
care. The American Diabetes Association, or ADA] ather organizations recommend at least annudlli&ian of all people
with diabetes for DPN. Due to cost and availahilitys screen is typically performed with a sim(8e07/10g) monofilament.
This subjective method identifies late stage neattopwhere intervention is generally limited to feare. Experts in the field
have indicated that there is a large unmet need foactical, objective, and sensitive test fobdie neuropathy that can be
widely deployed in the regular care of all peoplthwliabetes. Monofilaments (5.07/10g) are a comitgambld by a number of
medical supply companies.

There are several companies that sell neurodiaigriestices that compete with our ADVANCE Systeme3é companies
include Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. and Natus Meldiceorporated. Natus Medical Incorporated has twutimlly greater
financial resources than we do. Natus Medical Ipomated and Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. have estiaddl reputations as
having effective worldwide distribution channels foedical instruments to neurologists and PM&R jitigss.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarkpyights, trade secrets, and other intellectuaperty laws,
nondisclosure agreements and other measures &cpoatr proprietary technology, intellectual prdpeights, and know-how.
We hold issued utility patents covering a numbeingfortant aspects of our Quell, SENSUS, DPNChexkADVANCE
products. We believe that in order to have a coitipetadvantage, we must develop and maintain tbprgetary aspects of our
technologies. We also require our employees, ctarstgland advisors, whom we expect to work on oodyrcts, to agree to
disclose and assign to us all inventions conceistedeloped using our property, or which relateuolusiness. Despite any
measures taken to protect our intellectual propertguthorized parties may attempt to copy aspEasr products or to obtain
and use information that we regard as proprietary.

Patents

As of December 31, 2014, we had 39 issued U.Snfmtevo issued foreign patents, and 29 pendingnpapplications,
including 13 U.S. applications, two internation@ Papplications, and 14 foreign national applicasioWe have filed two
utility patent applications for DPNCheck and fiuiity patent applications related to SENSUS ana&Qproduct lines.

Our issued design patents begin to expire in 28048,our issued utility patents begin to expireGi2 In particular, seven
of our issued U.S. utility patents covering vari@aspects of our current products will expire ongame date in 2017. Although
the patent protection for material aspects of aadpcts covered by the claims of the patents weilldst at that time, we have
additional patents and patent applications diretdemther novel inventions that will have patemtrte extending beyond 2017.

The medical device industry is characterized byetkistence of a large number of patents and freditigration based on
allegations of patent infringement. Patent litigatcan involve complex factual and legal questians its outcome is
uncertain. Any claim relating to infringement oft@ats that is successfully asserted against usretpyre us to pay substantial
damages. Even if we were to prevail, any litigattonld be costly and time-consuming and would ditkee attention of our
management and key personnel from our
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business operations. Our success will also depepdrt on our not infringing patents issued to mthimcluding our
competitors and potential competitors. If our pretduare found to infringe the patents of others,dmvelopment, manufacture,
and sale of these potential products could be sfvegstricted or prohibited. In addition, our coetiprs may independently
develop similar technologies. Because of the ingya of our patent portfolio to our business, wg fnae market share to our
competitors if we fail to protect our intellectyabperty rights.

A patent infringement suit brought against us nagd us or any strategic partners or licenseew{p® delay developing,
manufacturing, or selling potential products that @aimed to infringe a third-party’s intellectymbperty, unless that party
grants us rights to use its intellectual propdriysuch cases, we may be required to obtain licettspatents or proprietary
rights of others in order to continue to commeizébur products. However, we may not be able tainkany licenses required
under any patents or proprietary rights of thirdtipa on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if weenable to obtain rights to the
third-party’s intellectual property, these rightayrbe non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitarsess to the same
intellectual property. Ultimately, we may be unatiecommercialize some of our potential productmay have to cease some
of our business operations as a result of patémmgement claims, which could severely harm ousibess.

Trademarks

We hold domestic registrations for the marks NEUREIRIX, NC-stat, DPNCheck, and SENSUS. We use atradk for
ADVANCE, NC-stat DPNCheck, Quell, and OptiTherajye hold certain foreign trademark registrationstfa marks
NEUROMETRIX, NC-stat, and SENSUS.

Third-Party Reimbursement

Procedures performed with our neurodiagnostic nadievices including ADVANCE and DPNCheck may balgar by
third-party payers, including government healthgoamns, such as Medicare, and private insuranceramaged care
organizations. The 2015 Physicians Fee Schedulished by CMS includes CPT 95905 for nerve condaunctitudies
performed with pre-configured electrode arrays saghre used with the DPNCheck device and the ADEENystem.

We believe that physicians are generally receivaignbursement under CPT 95905 from Medicare fovenepnduction
studies performed for carpal tunnel syndrome upiegconfigured electrode arrays that meet the naédiecessity requirements
in their local Medicare region but that commeraisiurers are generally not providing reimbursem@eimbursement by third-
party payers is an important element of succesmémtical device companies. We do not foresee afisigint near-term
improvement in reimbursement for procedures peréarmith ADVANCE and DPNCheck.

In the United States, some insured individualsraceiving their medical care through managed cesgrams which
monitor and often require pre-approval of the sEggithat a member will receive. Some managed cagegms are paying their
providers on a per capita basis a predeterminedapayment per member which puts the providefimancial risk for the
services provided to their members. This is gehetiaé case under Medicare Advantage where comiaaisurers receive a
monthly capitated fee from CMS to provide all neszeg medical care to participating members. Thapéated fees are
adjusted under CMS'’s risk-adjustment model whiaksusealth status indicators, or risk scores, tarente adequacy of
payment. Members with higher risk codes generaitjuire more healthcare resources than those witbrlask codes. In turn,
the insurer fully absorbs the risk of patient healire costs. Insurers may share a portion ofiskenith provider organizations
such as independent practice associations (IPAR)whom they contract to provide medical servigetheir members. Proper
assessment of each member’s health status andatecoding helps to assure that insurers recepitatian fees consistent
with the cost of treating these members. Nerve gotioh testing can provide valuable, early ideaéfion of neuropathy
leading to clinical interventions that can reduealth care costs. Also, these tests provide vaduaplut regarding each
member’s health risk status which can result inerappropriate capitated payments from CMS. We belikat the clinical and
economic proposition for DPNCheck is attractivévtedicare Advantage insurers and risk bearing penvidiganizations. We
are focusing our sales effort for DPNCheck on trexMare Advantage managed care market segment.
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We believe that the SENSUS pain management thetiassistem is considered a durable medical equipifizvE)
benefit and is reimbursed for chronic pain by Madécand many commercial insurers under HCPCS cQ#8& for the device
and under HCPCS code A4595 for the consumableretiet. These pre-existing codes apply to DME benefnploying
transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation equipm&'e believe that Quell will not be reimbursedtbiyd party payers.

We believe that the overall escalating cost of madiroducts and services has led to, and willinastto lead to, increased
pressures on the healthcare industry to reduceasts of products and services.

Our success in selling the DPNCheck and SENSUS dewnd the ADVANCE System will depend upon, amathgr
things, our customers receiving, and our poteotigtomers’ expectation that they will receive sufint reimbursement or
patient capitated premium adjustments from thirdyppayers for procedures or therapies using thesgucts. See ltem 1A,
“Risk Factors,™If health care providers are unable to obtain scint reimbursement or other financial incentiyesm third-
party health care payers related to the use ofmaducts, the adoption of our products and our fetproduct sales will be
materially adversely affected.”

FDA and Other Governmental Regulation
FDA Regulation

Our products are medical devices subject to exterrsigulation by the FDA under the Federal FoodigDand Cosmetic
Act, or FDCA, and the regulations promulgated thacder, as well as by other regulatory bodies inthiged States and
abroad. The FDA classifies medical devices into @fithree classes on the basis of the amount lofsociated with the
medical device and the controls deemed necessaeasonably ensure their safety and effectiveness:

e Class |, requiring general controls, including liaigg device listing, reporting and, for some proti) adherence to go
manufacturing practices through the FDA'’s qualitgtem regulations and pre-market notification;

e Class Il, requiring general controls and specaaitrols, which may include performance standarmspost-market
surveillance; and

e Class lll, requiring general controls and pre+eamapproval, or PMA, which may include post-ap@iasonditions and
post-market surveillance.

Before being introduced into the market, our praslmgust obtain market clearance or approval thrahgtb10(k) pre-
market notification process, tlde novareview process or the PMA process, unless theyifgdal an exemption from these
processes. See Item 1A, “Risk Factof8ye are subject to extensive regulation by the Rilifich could restrict the sales and
marketing of the Quell, SENSUS and DPNCheck degaitgshe ADVANCE System, as well as other prodacishich we may
seek FDA clearance or approval, and could caus®uiscur significant costs.”

510(k) Pre-Market Notification Process

To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit a prekatanotification demonstrating that the proposedick is substantially
equivalent to a legally marketed Class | or Il neetidevice or to a Class Il device marketed pigokay 28, 1976 for which
the FDA has not required the submission of a PM@liagtion. In some cases, we may be required ttoparclinical trials to
support a claim of substantial equivalence. Ifichhtrials are required, we must submit an apfilicefor an investigational
device exemption, or IDE, which must be clearedh®yFDA prior to the start of a clinical investigat, unless the device and
clinical investigation are considered non-significesk by the FDA or are exempt from the IDE regumients. It generally takes
three months from the date of the pre-market matifon submission to obtain a final 510(k) decisiout it can be significantly
longer.

After a medical device receives 510(k) clearanog,raodification that could significantly affect gsifety or effectiveness,
or that would constitute a major change in itsndied use, requires the submission of a new 510¢&yance or could require
de novcclassification or PMA. The FDA allows each compamynake this determination, but the FDA can revikgvdecision.
If the FDA disagrees with a company’s
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decision not to seek FDA authorization, the FDA mequire the company to seek 510(k) clearance oi PWie FDA also can
require the company to cease marketing and/orlrdmamedical device in question until its reguigitstatus is resolved.

De Novo Review Process

If a previously unclassified new medical device slaet qualify for the 510(k) pre-market notificatiprocess because there
is no predicate device to which it is substantielpivalent, and if the device may be adequatejyleged through general
controls or special controls, the device may bgilgk forde novoclassification through what is called tle novareview
process. In order to use tbe novareview process, a company must receive a letten flee FDA stating that, because the
device has been found not substantially equivadteatlegally marketed Class | or || medical devacego a Class Il device
marketed prior to May 28, 1976 for which the FD/As et required the submission of a PMA applicatibhas been placed
into Class lll. After receiving this letter, therapany, within 30 days, must submit to the FDA aue for a risk based down
classification of the device from Class Il to Gldsor Il based on the device’s moderate or low piofile which meets the
definition of a Class | or Class Il medical devigbe FDA then has 60 days in which to decide whettheown classify the
device. If the FDA agrees that a lower classifimatis warranted, it will issue a new regulationatésng the device type and,
for a Class Il device, publish a Special Contralslgnce document. The Special Controls guidancardeat specifies the
scope of the device type and the recommendatiorsufimission of subsequent devices for the sareaded use. If a product
is classified as Class Il through ttie novoreview process, then that device may serve asdicate device for subsequent 510
(k) pre-market notifications.

PMA Process

If a medical device does not qualify for the 51Q¢kg-market notification process and is not eligitdr clearance through
thede novareview process, a company must submit a PMA apdicaThe PMA requires more extensive pre-filingtieg
than is required in the 510(k) and is more costigygthy and uncertain. The FDA will decide withit days of receiving a PMA
whether it is sufficiently complete to permit a stantive review and if the PMA is complete, the F#¥l notify the applicant
that the PMA has been filed. The PMA process cke tae to three years or longer, from the timeRNEA application is filed
with the FDA. The PMA process requires the comparngrove that the medical device is safe and affecor its intended
purpose. A PMA typically includes extensive praxidal and clinical trial data, and information abthe device, its design,
manufacture, labeling and components. Before appgay PMA, the FDA generally also performs an de-gispection of
manufacturing facilities for the product to ensooenpliance with the FDA’s quality system regulation QSR.

If FDA approves the PMA, the approved indicatioresyrbe more limited than those originally soughtadidition, FDA’s
approval order may include post-approval conditithiag the FDA believes necessary to ensure théysarfiel effectiveness of
the device, including, among other things, resoi on labeling, promotion, sale and distributionl post-market study
requirements. Failure to comply with the post-appt@onditions can result in adverse enforcemeiatdoninistrative actions,
including the withdrawal of the approval. Approedla new PMA application or a PMA supplement maydiguired in the
event of modifications to the device, includingt®labeling, intended use or indication, or itsnuiacturing process that affect
safety and effectiveness.

Post-Approval Obligations
After a device is placed on the market, numerogsletory requirements continue to apply. Theseuitel

* the FDA’'s QSR, which requires manufacturers,udioig third-party manufacturers, to follow stringelesign, testing,
control, documentation and other good manufactusiagtice and quality assurance procedures dulimgpects of the
manufacturing process;

« labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions agaitimg promotion of products for uncleared or unappdouses (known
as off-label uses), as well as requirements toigeoadequate information on both risks and benefits
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< medical device reporting regulations, which reguhat manufacturers report to FDA any device thay have caused
or contributed to a death or serious injury or mmattioned in a way that would likely cause or ciimite to a death or
serious injury if the malfunction were to recur;

e correction and removal reporting regulations,shhiequire that manufacturers report to the FDAlf@rrections and
device recalls or removals if undertaken to redaicsk to health posed by the device or to remedgplation of the
FDCA caused by the device which may present atoislealth;

e post-market surveillance regulations, which agplZlass Il or Il devices if the FDA has issuepast-market
surveillance order and the failure of the devicaildde reasonably likely to have serious adversdtiheonsequences,
the device is expected to have significant us@énpediatric population, the device is intendedgamplanted in the
human body for more than one year, or the deviagténded to be used to support or sustain lifetarite used outside
a user facility;

e regular and for cause inspections by FDA to nevdemanufactures facilities and their compliance with applicableA
requirements; and

- the FDA's recall authority, whereby it can askpoder, device manufacturers to recall from thekega product that is
in violation of applicable laws and regulations.

Regulatory Approvals and Clearances

The ADVANCE System received 510(k) clearance asaasdI medical device in April 2008 for its intesdiuse by
physicians to perform nerve conduction studiesra®tle electromyography procedures.

The NC-stat System is also a Class Il medical a@eaitd has been the subject of several 510(k) cleasathe most recent
in July 2006 (K060584). The NC-stat System is @ddbor use to stimulate and measure neuromusaglaals that are useful in
diagnosing and evaluating systemic and entrapmeuropathies. We believe our NC-stat DPNCheck (“DR&IK”) device is a
technical modification to the 510(k) cleared NCtskavice and has the same intended use, and theides not raise safety or
effectiveness questions. Under the FDA's publisneidance on 510(k) requirements for modified devjege do not believe
that a 510(k) submission is required for DPNCheck.

As transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulatorsSIERSUS and Quell pain therapy devices are Clasedlical devices
which received 510(k) clearance from the FDA in Asig2012 and July 2014, respectively. In Novemif®dr22 the FDA
provided 510(Kk) clearance for the disposable ebdetrused in conjunction with the SENSUS device,inrddily 2013, the FDA
provided 510(Kk) clearance for the use of SENSU&dwsleep. The intended use of the SENSUS pain geanant therapeutic
system is the symptomatic relief and managemeahahic intractable pain. In July 2014, our Quelide received 510(k)
clearance for over-the-counter use. The intendedtithe Quell pain management therapeutic syséahei symptomatic relief
and management of chronic intractable pain. Thdl@egice may also be used during nighttime sleep.

Manufacturing Facilities

Our facility, and the facility utilized by Sunburstur contract device manufacturer, have each megprected by FDA in the
past, and observations were noted. There werendfis that involved a significant violation of tégtory requirements. The
responses to these observations have been actgptieel FDA and we believe that we and our contreatufacturer are in
substantial compliance with the QSR. We expectdhafacility will be inspected again as requirgdtbe FDA. If the FDA
finds significant violations, we could be subjezfines, recalls, requirements to halt manufacgyror other administrative or
judicial sanctions.

U.S. Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, the federal Anti-Kickbackt&ta, as well as numerous state anti-kickback lgnahibit the offer,
payment, solicitation or receipt of kickbacks, lestor other remuneration, whether direct or indjrexert or covert, in cash or
in kind, intended, among other things, to induaeghrchase or recommendation of healthcare prodndservices. While the
federal law applies only to products and servicesvhich payment may be made by a federal heakhmargram, the state laws
may apply regardless of whether any public heafthfiands are involved. Violations of these laws lead to severe civil and
criminal penalties, including exclusion from paigition in federal healthcare programs. These laws
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are potentially applicable to manufacturers of rmaldievices, such as us, and to hospitals, physiciad other potential
purchasers of our products.

Also, the federal False Claims Act, as well as mstaye false claims statutes, provides civil amahical penalties for
presenting, or causing to be presented, to thirtdseayers for reimbursement, claims that are fatsaudulent, or which are
for items or services that were not provided asdd. Under the federal False Claims Act, in additio actions initiated by
federal law enforcement authorities, the statutbaizes “qui tam” actions to be brought on beladlfhe federal government
by a private party in certain circumstances angudcessful, that private party can share in angetaoy recovery. Any
challenge by federal or state enforcement offiaislsthers under these laws, could have a matadisrse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of ofiens.

Legacy Neurodiagnostics Business

We were founded in 1996 as a science-based heaktcompany. Our focus had been the developmeénhotative
products for the detection, diagnosis, and momitpdf peripheral nerve and spinal cord disordersh&s those associated with
carpal tunnel syndrome, lumbosacral disc diseadespimal stenosis, and diabetes. Our NC-stat Sykiethe performance of
nerve conduction studies at the point-of-care vaasroercially launched in 1999. The second generdiGrstat was released
in 2002. In 2008, we brought to market the morensgijgated ADVANCE System for nerve conductionitegtand
performance of invasive needle electromyographgsétsystems were general purpose with broad apptida evaluating and
diagnosing nerve disorders. Numerous studies demaoing the clinical accuracy and utility of thedevices have been
conducted and published in high quality peer-reei@yournals. Furthermore, these devices have bssthin FDA sanctioned
clinical trials for pharmacological agents and éasgale epidemiological studies sponsored by tihe Renter for Disease
Control, or CDC, and other governmental agencies. groducts have been cleared by the FDA, fielgkdefor over a decade
and highly regarded for their ease of use, accuaacyreproducibility of results.

Following launch of NC-stat in 1999, we experiencapid revenue growth, which led to our initial alffering in 2004.
The health market, particularly the physician afsegment, embraced the opportunity to performeneownduction tests which
previously had always required referral to spesialiPoint-of-care nerve testing was seen to peo&idombination of improved
patient care and patient convenience. The sucégssri-of-care nerve testing, a market which weated, was met with
resistance in some sectors of the medical commupetrticularly by neurologists and physical medicand rehabilitation
physicians, both of which had traditionally prowideerve testing services. As a consequence of ssittdobbying by these
specialists, physicians using our technology expeed increased denials of coverage by third geayers resulting in their
discontinuing usage and our difficulty in accrumgw customer accounts. In late 2009 CMS includgtérPhysician Fee
Schedule a new Category | CPT Code, CPT 9590%éore conduction studies performed using precordigielectrode such
as those employed with our products. During 2018trivtedicare fiscal intermediaries assumed covef@g€PT 95905 for at
least some clinical indications; however, the leealtre environment has been such that we haveuredite to secure broad
coverage among private payers, which is essentihiet success of our ADVANCE System product. TRjgeeience was
reflected in our revenues for the legacy Neurodigtjns business, which peaked in 2006 at $55.3amillWe reported revenue
for our legacy Neurodiagnostics business of $218anj $3.8 million, and $6.1 million in 2014, 20E&hd 2012, respectively.
We currently manage this business to optimize fagh

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had a total of 32tfle employees. Of these employees, 10 were irarelsend
development, 11 in sales and marketing, 6 in prooiudistribution, and 5 in general and adminisi@aservices. One
employee holds both M.D. and Ph.D. degrees, ondogma holds an M.D. degree and two additional eyges hold Ph.D.
degrees. Our employees are not represented byradalmn and are not subject to a collective baniggi agreement. We have
never experienced a work stoppage. We believeatbdtave good relations with our employees.
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Available Information

Access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&&ports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form &i€,
amendments to these reports filed with or furnisioetthe Securities and Exchange Commission, or Sy, be obtained
through the Investor Relations section of our weebatwww.neurometrix.com/investas soon as reasonably practical after we
electronically file or furnish these reports. Wert charge for access to and viewing of thesertepimformation on our
Investor Relations page and on our website is adtqf this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any of other securities filings
unless specifically incorporated herein by refeeeriac addition, the public may read and copy anyemias that we file with the
SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100de6tNE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public mayivbinformation on
the operation of the Public Reference Room bymglihe SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, our filingdwiite SEC may be
accessed through the SEC’s websitenatv.sec.govAll statements made in any of our securities fiinmcluding all forward-
looking statements or information, are made adefdate of the document in which the statememicisided, and we do not
assume or undertake any obligation to update atlyose statements or documents unless we are edgoido so by law.

Corporate Information

NeuroMetrix was founded in June 1996 by our Pregidad Chief Executive Officer, Shai N. Gozani, M.Bh.D. We
originally were incorporated in Massachusetts ii6,%nd we reincorporated in Delaware in 2001. @uncipal offices are
located at 62 Fourth Avenue, Waltham, Massachue2#51.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk&lall other information contained in this Annuagrt on Form 10-K
and our other public filings before making any istreent decisions with respect to our common stbaky of the following
risks occurs, our business, prospects, reputatiesilts of operations, or financial condition coddd harmed. In that case, the
trading price of our common stock could declined anr stockholders could lose all or part of thigivestment. This Annual
Report also contains forward-looking statements theolve risks and uncertainties. Our actual réswould differ materially
from those anticipated in the forward-looking stats as a result of specific factors, including tisks described below and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We have incurred significant operating losses sindaception and cannot assure you that we will agaiachieve
profitability.

We have incurred significant cumulative net lossiase our inception. Our net losses for 2014, 2@hd,2012, were
approximately $7.8 million, $8.0 million, and $10v@llion, respectively. At December 31, 2014, wel e accumulated deficit
of approximately $154.4 million. The extent of duture operating income or losses is highly unéert@nd we cannot assure
you that we will be able to achieve or maintainfipadility.

Our independent auditor has expressed substantialalibt about our ability to continue as a going conga. Our ability to
continue as a going concern is dependent on our &by to raise additional capital and our operationscould be curtailed if
we are unable to obtain the required additional furling when needed. We may not be able to do so wheecessary,
and/or the terms of any financings may not be advaageous to us.

We held cash and cash equivalents of $9.2 milloofédDecember 31, 2014. We believe that these ress@and the cash to
be generated from expected product sales will Hemnt to meet our projected operating requiretaghrough the third
quarter of 2015. Our financial statements have Ipeepared assuming that we will continue as a goorggern which
contemplates the realization of assets and sdiisfiacf liabilities in the normal course of busise®Ve expect to incur further
losses as we aim to successfully commercialize Did¢ic and Quell and the operations of our businedséll be dependent
on funding our operations through public or privit@ancing, collaborative arrangements with straigartners, or through
additional credit lines or other debt financing m@s to increase the funds available to fund ofmeTsit These circumstances
raise substantial doubt about our ability to camims a going concern. As a result of this uncesgtaind the substantial doubt
about our ability to continue as a going concerofd3ecember 31, 2014 the Report of IndependentsRegd Public
Accounting Firm at the beginning of the Financitt8ments section in this Form 10-K includes a g@oncern explanatory
paragraph. Management’s plans include increasivenrtge through the commercialization of Quell andN@Reck. However,
no assurance can be given at this time as to whethevill be able to achieve these objectives. flhancial statements do not
include any adjustment relating to the recovergbiind classification of recorded asset amounte@amounts and
classification of liabilities that might be necegsshould we be unable to continue as a going aonce

We continue to face significant challenges and tngties and, as a result, our available capésburces may be
consumed more rapidly than currently expected dya)tdecreases in sales of our products and thertanty of future
revenues from new products; (b) changes we may tmatke business that affect ongoing operating esg® (c) changes we
may make in our business strategy; (d) regulatemetbpments affecting our existing products andyieln the FDA approval
process for products under development; (e) chaingasr research and development spending plamks(faother items
affecting our forecasted level of expenditures asel of cash resources. Accordingly, we will neechtse additional funds to
support our operating and capital needs for thetlioguarter of 2015 and beyond. We may attempbtain additional funding
through public or private financing, collaborataeangements with strategic partners, or througtitiadal credit lines or other
debt financing sources to increase the funds adeika fund operations. However, we may not be &bkecure such financing
in a timely manner or on favorable terms, if at Blirthermore, if we issue equity or debt secigiteeraise additional funds, our
existing stockholders may experience dilution, #irelnew equity or debt securities may have rigirsferences and
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privileges senior to those of our existing stockleos. If we raise additional funds through collation, licensing or other
similar arrangements, it may be necessary to neliigvaluable rights to our potential products mppietary technologies, or
grant licenses on terms that are not favorablest®\lithout additional funds, we may be forced tagescale back or eliminate
some of our sales and marketing efforts, researdrdavelopment activities, or other operations pategntially delay product
development in an effort to provide sufficient fertd continue our operations. If any of these eventurs, our ability to
achieve our development and commercialization goal#d be adversely affected.

We are focused on commercialization of our wearabldevices for chronic pain. We cannot assure you thave will be
successful in this field or that our current commecial product for peripheral neuropathy, DPNCheck, a the product
candidates in our development pipeline, will be swessful.

We are focused on the launch in the second quafr015 and subsequent commercialization of Qoell,OTC wearable
device for pain relief. Quell is based on our priggion product for pain relief, SENSUS, which Hseen on the market for two
years. We have shipped over 7,000 SENSUS deviaaggdihat period. DPNCheck, which was launchedate P011, is a fast,
accurate, and guantitative nerve conduction testyistemic neuropathies, such as DPN. We have ptbduct candidates in
our development pipeline. Our future prospectschrgely tied to our success with our wearable des/for chronic pain which,
in turn, depend upon market acceptance and growfilture revenues. We cannot assure you that cunmacialization
strategy will be successful. If our strategy is swtcessful, it could materially affect our revemaed results of operations.

Our future success could be adversely affectedrnyngber of factors, including:

e inability to complete development and launch Qine2015;

< inability to create market demand for Quell thgbuwa direct sales force and through online marketiiforts;
e manufacturing issues with Quell, SENSUS or otieoproducts;

e inability to increase adoption of DPNCheck witlie Medicare Advantage market;

< unfavorable market response to DPNCheck in Japdrother Asia markets;

< unfavorable changes to current Medicare, Medigaheantage and commercial payer payment policies;
e changes to payor policies under the Patient Btioteand Affordable Care Act;

< unfavorable experiences by patients and physaismg Quell, SENSUS and our other products; and,
< physicians’ reluctance to alter their existinggiices and adopt the use of our devices.

If we are unable to expand exposure and penetratmarket for DPNCheck and SENSUS, or to estahlistarket for
Quell, our ability to increase our revenues willlineited and our business prospects will be ad\ersiected.

If health care providers are unable to obtain sufftient reimbursement or other financial incentives fom third-party
health care payers related to the use of our produs, the adoption of our products and our future praluct sales will be
materially adversely affected.

Widespread adoption of our SENSUS and DPNCheckyetsdy the medical community is unlikely to ocaithout a
financial incentive from third-party payers for thge of these products. If health care providezsuaable to obtain adequate
reimbursement for procedures performed using thesducts, if managed care organizations do nofvedmproved capitated
payments due to more accurate patient risk assessrsiag our products, and if DME suppliers areadsquately reimbursed
for supplying our therapeutic products, we may bahle to sell our products at levels that are siffit to allow us to achieve
and maintain profitability, and our business woslidifer significantly. Additionally, even if thesequucts and procedures are
adequately reimbursed by third-party payers toddygerse changes in payers future policies
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toward payment would harm our ability to market aetl our products. Third-party payers include thgevernmental
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, privatétheesurers, workers’ compensation programs ahermbrganizations.

Future regulatory action by CMS or other governrakagencies or negative clinical results may disfineimbursement
payments to physicians for performing procedurésgusur products. Medicaid reimbursement diffemsirstate to state, and
some state Medicaid programs may not cover theepitoes performed with our products or pay physgceamadequate amount
for performing those procedures, if at all. Additidly, some private payers do not follow the Medicguidelines and may
reimburse for only a portion of these proceduresatrat all. We are unable to predict what changése made in the
reimbursement methods used by private or goverrahtritd-party payers. Importantly, we cannot petetle effects that
implementation of the Patient Protection and Afedolé Care Act will have on CMS, commercial insuréeslth care
providers, and ultimately on our business.

Healthcare reform legislation could adversely affetcour future revenues.

Our future revenues will be impacted by the CMSdble Medical Equipment, Prosthetics, Orthotics ogplies
(DMEPOS) Competitive Bidding Program. Under thiegnam, Medicare will no longer reimburse suppliferscertain
products and services, including transcutaneoudrilal nerve stimulation (TENS), based on the Madk fee schedule
amount. Instead CMS will provide reimbursementtfarse products and services based on a compediitidgéng process. Our
SENSUS pain management system is presently clegsifithin TENS. The DMEPOS Competitive Bidding Parg will likely
require us to sell SENSUS devices and related enables subject to Medicare reimbursement at sianifly lower prices
which would have a material adverse effect on SESItbfitability. In those regions of the countryeve DMEPOS
Competitive Bidding was implemented in January 2044 Medicare pricing is restricting our ability sell SENSUS. As the
DMEPOS program is expanded to other regions, daimffect will likely be seen.

We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA kich could restrict the sales and marketing of th&uell, SENSUS
and DPNCheck devices and the ADVANCE System as wels other products for which we may seek FDA clearee or
approval, and could cause us to incur significantasts.

We sell medical devices that are subject to extensigulation in the United States by the FDA wébard to
manufacturing, labeling, sale, promotion, distribnf shipping and ongoing monitoring and follow-Before a new medical
device, or a new use of or claim for an existingdurct, can be marketed in the United States, it imss be cleared or
approved by the FDA. Medical devices may be martketdy for the indications for which they are apged or cleared. The
regulatory review process can be expensive andignghe FDA'’s process for granting 510(k) cleatypically takes
approximately three to six months, but it can lgmidicantly longer. The process for obtaining a-prarket approval, or PMA,
is much more costly and onerous. By law, the tireoa designated for the FDA's review of a PMA &1days; however, this
time is often extended and it is not uncommon lierPMA review process to take three years or lofrgen the time the
application is filed with the FDA.

The FDA may remove our devices from the marketjoia them from commercial distribution if safety effectiveness
problems develop. Further, we may not be able taioladditional 510(k) clearances or pre-marketraygs for new products
or for modifications to, or additional indicatiofe, our existing products in a timely fashion,atrall. Delays in obtaining
future clearances or approvals would adverselycaffar ability to introduce new or enhanced producta timely manner,
which in turn would harm our revenue and futurefipmbility. We have made modifications to our deddn the past and may
make additional modifications in the future thatbetieve do not or will not require additional al@aces or approvals. If the
FDA disagrees, and requires new clearances or ealgrfor the modifications, we may be requireddcall and to stop
marketing the modified devices. If any of thesergs@ccurs or if the FDA takes other enforcemetibas, we may not be able
to provide our customers with the products theyiregon a timely basis, our reputation could beried, and we could lose
customers and suffer reduced revenues and increasesd

We also are subject to numerous post-marketingamy requirements, including the FDA'’s qualityssym regulations,
which relate to the design, manufacture, packadaimgling, storage, installation and
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servicing of our products, labeling regulationsdimeal device reporting regulations and correctind eemoval reporting
regulations. Our failure or the failure by any miawturer of our products to comply with applicabdgulatory requirements
could result in enforcement action by the FDA. FBrforcement actions relating to post-marketing leguy requirements or
other issues, including any issues arising frommiitesubstantially equivalent letter described a&)oway include any of the
following:

e warning letters, untitled letters, fines, injuncis, product seizures, consent decrees and @nlgies;
e requiring repair, replacement, refunds, custonmtifications or recall of our products;
e imposing operating restrictions, suspension oatdtwn of production;

« refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or PAp@roval of new products, new intended uses, dlifications to
existing products;

e requesting voluntary rescission of 510(k) cleaesnor withdrawing PMA approvals that have alrelaggn granted; and
e criminal prosecution.
If any of these events were to occur, they couldnhaur reputation, our ability to generate reverares our profitability.

Also, from time to time, legislation is introducedo Congress that could significantly change tia¢usory provisions
governing the approval, manufacturing and marketihgedical devices. FDA regulations and guidarreeadten revised or
reinterpreted by the agency in ways that may sicamtly affect our business and our products. iinigossible to predict
whether legislative changes will be enacted, or FBdgulations, guidance or interpretations changed,what the impact of
such changes, if any, may be. The FDA has pubditeied that it is reevaluating its longstanding(klL@eview program. It is
not clear when the program will be modified and tdféect the modified review process will have am ability to bring our
product candidates to market.

We depend on several single source manufacturers produce our products. Any material adverse changeis our
relationships with these manufacturers could prevenhus from delivering products to our customers in aimely manner
and may adversely impact our future revenues or cés.

We rely on third-party manufacturers to manufacttomponents of our DPNCheck, SENSUS and Quell systand to
fully manufacture the ADVANCE system. In the evérat our manufacturers cease to manufacture seifficjuantities of our
products or components in a timely manner and ongecceptable to us, we would be forced to loakiéenate manufacturers.
Additionally, if our manufacturers experience dueg in their production process, are unable taiobs$ufficient quantities of
the components necessary to manufacture our pmducitherwise fail to meet our quality requirensemte may be forced to
delay the manufacture and sale of our productsaaté an alternative manufacturer. We may be uniabtEate suitable
alternative manufacturers for our products or congmds for which the manufacturing process is nedfitispecialized, on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. We have a manufagjuimd supply agreement with Parlex Polymer Flex@iteuits, Inc. for the
manufacture of the ADVANCE electrodes for nervedusttion testing. Katecho, Inc. manufactures biosenfor use with our
DPNCheck devices and manufactures electrodes fNISSES and Quell, and Sunburst EMS, Inc. manufactelexstronic
boards and other components of our DPNCheck, SENSIdSQuell products which we assemble at our Massatts facility
to produce completed devices. Sunburst EMS, Iise. manufactures our ADVANCE System monitors, doglatations, and
communication hubs.

We have experienced transient inventory shortagesew products during the initial production rampahase. If any
materially adverse changes in our relationshiph thiese manufacturers occur, our ability to sujmpiycustomers will be
severely limited until we are able to engage asrattte manufacturer or, if applicable, resolve gquglity issues with our
existing manufacturer. This situation could prewvemifrom delivering products to our customers timeely manner, lead to
decreased sales or increased costs, or harm autatiem with our customers.
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If our manufacturers are unable to supply us with an adequate supply of products as we expand our maeks, we could
lose customers, our potential future growth could b limited and our business could be harmed.

In order for us to successfully expand our busimgtsin the United States and internationally, oantract manufacturers
must be able to provide us with substantial quiastiof our products in compliance with regulataguirements, in accordance
with agreed upon specifications, at acceptableaodton a timely basis. Our potential future groedghld strain the ability of
our manufacturers to deliver products and obtaiteriads and components in sufficient quantitiesnhfacturers often
experience difficulties in scaling up productiom¢luding problems with production yields and quatibntrol and assurance. If
we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities gfthquality products to meet customer demand omelyi basis, we could lose
customers, our growth may be limited and our bussire®uld be harmed.

If we or the manufacturers of our products fail tocomply with the FDA'’s quality system regulation, the manufacturing
and distribution of our products could be interrupted, and our product sales and operating results cédisuffer.

We and our contract manufacturers are requirednapty with the FDA’s quality system regulation, @SR, which is a
complex regulation that governs the proceduresdaedmentation of the design, testing, productiomtiol, quality assurance,
labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage angbgimg of our devices. The FDA enforces the QSRufghoperiodic inspections.
We cannot assure you that our facilities or thdifess of the manufacturers of our products woplss any future inspection. If
our facilities or any of the facilities of the mdacturers of our products fail an inspection, thennfacturing or distribution of
our products could be interrupted and our operatiisrupted. Failure to take adequate and timelsective action in response
to an adverse inspection could result in a susparai shutdown of our packaging and labeling op@matand the operations of
the manufacturers of our products or a recall ofpyoducts, or other administrative or judicial sgons. If any of these events
occurs, we may not be able to provide our customvéhsthe quantity of products they require onradly basis, our reputation
could be harmed, and we could lose customers diet seaduced revenues and increased costs.

Our products may be subject to recalls, even aftareceiving FDA clearance or approval, which would hem our
reputation, business and financial results.

We are subject to the medical device reporting legguns, which require us to report to the FDA uir products may have
caused or contributed to a death or serious inurjrave malfunctioned in a way that would likebuse or contribute to a
death or serious injury if the malfunction wereotur. We are also subject to the correction antbral reporting regulations,
which require us to report to the FDA any fieldremtions and device recalls or removals that weettale to reduce a risk to
health posed by the device or to remedy a violatifoihe Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or BD€used by the device
which may present a risk to health. In additior, BDA and similar governmental agencies in othentes have the authority
to require the recall of our products if there i®asonable probability that the products wouldseaserious adverse health
consequences or death. A government-mandated wnteoy recall by us could occur as a result of nfiacturing defects,
labeling deficiencies, packaging defects or othéufes to comply with applicable regulations. Amegall would divert
management attention and financial resources amd bar reputation with customers and could haveatenal adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operagion

The success of our business depends upon our alyilitb advance our pipeline products to commercializigon.

The primary focus of our research and developmepadment is development of our Quell device faookc pain and the
initiation of commercial shipments of Quell in thecond quarter of 2015. We have other productsirRé&D pipeline. We
expect that advancing our pipeline products wijuiee significant time and resources. We may natumeessful in our
commercialization efforts for any of the produchdalates currently in our pipeline and we may resbccessful in
developing, acquiring, or in-licensing additionabguct candidates, to the extent we decide to dif e are not successful
advancing new products through our developmentipgethe regulatory process and commercial launahpusiness,
financial condition, and results of operations il adversely affected.
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We currently rely on sales of the products that comprise the ADVANCE System to generate a meaningfulgstion of our
revenues. Any factors that negatively impact our das of these products could significantly reduce eowbility to generate
revenues.

We launched the ADVANCE System, our general purp@sge conduction testing system, in June 20082bt4 and
2013, 51% and 72%, respectively, of our total rexsewas attributed to the ADVANCE System. We corgitmiderive a
substantial portion of our revenues from sales B¥ANCE electrodes. We expect that sales of ADVANS¥stem products
will constitute approximately 20% of our sales dgrR015. Accordingly, our revenue in the short-tésrdependent on our
ability to sell ADVANCE electrodes. ADVANCE electte sales may be negatively impacted by many fadtkiding:

« changes in reimbursement rates or policies bg4party payers;

e manufacturing problems;

« claims that our products infringe on patent right other intellectual property rights owned biyestparties;
< adverse regulatory or legal actions relatinguoproducts; and

e clinical trial results relating to our productsaur competitors’ products.

If any of these events occurs, ADVANCE electrodesaould be significantly reduced.

The patent rights we rely upon to protect the intdectual property underlying our products may not beadequate, which
could enable third parties to use our technology ahwould harm our ability to compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part on our ability éwelop or acquire commercially valuable patenttsgind to protect these
rights adequately. The risks and uncertaintieswheatace with respect to our patents and othetag@ldaghts include the
following:

* the pending patent applications we have filetbaxhich we have exclusive rights may not resulsgued patents or
may take longer than we expect to result in isqetdnts;

« the claims of any patents that are issued maprmtide meaningful protection;

« we may not be able to develop additional proprietechnologies that are patentable;

- other parties may challenge patents, patent slainpatent applications licensed or issued t@nd;
< other companies may design around technologielsave patented, licensed or developed.

Our issued design patents begin to expire in 20dbalso may not be able to protect our patentsigffectively in some
foreign countries. For a variety of reasons, we aegide not to file for patent protection in theitgd States or in particular
foreign countries. Our patent rights underlying ptoducts may not be adequate, and our competitarsstomers may design
around our proprietary technologies or indepengatglelop similar or alternative technologies ardarcts that are equal or
superior to our technology and products withoutifgfing on any of our patent rights. In additiome patents licensed or issued
to us may not provide a competitive advantagenyf af these events were to occur, our ability tmpete in the market would
be harmed.

Other rights and measures we have taken to protectur intellectual property may not be adequate, whib would harm
our ability to compete in the market.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combinatiortrafle secrets, copyright and trademark laws, denfiality,
nondisclosure and assignment of invention agreesraamd other contractual provisions and technicalsuees to protect our
intellectual property rights. We rely on trade sggito protect the technology and algorithms weiug@ir customer data
processing and warehousing information system. &\ilid currently require employees, consultants anelrdhird parties to
enter into confidentiality, non-disclosure or assigent of invention agreements or a combinationetbfewhere appropriate, any
of the following could still occur:
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« the agreements may be breached or not enforcaganticular jurisdiction;
e we may have inadequate remedies for any breach;
e trade secrets and other proprietary informatiouna be disclosed to our competitors; or

< others may independently develop substantiallyvedent proprietary information and techniquesthrerwise gain
access to our trade secrets or disclose such teclies.

If, for any of the above reasons, our intellectuaperty is disclosed or misappropriated, it woam our ability to protect
our rights and our competitive position.

We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or enfice our patents and other intellectual property rights, which could be
expensive and, if we lose, could cause us to loseng of our intellectual property rights, which would harm our ability to
compete in the market.

We rely on patents to protect a portion of ourllatdual property and our competitive position.dtatlaw relating to the
scope of claims in the technology fields in which @perate is still evolving and, consequently, pigp@sitions in the medical
device industry are generally uncertain. In ordgorbtect or enforce our patent rights, we mayatetpatent litigation against
third parties, such as infringement suits or irtehce proceedings. Litigation may be necessary to:

e assert claims of infringement;

« enforce our patents;

e protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

- determine the enforceability, scope and validityhe proprietary rights of others.

Any lawsuits that we initiate could be expensiadet significant time and divert management’s aib@rfrom other
business concerns. Litigation also puts our pa&ntisk of being invalidated or interpreted narlpand our patent applications
at risk of not issuing. Additionally, we may prowthird parties to assert claims against us. We moayprevail in any lawsuits
that we initiate and the damages or other remediesded, if any, may not be commercially valuablee occurrence of any of
these events could harm our business, our abilippmpete in the market or our reputation.

Claims that our products infringe on the proprietary rights of others could adversely affect our abity to sell our
products and increase our costs.

Substantial litigation over intellectual properights exists in the medical device industry. Weestpihat our products
could be increasingly subject to third-party infreament claims as the number of competitors growlsiaa functionality of
products and technology in different industry segte@verlap. Third parties may currently have, ayraventually be issued,
patents on which our products or technologies méinge. Any of these third parties might make airol of infringement
against us. Any litigation regardless of its impaould likely result in the expenditure of signdiat financial resources and the
diversion of management’s time and resources. diitiad, litigation in which we are accused of imigement may cause
negative publicity, adversely impact prospectivetomers, cause product shipment delays or reqsite develop non-
infringing technology, make substantial paymentthial parties, or enter into royalty or licenseemments, which may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. If a sasful claim of infringement were made againstnéwae could not develop
non-infringing technology or license the infringadsimilar technology on a timely and cost-effeethasis, our revenues may
decrease substantially and we could be exposeadniisant liability.

We are subject to federal and state laws prohibitig “kickbacks” and false or fraudulent claims, which if violated, could
subject us to substantial penalties. Additionallyany challenge to or investigation into our practice under these laws
could cause adverse publicity and be costly to respd to, and thus could harm our business.

A federal law commonly known as the federal antikkiack law, and several similar state laws, prahiig# payment of any
remuneration that is intended to induce physic@nsthers either to refer patients or to acquiraroange for or recommend the
acquisition of health care products or servicegsEnaws constrain
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a medical device company’s sales, marketing anergfomotional activities by limiting the kinds lofisiness relationships and
financial arrangements, including sales programsnag have with hospitals, physicians or other piidépurchasers of
medical devices. Other federal and state laws géipgarohibit individuals or entities from knowingpresenting, or causing to
be presented, claims for payment to Medicare, Medior other third-party payers that are falseraundulent, or for items or
services that were not provided as claimed. Frame tio time, we may provide coding and billing imf@tion as product
support to purchasers of our products. Anti-kickbard false claims laws prescribe civil and crichipenalties for
noncompliance, which can be quite substantial glioly exclusion from participation in federal headdre programs. A number
of states have enacted laws that require pharmeaatand medical device companies to monitor apéntepayments, gifts and
other remuneration made to physicians and othdttheare professionals and health care organizatiBome state statutes,
such as the one in Massachusetts, impose an dutaghon gifts to physicians. These laws are aftéerred to as “gift ban” or
“aggregate spend” laws and carry substantial fihér®y are violated. Similar legislation, knowntag Physician Payments
Sunshine Act, was enacted by Congress in 2014he¥ent that we are found to have violated thess br determine to settle
a claim that we have done so, our business mayaberially adversely affected as a result of anynpents required to be made,
restrictions on our future operations or actiortgined to be taken, damage to our business reputatiadverse publicity in
connection with such a finding or settlement oreothdverse effects relating thereto. Additionadlyen an unsuccessful
challenge or investigation into our practices catddse adverse publicity, and be costly to responand thus could harm our
business and results of operations.

If we are found to have violated laws protecting te confidentiality of patient health information, we could be subject to
civil or criminal penalties, which could increase ar liabilities, damage our reputation and harm our business.

There are a number of federal and state laws potethe confidentiality of individually identifide patient health
information, including patient records, and resinig the use and disclosure of that protected mé&dion. In particular, the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services promulgpétiént privacy rules under the Health Insuranoeability and
Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA. These privacyles protect medical records and other persoealtt information by
limiting their use and disclosure, giving individsighe right to access, amend and seek accourtithgio own health
information and limiting most use and disclosurEleaalth information to the minimum amount reasdpalecessary to
accomplish the intended purpose. Although we ddebieve that we are subject to the HIPAA rules, ékact scope of these
rules has not been clearly established. If we @aued to be in violation of the privacy rules unédgPAA, we could be subject
to civil or criminal penalties, which could increasur liabilities and harm our reputation or ousibess.

The use of our products could result in product lidility claims that could be expensive, damage oureputation and harm
our business.

Our business exposes us to an inherent risk ohgateroduct liability claims related to the maaofuring, marketing and
sale of medical devices. The medical device ingusstorically has been litigious, and we face fioial exposure to product
liability claims if the use of our products weredause or contribute to injury or death. Our ADVAREystem and DPNCheck,
SENSUS and Quell products may be susceptible tmslaf injury because their use involves the elesttimulation of a
patient’s nerves. Although we maintain productilighbinsurance for our products and other commerizisurance, the
coverage limits of these policies may not be adegteacover future claims. As sales and use ofpooducts increase, we may
be unable to maintain sufficient product liabildy other commercial insurance on acceptable termas reasonable costs, and
this insurance may not provide us with adequate@me against potential liabilities. A successfaine brought against us in
excess of, or outside of, our insurance coveragkiidtave a material adverse effect on our finaraaldition and results of
operations. A product liability claim, regardlegste merit or eventual outcome, could result ibhstantial costs to us, a
substantial diversion of management attention alveéi@e publicity. A product liability claim couldsa harm our reputation
and result in a decline in revenues and an incrieasgpenses.
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Our products are complex in design, and defects mayot be discovered prior to shipment to customerayhich could
result in warranty obligations or product liability or other claims, reducing our revenues and increasg our costs and
liabilities.

We depend upon third parties for the manufactureuofproducts or components. Our products, pagitubur electrodes,
require a significant degree of technical expetisproduce. If these manufacturers fail to prodogeproducts to specification,
or if the manufacturers use defective materialwarkmanship in the manufacturing process, the oéitg and performance of
our products will be compromised.

If our products contain defects that cannot beiredajuickly, easily and inexpensively, we may aigrece:
* loss of customer orders and delay in order fuoifint;

« damage to our brand reputation;

e increased cost of our warranty program due talpecbrepair or replacement;

< inability to attract new customers;

« diversion of resources from our manufacturing eeskarch and development departments into ouicsestepartment;
and

e legal action.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd harm our reputation and materially reducereuenues and
increase our costs and liabilities.

If we lose any of our officers or key employees, omanagement and technical expertise could be weaked significantly.

Our success largely depends on the skills, expegieand efforts of our executive officers, inclgldhai N. Gozani, M.D.,
Ph.D., our founder, Chairman, President and Chxetchtive Officer; Thomas T. Higgins, our Senior &ieresident and Chief
Financial Officer; and Frank McGillin, our Senioicé President and General Manager Consumer. Wetnaintain key
person life insurance policies covering any of employees. The loss of any of our executive officauld weaken our
management and technical expertise significanttylaarm our business.

If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain skilled and experienced personnel, our ability to managand expand our
business will be harmed, which would impair our futire revenues and profitability.

We are a small company with 32 employees as of iDbee 31, 2014, and our ability to retain our skillabor force and
our success in attracting and hiring new skilleghkayees will be a critical factor in determiningrduture performance. We
may not be able to meet our future hiring needew@in existing personnel, particularly given thaltenges faced by our
business. We will face challenges and risks impirtraining, managing and retaining engineerind) sales and marketing
employees. Failure to attract and retain persomaeticularly technical and sales and marketing@enel would materially
harm our ability to compete effectively and grow business.

Failure to develop or enter into relationships to sll products other than our existing products or ehance our existing
products could have an adverse effect on our busise prospects.

Our future business and financial success will ddp@n part, on our ability to effectively markairanew products, such as
Quell, SENSUS and DPNCheck, and enhance these gimitiuresponse to customer demand. Developingpneducts and
upgrades to existing and future products imposeddns on our research and development departmérdiarmanagement.
This process is costly, and we cannot assure yaituntl will be able to successfully develop new pigid or enhance our
current products. We also may not be able to eénterrelationships with other companies to selliiddal products. In
addition, as we develop the market for our produatsire competitors may develop desirable profeatures earlier than we
do which could make our competitors’ products kegsensive or more effective than our products anddcrender our
products obsolete or unmarketable. If our prodesetbpment efforts are unsuccessful, we will haneiired significant costs
without recognizing the expected benefits and asiress prospects may suffer.
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We currently compete, and may in the future need teompete, against other medical device and consumesmpanies
with greater resources, more established distributin channels and other competitive advantages, anté success of these
competitors may harm our ability to generate revenes.

We currently do, and in the future may need to, pei@ directly and indirectly with a number of otkempanies that may
have competitive advantages over us. Our diagndstiices for nerve testing compete with compariasgell traditional nerve
conduction study and electromyography equipmentidicg Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. and Natus Medloabrporated. These
companies enjoy significant competitive advantagesuding:

e greater resources for product development, saldsnarketing;

* more established distribution networks;

e greater name recognition;

« more established relationships with health caoégssionals, customers and third-party payers; and

e additional lines of products and the ability ffeo rebates or bundle products to offer discoumntmcentives.

As we develop the market for wearable technologyfoonic pain and other illnesses, we may be fadgédcompetition
from other companies that decide and are abletar #me market. Some or all of our future compediia the diagnostic nerve
testing market and the consumer market for paiafrelay enjoy competitive advantages such as tbeseribed above. If we
are unable to compete effectively against existind future competitors, our sales will decline andbusiness will be harmed.

Security breaches and other disruptions could commmise our information and expose us to liability, Wwich could cause
our business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our business, we cobext store sensitive data in our data centers, onatworks, including
intellectual property, our proprietary busines®infation, and that of our customers, supplierskarginess partners, and
personally identifiable information of our emploged@he secure processing, maintenance and trarismfshis information
is critical to our operations. Despite our secunityasures, our information technology and infrastme may be vulnerable to
attacks by hackers or breached due to employeg eradfeasance or other disruptions. Any such breacld compromise our
networks and the information stored there coulddeessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Amshsaccess, disclosure or
other loss of information could result in legaliola or proceedings, disrupt our operations, dansageeputation, and cause a
loss of confidence in our products and serviceschvbould have a material adverse effect on ouiness, financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

If future clinical studies or other articles are published, or physician associations or other organ&ions announce
positions that are unfavorable to our products, oursales efforts and revenues may be negatively affed.

Future clinical studies or other articles regarding existing products or any competing producty bepublished that
either support a claim, or are perceived to suppaitim, that a competitor's product is more aateior effective than our
products or that our products are not as accuraéfective as we claim or previous clinical studieve concluded.
Additionally, physician associations or other origations that may be viewed as authoritative orehav economic interest in
nerve conduction studies and in related electrodiatic procedures or other procedures that mayelfermed using our
products could endorse products or methods thapetarwith our products or otherwise announce ositihat are
unfavorable to our products. We have experiencisdilth the professional societies representingniiigrology community.
Any of these events may negatively affect our saffegts and result in decreased revenues.

26




TABLE OF CONTENTS

As we expand into foreign markets, we will be afféed by new business risks that may adversely impaour financial
condition or results of operations.

Foreign markets represented approximately 19% pfexenues in 2014, compared to 16% of our reveitu2813. We are
working to expand market penetration, particulamyAsia. Any such expansion will subject us to gessibility of new business
risks, including:

« failure to fulfill foreign regulatory requiremestif applicable, to market our products;
« availability of, and changes in, reimbursemerthimi prevailing foreign health care payment systems
» adapting to the differing business practiceslamg in foreign countries;

» difficulties in managing foreign relationshipsdaoperations, including any relationships that wilklish with foreign
distributors or sales or marketing agents;

< limited protection for intellectual property righin some countries;

- difficulty in collecting accounts receivable alathger collection periods;

« costs of enforcing contractual obligations ineiign jurisdictions;

e recessions in economies outside of the UniteteSta

e political instability and unexpected changesiplamatic and trade relationships;
e currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

e potentially adverse tax consequences.

If we are successful in introducing our products fioreign markets, we will be affected by thesditional business risks,
which may adversely impact our financial conditmrresults of operations. In addition, expansido foreign markets imposes
additional burdens on our executive and adminis&giersonnel, research and sales departmentgjeargdal managerial
resources. Our efforts to introduce our produdis fareign markets may not be successful, in wisase we may have
expended significant resources without realizirgyakpected benefit.

Our loan and security agreement with a bank, whiclwe refer to as our credit facility, contains finangal and operating
restrictions that may limit our access to credit. f we fail to comply with covenants in the credit faility, we may be
required to repay any indebtedness thereunder, whitmay have an adverse effect on our liquidity.

Although we have not borrowed any funds under teditfacility, provisions in the credit facilityripose restrictions on our
ability to, among other things:

e incur additional indebtedness;

e create liens;

« replace certain of our executive officers;

e enter into transactions with affiliates;

» transfer assets;

e pay dividends or make distributions on, or repase, our capital stock; and
e merge or consolidate.

In addition, we are required to meet certain finalhoovenants customary with this type of credéilfty, including
maintaining a minimum specified tangible net woithe credit facility also contains other customemyenants, which we may
not be able to comply with in the future. Our faluo comply with these covenants may result indibearation of an event of
default and could cause us to be unable to borreuthe credit facility. In addition to preventiagditional borrowings under
the credit facility, an event of default, if notred or waived, may result in the acceleration efrifaturity of indebtedness
outstanding
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under the credit facility at the time of the defawhich would require us to pay all amounts outdiag. If an event of default
occurs, we may not be able to cure it within angligpble cure period, if at all. If the maturity ofir indebtedness is
accelerated, we may not have sufficient funds alstel for repayment or we may not have the abitithdrrow or obtain
sufficient funds to replace the accelerated indiittes on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

If we choose to acquire or invest in new businessesoducts or technologies, instead of developindp¢m ourselves, these
acquisitions or investments could disrupt our busiess and could result in the use of significant amats of equity, cash
or a combination of both.

From time to time we may seek to acquire or inesiusinesses, products or technologies, insteaewdloping them
ourselves. Acquisitions and investments involve atous risks, including:

« the inability to complete the acquisition or isttaent;

» disruption of our ongoing businesses and divarsiomanagement attention;

- difficulties in integrating the acquired entitigsoducts or technologies;

- difficulties in operating the acquired businessfitably;

< the inability to achieve anticipated synergiasstesavings or growth;

< potential loss of key employees, particularlyshof the acquired business;

« difficulties in transitioning and maintaining keystomer, distributor and supplier relationships;
« risks associated with entering markets in whiehhave no or limited prior experience; and
e unanticipated costs.

In addition, any future acquisitions or investmemgsy result in one or more of the following:

e issuances of dilutive equity securities, whichyrba sold at a discount to market price;

« the use of significant amounts of cash;

» the incurrence of debt;

« the assumption of significant liabilities;

e increased operating costs or reduced earnings;

« financing obtained on unfavorable terms;

« large one-time expenses; and

« the creation of certain intangible assets, inclg@joodwill, the write-down of which may resultsignificant charges to
earnings.

Any of these factors could materially harm our Etpdce, our business, or our operating results.

If we sell additional shares, our stock price may ecline as a result of the dilution which will occurto existing
stockholders.

Until we are profitable, we will need significardditional funds to develop our business and sustairoperations. We sold
shares of our stock and warrants in June 2014 @mgl 2013 and any additional sales of shares of@mmon stock or other
securities exercisable into our common stock &eadlito have a dilutive effect on some or all of then existing stockholders.
Resales of newly issued shares in the open maokid also have the effect of lowering our stockeerithereby increasing the
number of shares we may need to issue in the ftbuigise the same dollar amount and consequartlyefr diluting our
outstanding shares.

The perceived risk associated with the possible sbh large number of shares could cause someraftockholders to sell
their stock, thus causing the price of our stocidoline. In addition, actual or anticipated
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downward pressure on our stock price due to actuahticipated issuances or sales of stock couldecaome institutions or
individuals to engage in short sales of our comistogk, which may itself cause the price of our lstimcdecline.

If our stock price declines, we may be unable iseradditional capital. A sustained inability téseacapital could force us
to go out of business. Significant declines inghiee of our common stock could also impair outligbio attract and retain
qualified employees, reduce the liquidity of ourmaoon stock and result in the delisting of our comratock from The
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, or NASDAQ.

The trading price of our common stock has been volde and is likely to be volatile in the future.

The trading price of our common stock has beenlyigblatile. For the five year period ended Febyuhr2015, our stock
price has fluctuated from a low of $1.47 to a hi§l$95.40. The market price for our common stock g affected by a
number of factors, including:

the denial or delay of regulatory clearancespmravals for our products under development oriptad regulatory
approval of competing products;

our ability to accomplish clinical, regulatorycanther product development and commercializatidestones and to do
so in accordance with our timing estimates;

changes in policies affecting third-party coveragd reimbursement in the United States and othertries;
changes in government regulations and standéfietstiag the medical device industry and our praduc
ability of our products to achieve market success

the performance of third-party contract manufeatsiand component suppliers;

actual or anticipated variations in our resuftserations or those of our competitors;

announcements of new products, technologicahiations or product advancements by us or our catopst
developments with respect to patents and othielléatual property rights;

sales of common stock or other securities byrumio stockholders in the future;

additions or departures of key scientific or ngaraent personnel,

disputes or other developments relating to prognjetights, including patents, litigation matterslaur ability to obtai
patent protection for our technologies;

trading volume of our common stock;

changes in earnings estimates or recommenddiiprscurities analysts, failure to obtain or mamgmalyst coverage
of our common stock or our failure to achieve asadarnings estimates;

public statements by analysts or clinicians rdggy their perceptions of our clinical results loe effectiveness of our
products;

decreases in market valuations of medical dexicepanies; and

general market conditions and other factors ateel to our operating performance or the operatéréprmance of our
competitors.

The stock prices of many companies in the medieaicg industry have experienced wide fluctuatidrad have often been
unrelated to the operating performance of thesepemias. Periods of volatility in the market prideaccompany’s securities
can result in securities class action litigatioaiagt a company. If class action litigation isiatiéd against us, we may incur
substantial costs and our management’s attentignbmaliverted from our operations, which could #gigantly harm our
business.
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There have been instances in the past when we fallto satisfy certain continued listing requirementson NASDAQ and
we could fall to satisfy those requirements agaimithe future which could affect the market price ofour common stock
and liquidity and reduce our ability to raise capital.

Currently, our common stock trades on the NASDAQ@ita& Market. During 2012 and 2010 we receivedfiaations from
NASDAQ informing us of certain listing deficiencieslated to the minimum bid price listing requirertse Although we have
since cured these deficiencies, it is possiblew®atould fall out of compliance again in the fietulf we fail to maintain
compliance with any NASDAQ listing requirements, eald be delisted and our stock would be cons@larpenny stock
under regulations of the Securities and Exchangar@ission, or SEC, and would therefore be subjentilss that impose
additional sales practice requirements on brokafeile who sell our securities. The additional bosdienposed upon broker-
dealers by these requirements could discourageebadalers from effecting transactions in our comrsimck, which could
severely limit the market liquidity of our commotosk and your ability to sell our securities in gexondary market.

The low trading volume of our common stock may adwsely affect the price of our shares.

Although our common stock is listed on the NASDA@pZal Market, our common stock has experiencedttading
volume. The 50 day average trading volume througlirirary 1, 2015 as reported by NASDAQ was approtein& 0,300
shares. Limited trading volume may subject our camistock to greater price volatility and may matiifficult for investors
to sell shares at a price that is attractive tonthe

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law, and the shareholder rightslan that we
previously adopted in 2007, may discourage or prem¢ a change of control, even if an acquisition wodlbe beneficial to
our stockholders, which could affect our stock prie adversely and prevent attempts by our stockholdsrto replace or
remove our current management.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpiovisions that could delay or prevent a changeooftrol of our
company or changes in our Board of Directors thatstockholders might consider favorable. Soméie$¢ provisions:

< authorize the issuance of preferred stock wharhlme created and issued by the Board of Direetith®ut prior
stockholder approval, with rights senior to thoseuwr common stock;

« provide for a classified Board of Directors, withch director serving a staggered three-year term;

«  prohibit our stockholders from filling board vaxdes, calling special stockholder meetings, oinglaction by written
consent;

« provide for the removal of a director only withuse and by the affirmative vote of the holdergs$f or more of the
shares then entitled to vote at an election ofdingctors; and

* require advance written notice of stockholdemppsals and director nominations.

We have also adopted a shareholder rights plarcthddl make it more difficult for a third party &equire, or could
discourage a third party from acquiring, us orrgéablock of our common stock. A third party thatjaires 15% or more of our
common stock could suffer substantial dilutiontefawnership interest under the terms of the sleddehrights plan through
the issuance of common stock to all stockholddrerathan the acquiring person.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions oft®® 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Latich may prohibit
certain business combinations with stockholdersiogvht5% or more of our outstanding voting stocke3éand other
provisions in our certificate of incorporation, ayls and Delaware law could make it more difficalt $tockholders or potential
acquirers to obtain control of our Board of Dirastor initiate actions that are opposed by our-twement Board of Directors,
including a merger, tender offer, or proxy contasblving our company. Any delay or prevention aflsnge of control
transaction or changes in our Board of Directorda@cause the market price of our common stocletdie.
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We do not intend to pay cash dividends.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooapital stock. We currently intend to retainalhilable funds and any
future earnings for use in the operation and expansf our business and do not anticipate payingaash dividends in the
foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of aedit facility precludes us from paying any dividisnAs a result, capital
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will b& gtockholders’ sole source of potential gaintfar foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in an approximatel§@®Dsquare foot facility in Waltham, Massachusettsich we occupy
under an office lease expiring in March 2015. Dgttihe first quarter of 2015 we plan to relocate @unporate headquarters and
engineering activities to a nearby 12,000 squankflcility in Waltham, Massachusetts and to releaaur manufacturing and
fulfillment activities to a 6,000 square foot faigilin Woburn, Massachusetts. We have signed |efasdbese new facilities and
believe that they will be adequate for our needindithe foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

While we are not currently a party to any matdeghl proceedings, we could become subject to legaleedings in the
ordinary course of business. We do not expect aoly potential items to have a significant impacban financial position.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capitathdaunder the symbol “NURQO”. The price range geare
reflected in the table below is the high and lovesarices of our common stock as reported by NAQfounded to the
nearest penny) for the periods presented and fesduusted to reflect a 1-for-6 reverse stock splour common stock
completed on February 15, 2013.

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013
High Low High Low
First quarter $ 314 $ 217 $ 324 $ 1.9¢
Second quarter 2.61 1.67 3.14 1.8¢4
Third quarter 3.1t 1.57 2.1¢ 1.5C
Fourth quarter 2.01 1.52 4.2t 1.47

Stockholders

On February 1, 2015, there were approximately 1@dk&olders of record of our common stock. This bendoes not
include stockholders for whom shares were held“imainee” or “street” name. On February 1, 201e, last reported sale
price per share of our common stock on the NASDA«Qital Market was $1.68.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaitufe earnings, if
any, to finance the expansion and growth of ouirt@ss and do not expect to pay any cash dividentieeiforeseeable future.
Payment of future cash dividends, if any, will lbéree discretion of our board of directors aftéirtg into account various
factors, including our financial condition, operafiresults, current and anticipated cash needspland for expansion.
Additionally, the credit facility restricts our dity to pay dividends.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data are derivemhf our audited financial statements, which hawnhbsudited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registaiblic accounting firm. The selected financetiadbelow should be
read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Rission and Analysis of Financial Condition and Rssaf Operations,”
Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosurgisout Market Risk” and our financial statements agldted notes for the
years ended 2014, 2013, and 2012 appearing elsewh#ris Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 551 $527¢ $ 757 $10,39° $ 13,90(
Cost of revenues 2,56¢ 2,194 3,58¢ 4,72: 7,05(
Gross profit 2,94¢ 3,08¢ 3,98¢ 5,67¢ 6,85(
Operating expenses:
Research and development 4,07¢ 3,43¢ 3,54¢ 3,871 5,85¢
Sales and marketing 2,91z 2,78( 5,72 6,68¢ 11,072
General and administrative 4,72¢ 4,22¢ 4,73¢ 5,11: 7,23
Total operating expenses 11,71 10,44: 14,00¢ 15,67¢ 24,16(
Loss from operations (8,770 (7,35¢) (10,029 (10,009) (17,310
Interest and other income 5 5 14 22 29¢
Warrants offering costs (52) (376 — — —
Changes in fair value of warrant liability 1,05(C (290) — — —
Loss before taxes (7,766 (8,019 (10,009¢) (9,98)) (17,017
Income tax benefit — — — — 121
Net loss $ (7,766 $(8,019 $(10,00) $ (9,98)) $(16,89)

Net loss per common share, basicand dil  $ (1.549 $ (3.0) $ (522 $ (1559 $ (26.4)

As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 922. $ 9,19¢ $ 8,69¢ $ 10,29C $ 16,98
Working capital 8,39: 8,91¢ 8,56 10,48: 19,02(
Total assets 11,40: 10,79: 10,871 14,22: 23,06¢
Total liabilities 8,01t 3,60z 2,077 3,13 2,861
Total stockholders’ equity 3,381 7,19t 8,80( 11,08¢ 20,19¢
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouarficial condition and results of operations in camgtion with our
selected financial data, our financial statemeats] the accompanying notes to those financial states included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussiontains forward-looking statements that involisks and uncertainties.
For a description of factors that may cause ouwattresults to differ materially from those antiatpd in these forward-
looking statements, please refer to the sectitedtitRisk Factors”, contained in Item 1A of this Aual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

NeuroMetrix is an innovative health-care comparat ttevelops wearable medical technology and pdicaee tests that
help patients and physicians better manage chpaiic nerve diseases, and sleep disorders. Oundsssis fully integrated
with in-house capabilities spanning product develept, manufacturing, regulatory affairs and compulé sales and
marketing, and customer support. We derive revefroasthe sale of medical devices and after-mackesumable products
and accessories. Our products are sold in the tUSitates and selected overseas markets, and arvegpy the U.S. Food
and Drug Administration, or FDA, and regulatorganeign jurisdictions where appropriate. We have fwincipal product
lines:

e Wearable neuro-stimulation therapeutic devices
« Point-of-care neuropathy diagnostic tests

Our core expertise in biomedical engineering hanlvefined over nearly two decades of designingdimg and marketing
medical devices that stimulate nerves and analgreerresponse for diagnostic and therapeutic pegpd&e created the market
for point-of-care nerve testing and were first tarket with sophisticated, wearable technology fanagement of chronic pain.
We have an experienced management team and Bo®idesfors. Our Scientific Advisory Board includiesernationally
recognized experts in diabetes and pain.

Chronic pain is a significant public health probldivis defined by the National Institute of Headth any pain lasting more
than 12 weeks in contrast to acute pain whichrieranal bodily response to injury or trauma. Chrquadn conditions include
painful diabetic neuropathy, fiboromyalgia, sciatitausculoskeletal pain, cancer pain and many ati@nonic pain may be
triggered by an injury or there may be an ongoiagse such as disease or illness. There may also tlear cause. Pain signals
continue to be transmitted in the nervous systeer extended periods of time often leading to otieslth problems. These can
include fatigue, sleep disturbance, decreased ippad mood changes which cause difficulty im@dag out important
activities and contributing to disability and deispln general, chronic pain cannot be cured. Tregtt of chronic pain is
focused on reducing pain and improving functione Gloal is effective pain management.

There are large and important unmet medical needkronic pain treatment. Prescription pain medoatand over-the-
counter therapies are often inadequate and candeattier health issues. We believe that controlbedsonalized, neuro-
stimulation to suppress pain provides an imporntantplement to pain medications. As a medical destzapany with unique
experience in designing devices to manage andm@dtgsheral nerve function, we believe we are welitioned to make neuro-
stimulation widely available to chronic pain suffes. We have direct experience with neuro-stimotatihrough our
prescription SENSUS wearable pain management dexhceh has been on the market for the past twosyear

A major initiative during 2014 was the design, depenent and branding of a new over-the-countergasat category
featuring Quell, our wearable device for pain feldich builds upon the core SENSUS neuro-stimatatechnology. Quell
was unveiled at the January 2015 Consumer Elecs@how (CES) where the response was positive.dffe to make Quell
commercially available in the United States dutimg second quarter of 2015. Our commercial lautieh jpvolves two
distribution channels: a professional channel usinliyect sales force to target podiatrists, paiysgians, primary care
physicians, and chiropractors who would resellgreduct, and a direct-to-consumer channel usinmpemharketing and lead
generation.
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SENSUS, our prescription neuro-stimulation theraipedevice for relief of chronic pain, was launchie®013 and provides
the technological foundation for Quell. SENSUS rawes in 2014 and 2013 were about $0.9 million ahd hillion,
respectively. It is distributed through durable meatequipment (DME) suppliers who call on pain meatw physicians,
neurologists, endocrinologists, podiatrists, arnichary care physicians to create awareness amorgjqiuys that are challenged
with trying to manage chronic pain in their patenthese physicians prescribe SENSUS to theirmatigho, in turn, have
their prescriptions fulfilled by a DME. The DME @so responsible for billing and collection fronirthparty payers such as
Medicare and other insurers. This is a high casttribution channel with tight margins. The DME chehis under pressure
from Medicare’s competitive bidding initiative. Velieve that the US growth opportunity for thisqmeéption neuro-
stimulation device is limited and that the moreaattive opportunities are in the OTC market.

DPNCheck is our diagnostic test for peripheral npathies which commenced commercial shipmentsardbrth quarter
of 2011. DPNCheck revenues for 2014 and 2013 weoeatz$1.8 million and $1.3 million, respectivelyuUnited States sales
efforts focus on Medicare Advantage providers whsuane financial responsibility and the associat#a ifor the health care
costs of their patients. We believe that DPNCheaelsgnts an attractive clinical case with early cteda of neuropathy
allowing for earlier clinical intervention to helpitigate the effects of neuropathy on both pategrglity of life and cost of care.
Also, the diagnosis and documentation of neuropptbyided by DPNCheck helps clarify the patientltregrofile which, in
turn, may have a direct, positive effect on the Mak Advantage premium received by the provides.Wlieve that attractive
opportunities are developing in Japan where weivedaegulatory approval and launched DPNCheck Withron Healthcare
in 2014; in China where we are working with Omrogatthcare on the regulatory process; in Mexico wtoer distributor,
Scienta Farma, recently received regulatory apprava plans to launch in early 2015; and in the diedEast.

Our products consist of a medical device used murwtion with a consumable electrode or bioserdther accessories
and consumables are also available to customersy@difor these devices is to build an installadébof active customer
accounts and distributors that regularly orderrafteket products to meet their needs. We succégséfuplemented this model
when we started our business with the NC-stat systed applied it to subsequent product generatiaisding ADVANCE.
Our recent products, SENSUS and DPNCheck, conforthi$ model. Quell and other products in our depelent pipeline are
based on the device plus consumables business model

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and ssber 31, 2013

Revenues

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended December 3.

2014 2013 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Revenues $ 5512.( $ 5278.8 $ 234.C 4.4%

Revenues include sales from SENSUS, our wearabtagkutic device for relief of chronic, intractapken launched in
January 2013; DPNCheck, our diagnostic test fdbatia peripheral neuropathy, or DPN, launched in2Q#1; and our legacy
ADVANCE neurodiagnostics business. Overall reverineseased by 4.4% from 2013. Revenue from our n@neducts,
SENSUS and DPNCheck, grew by over 80% in 2014. AD¥ANCE business, managed for cash flow and nowgino
contracted by 25%. ADVANCE has few direct operatiogts.

Revenue from SENSUS devices and consumable elesttothled $0.9 million in 2014 versus $0.2 millinr013.
Reflecting expanded distribution through nationadathle medical equipment suppliers in 2014, wesddpapproximately
5,800 SENSUS devices and posted a 350% increase ceinepared to 1,300 devices shipped in 2013. SENS&t$rode
shipments totaled approximately 17,600 in 2014 u&epproximately 3,500 in 2013.

35




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Revenue from DPNCheck increased over 40% to $1l&min 2014 from $1.3 million in 2013. Our Asiastribution
partner, Omron Healthcare, received regulatory @mdrand launched DPNCheck in Japan during thd thiarter of 2014,
contributing positively to 2014 revenue. The Uniftdtes Medicare Advantage business expanded pittodimately a 50%
growth in tests shipped in 2014 in comparison A 3. Overall, there were approximately 680 DPN@Himvices and
110,000 tests shipped in 2014 in comparison withdevices and 85,000 tests in 2013.

ADVANCE recorded about $2.8 million in 2014 revenaeomparison to $3.8 million in 2013. We expdwdttsales of
ADVANCE System products will constitute approxinmgt20% or our sales during 2015.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

The following table summarizes our cost of reveramss gross margin:

Years Ended December 3.

2014 2013 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $ 2568.t $ 2,194.0 $ 374.: 17.1%

Gross profit $ 29440 $ 3,084.! $(140.9) 4.5

We recorded an increase in cost of revenues torilién in 2014 from $2.2 million in 2013 and adi@e in our gross
margin to 53.4% of revenues in 2014 from 58.4%ewEnues in 2013. The decline in gross margin mmanily attributable to
the SENSUS product line which comprised a greagecgntage of total revenues in 2014 versus 201Bhas lower margins
than our other products. The lower SENSUS marggfieat the high cost structure in the durable madéquipment sales
channel which accounts for the majority of our SENSsales. The effect of low SENSUS margins was @amg@ed by strong
growth in that product. SENSUS represented 16%taf tevenue in 2014 in comparison with 4% of raxeem 2013. Inventory
write-down charges primarily related to excess ADNGE inventory were insignificant in 2014 and web®at $0.2 million in
2013.

Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes our operating expens

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 4,076.( $ 3,438.. $ 637.¢ 18.6%

Sales and marketing 2,913.: 2,779.° 133.¢ 4.8

General and administrative 4,725.: 4,225t 499.¢ 11.¢
Total operating expenses $11,714.0 $10,443.. $ 1,270.¢ 12.2

Research and Development

Research and development expenses were approxyridtél million and $3.4 million in 2014 and 2018spectively, an
increase of $0.6 million or 19%. The increased dpenwas in support of our initiative to launchtive first half of 2015 a new
wearable therapeutic device for chronic pain braadied Quell. R&D investments totaling approximatkdy8 million were
made in outside engineering support for producigtesmart phone application development and ctinguservices. During
2013, similar outside support costs were approxtga0.2 million. This spending was offset by retilies of approximately
$0.1 million in 2014 clinical study costs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were approximatedyrilion and $2.8 million in 2014 and 2013, redpesly, an increase
of $0.1 million or 5%. Marketing costs for outsisiervices related to Quell accounted for approxitp#i@.4 million in
incremental spending in 2014. This encompasseduptdtanding, pricing studies, consulting serviassvell as promotional
materials for trade shows scheduled for early 2@¥8sonnel costs declined about $0.1 million in2@drsus 2013. Sales and
Marketing personnel
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spending in 2014 included fourth quarter hiringaafew management team responsible for Quell. Tshde and travel costs
declined approximately $0.1 million in 2014 ver@(4 3.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were approgiynd4.7 million and $4.2 million in 2014 and 2018spectively, an
increase of $0.5 million or 12%. Personnel costsgased by $0.2 million reflecting incentive comgetion and stock based
compensation adjustments during 2014. Outsides®syincluding temporary staffing, increased by$8illion in response to
staff turnover and the support requirements fayaation of the corporate office and production\atitis planned for early
2015. Professional services for legal and accogrsirpport declined by approximately $0.1 millior2idl4 from 2013.

Interest income, Warrant offering costs, and Chaingfair value of warrant liability

Interest income earned from investments in casivatfnts was $4,606 and $5,666 in 2014 and 205pecively. Costs
related to the issuance of common stock warrantsimmection with equity offerings was about $0.1liori and $0.4 million in
2014 and 2013, respectively. Outstanding warranta those offerings were valued at fair value atrtprly reporting periods
and on warrant transaction dates. The total fdirevadjustments to outstanding warrants was a texiuin the net loss of $1.1
million in 2014 and an increase in the net los$@B million in 2013.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and #ber 31, 2012
Revenues

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended December 3:

2013 2012 Change % Change

(in thousands)
Revenues $ 5,278.¢ $ 7,575.0 $(2,296.) (30.9%

During 2013 we shipped approximately 1,300 SENSE8ags and recorded revenue of approximately $@lbmwhile
working to develop distribution in several saleamels, including DME suppliers addressing painsptigns, primary care
physicians and endocrinologists, large clinic oigations and direct mail diabetes suppliers.

During 2013 we recorded DPNCheck revenue of $11Bomicompared to $1.4 million in the prior year ehwe had a
direct sales force focused on the podiatry markieat sales force was disbanded at the end of 2GEhwe shifted our focus
to the Medicare Advantage sector and selectedniatienal opportunities.

ADVANCE revenues totaled $3.8 million in 2013 inngparison with $6.1 million in 2012. The declineADVANCE
revenue continued the historical trend for thisdma line.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

The following table summarizes our cost of reverarss gross margin:

Years Ended December 3:

2013 2012 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $2,194.0 $ 3,5688.¢ $(1,394.) (38.9%
Gross profit $ 3,084 $ 3,986 $ (902.0 (22.¢)

Corresponding to our decrease in revenues in 2fir3;ost of revenues decreased to $2.2 milliorDit32 compared to $3.6
million in 2012. Our gross margin improved to 58.4%2013 from 52.6% in 2012, which was primarilyributable to increases
in sales from our DPNCheck product line which etiigher margins than ADVANCE and which contrilol28% of revenue
in 2013 versus 19% of revenue in 2012. In additki1,3 DPNCheck revenue was more heavily weighteses of high
margin consumable biosensors rather than the loveegin devices sales during 2012. SENSUS had arrefifect on 2013
margins given its small, launch year revenue cbutidon. Inventory charges primarily related to escADVANCE inventory
were approximately $0.2 million in both 2013 and 20
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Operating Expenses

The following table presents a breakdown of ourafieg expenses:

Years Ended December 3:

2013 2012 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 3,438.0 $ 3,545.( $ (107.¢ B.0%

Sales and marketing 2,779.° 5,727  (2,947.9) (51.5)

General and administrative 4,225 4,735.. (509.%) (10.9)
Total operating expenses $10,443.c $14,008.! $(3,565.7) (25.5)

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for 2013 andvfiz2about $3.4 million and $3.5 million, respeely. The
comparative results largely reflect a $0.1 millatecrease in personnel costs resulting from lowadbeunt and incentive
compensation expense partially offset by a $30i06@ase in the costs of clinical studies relateBPNCheck. Personnel costs
for 2013 included $0.1 million for severance costs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $2i8mmill2013 from $5.7 million in 2012. During 202&e reduced our
dependence on field clinical educators to supparin@urodiagnostic business and we shifted our DiRNIC emphasis toward
managed care, allowing us to eliminate our diratdsrepresentatives. In addition, in 2013 we frrteduced our sales staff
which had primarily supported DPNCheck, resultingéverance cost of $0.4 million. As a result,|teédes and marketing
personnel costs in 2013 were $1.9 million lowenthrathe prior year. Personnel related travel cdstseased by $0.5 million,
trade show costs decreased by $0.1 million, aciegtiand promotion costs decreased by $0.1 milleeruiting and retention
costs decreased by $20,000, dues decreased by858r@l depreciation decreased by $44,000. Satemarketing expenses
for 2012 included $58,000 for the write-off of l@arand demo systems.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased2av$ion in 2013 compared to $4.7 million in 20Ihis decrease
included $0.3 million for consultants and temporstaff, $0.2 million for personnel costs, $0.1 ioiil for taxes and fees,
$80,000 for travel costs, $0.1 million for insurarand outside administration, and $40,000 for stuaded compensation.
These spending reductions were partially offseatvyinfavorable year over year increase of $0.3anilh bad debt expense.
During 2013 we recorded $0.1 million in bad deljjenses compared to the recognition of a net credibd debt expense of
$0.1 million in 2012.

Interest income, Warrant offering costs, and Chaingfair value of warrant liability

Interest income was approximately $5,700 and $Dip@013 and 2012, respectively. Interest incoras arned from
investments in cash equivalents. In connection atlequity offering during 2013, we recognized sostated to the issuance
of common stock warrants of $0.4 million. Outstangdivarrants from that offering were valued at failue at quarterly
reporting periods and on warrant transaction ddties.total fair value adjustments to outstandingrargs during 2013 were
$0.3 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity is our cash arablk equivalents. As of December 31, 2014, casltasid equivalents
totaled $9.2 million. In June 2014 we entered en&ecurities purchase agreement providing fordhgaince of (i) 664,600
shares of common stock at a price of $2.04 peesliigr2,621.859 shares of Series A-3 PreferrettiSat a price of $1,000 per
share, (iii) 4,022.357 shares of Series A-4 PreteBtock at a price of $1,000 per share, and i(re)yfear warrants to purchase
up to 3,921,569 shares of common stock with ancisesprice of $2.04 per share. We received netgaae of approximately
$7.9 million from this offering, which we refer & the 2014 Offering. See Note 12, Stockholdersitgof our Notes to
Financial Statements contained elsewhere in thisuAhReport on Form 10-K for further informatiomgaeding this transaction.
Our ability to generate revenue to fund our operetiwill largely depend on the
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success of our wearable therapeutic products fmnéh pain and our diagnostic products for neuropaf low level of market
interest in Quell, SENSUS or DPNCheck, an acceterdecline in our neurodiagnostics consumables,satainanticipated
increases in our operating costs would have anraeaffect on our liquidity and cash generated fogrerations. The following
table sets forth information relating to our casl aash equivalents:

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 9222( $ 9195¢ $ 26.C 0.3%

In order to supplement our access to capital, weparty to an amended Loan and Security Agreemgntaxbank which
provides us with a credit facility in the amount®#.5 million on a revolving basis. The amendediitifacility expires on
January 15, 2016. Amounts borrowed under the cfadiiity will bear interest equal to the primeegilus 0.5%. Any
borrowings under the credit facility will be cokatilized by our cash, accounts receivable, invgntord equipment. The credit
facility includes traditional lending and reportingvenants. These include certain financial covenapplicable to liquidity
that are to be maintained by us. As of DecembefB14, we were in compliance with these covenamiishead not borrowed
any funds under the credit facility. However, apgmately $0.5 million of the amount under the Ctdehcility is restricted to
support letters of credit issued in favor of ourdebrds in connection with lease arrangements. Egunsntly, the amount
available for borrowing under the credit facility af December 31, 2014 was approximately $2.0 onilli

During 2014 our cash and cash equivalents incresiggtly reflecting net cash provided by the 2@#ering of $7.9
million offset by $7.7 million of net cash usedaperations and $0.2 million used in investing ati&s.

In managing working capital, two important finarigizeasurements are days sales outstanding (DSGhegitory
turnover as presented below:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Days sales outstanding (days) 38 32
Inventory turnover rate (times per year) 4.C 3.2

Payment terms extended to our customers geneegjlyire payment within 30 days from invoice datee Trventory
turnover rate has remained constant since Dece®@ih@013.

The following sets forth information relating tousoes and uses of our cash:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activit $(7,678.)) $(6,554.9 $ (9,175.9
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (227.9) (86.7) 122.(
Net cash provided by financing activiti 7,932.( 7,137 7,462.¢

Our operating activities used $7.7 million for trear ended December 31, 2014 primarily attributédoleur net loss of $7.8
million. This loss included non-cash charges of%980 for stock-based compensation, $145,100 fpredéation and
amortization, and non-cash credits of approxima$dly) million for revaluing outstanding warrantdait value.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, our imgsictivities reflected $227,300 spent for thewasitjon of fixed
assets.
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Financing activities for the year ended Decembe2814 included $7.9 million from the net proceetithe 2014 Offering.
At December 31, 2014, there remain 3,921,569 audétg common stock warrants from the 2014 Offeridiilh an exercise
price of $2.04 per share and 1,057,323 outstancbngmon stock warrants from the equity offering thatconducted in 2013,
which we refer to as the 2013 Offering, with anreise price of $2.00 per share.

We held cash and cash equivalents of $9.2 milloofédDecember 31, 2014. We believe that these ress@and the cash to
be generated from expected product sales will Hemnt to meet our projected operating requiretaghrough the third
quarter of 2015. We continue to face significardliemges and uncertainties and, as a result, ailatle capital resources may
be consumed more rapidly than currently expectedtdifa) decreases in sales of our products andnibertainty of future
revenues from new products; (b) changes we may taatke business that affect ongoing operating esg® (c) changes we
may make in our business strategy; (d) regulatesetbpments affecting our existing products andyteln the FDA approval
process for products under development; (e) chawgevay make in our research and development spgpians; and (f)
other items affecting our forecasted level of exjiemes and use of cash resources. Accordinglywileneed to raise
additional funds to support our operating and e@pieeds in the fourth quarter of 2015 and beydhése factors raise
substantial doubt about our ability to continuaaging concern. The financial statements do rdtde any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this uncertaiMie will attempt to obtain additional funding thrdugublic or private
financing, collaborative arrangements with stratggirtners, or through additional credit lines threo debt financing sources to
increase the funds available to fund operationsvéd@r, we may not be able to secure such finarigiagtimely manner or on
favorable terms, if at all. We maintain a shelfisgmtion statement on Form S-3 with the SEC caoxgshares of our common
stock and other securities for sale, giving usdygortunity to raise funding when needed or othsevdonsidered appropriate at
prices and on terms to be determined at the tinampfsuch offerings. However, pursuant to the ugtons to Form S-3, we
only have the ability to sell shares under thefstegjistration statement, during any 12-month grio an amount less than or
equal to one-third of the aggregate market valumuofcommon stock held by non-affiliates. As a lestithe 2014 Offering,
we will be limited in the use of this shelf regatton statement until June 2015. We have also &leegistration statement for
an equity offering on Form S-1, which has not yettbdeclared effective. If we raise additional fubg issuing equity or debt
securities, either through the sale of securiti@syant to a registration statement or by othemmeaur existing stockholders
may experience dilution, and the new equity or delgurities may have rights, preferences and pges senior to those of our
existing stockholders. If we raise additional futitiough collaboration, licensing or other simégarangements, it may be
necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our piiaé products or proprietary technologies, or glaenses on terms that are
not favorable to us. Without additional funds, waynibe forced to delay, scale back or eliminate sohwaur sales and
marketing efforts, research and development aigsyibr other operations and potentially delay pobdievelopment in an
effort to provide sufficient funds to continue aperations. If any of these events occurs, ouitad achieve our development
and commercialization goals would be adverselycdid

As of December 31, 2014, we have federal and sg&tteperating loss, or NOL, carryforwards availableffset future
taxable income of $105.4 million and $24 millioaspectively, and federal and state tax creditslc? illion and $1.0 million,
respectively, which may be available to reducerfutaxable income and the related taxes thereomf&deral NOL'’s begin to
expire in 2019 and the state NOL'’s began to expi015. The federal and state research and dawelopcredits both begin
to expire in 2018. A full valuation allowance haseh provided against our NOL carryforwards andaeteand development
credit carryforwards and, if an adjustment is reepli this adjustment would be offset by an adjustn@the valuation
allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to tHeriz® sheet or statement of operations if an audgist were required.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obiigest, and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
As of December 31, 2014, we did not have any oféfige sheet financing arrangements.

The following table summarizes our principal conteal obligations as of December 31, 2014 and ffeets such
obligations are expected to have on our liquiditd aash flows in future periods.

Payments due in

Less than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3years 3-5 years More than 5 years
Operating lease obligations $3,766,62 $ 594,90t $1,043,41' $1,083,95 $ 1,044,35
Purchase order obligations 76,33¢ 76,33¢ — — —
Total contractual obligations $3,842,95 $ 671,24. $1,043,41! $1,083,951 $ 1,044,35

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are based on the seleatidrapplication of generally accepted accountimgiples, which
require us to make estimates and assumptions altovt events that affect the amounts reportediirfinancial statements and
the accompanying notes. Future events and the&ictsftannot be determined with certainty. Therefiie determination of
estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actgllts could differ significantly from those @sétes, and any such
differences may be material to our financial staeta. We believe that the policies set forth beteay involve a higher degree
of judgment and complexity in their applicationtthaur other accounting policies and represent tiieal accounting policies
used in the preparation of our financial statemdhtiifferent assumptions or conditions were tevail, the results could be
materially different from our reported results. Gignificant accounting policies are presented wiftiote 2 to our Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

We recognize revenue when the following criterigehbeen met: persuasive evidence of an arrangeswists, delivery has
occurred and risk of loss has passed, the sefiécs to the buyer is fixed or determinable, anllection is reasonably assured.

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEHc#s to customers and distributors are recognigesh shipment,
provided that the selling price is fixed or detarable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement eg@tsction of receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastiyable, and no continuing obligations exist. Tédwenues from the sale of
an ADVANCE communication hub together with accesbléuroMetrix information systems are considereel onit of
accounting and deferred and recognized on a strliighbasis over the estimated period of time thatprovide the service
associated with the information systems of thresgg.€The resulting deferred revenue and deferrsts @ve presented as
separate line items on the accompanying balana.9Revenues related to extended service agreemogrte devices are
recognized ratably over the term of the extendedc®agreement.

Revenues associated with the sale of the SENSUSI@nrstat DPNCheck devices are recognized upon smprprovided
that the selling price is fixed or determinablessp@sive evidence of an arrangement exists, cifeof receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastifyable, and no continuing obligations exist.

Revenues also include sales of consumables, imgigingle use nerve specific electrodes and otteassories. These
revenues are recognized upon shipment providedttbagelling price is fixed or determinable, pesswa evidence of an
arrangement exists, collection of receivablesasoaably assured, and product returns are reagoestbhable.

When multiple elements are contained in a singieangement, we allocate revenue between the elerbasésl on their
relative selling prices. We determine selling prising vendor specific objective evidence, or VS©OE,is available, third-
party evidence, or TPE, if VSOE is not availableg dest estimate of selling price, or BESP, ifim&itVSOE nor TPE are
available. We generally expect that we will notalisée to establish TPE due to the nature of the etatk which we compete,
and, as such, we will typically determine sellimgce using VSOE or if not available, BESP. The obijee of BESP is to
determine the selling price of a deliverable otaadalone basis. Our determination of BESP invodregighting of
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several factors based on the specific facts amditistances of an arrangement. Specifically, weidenthe cost to produce the
deliverable, the anticipated margin on that delbédg, the selling price and profit margin for simiparts, our ongoing pricing
strategy, the value of any enhancements that hese built into the deliverable, and the charadiesof the varying markets

in which the deliverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgessments of expected returns and expected cuslatonship
periods. We analyze various factors, includingwéesg of specific transactions, our historical retsiraverage customer
relationship periods, customer usage, customenbasa and market and economic conditions. Chamgesigments or
estimates on these factors could materially imffeetiming and amount of revenues and costs rezegnShould market or
economic conditions deteriorate, our actual returbhad debt experience could exceed our estimate.

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedasd@mount and do not bear interest. Certain pitagiles are made with
a 30-day right of return. Since we can reasonastiynate future returns, we recognize revenues asdowith product sales
that contain a right of return upon shipment anthatsame time we record a sales return reseniehwé&duces revenue and
accounts receivable by the amount of estimatedmngtu

Accounts receivable on the balance sheet are redoret of the allowance for doubtful accounts restalie and the reserve
for estimated returns. The allowance for doubtfdaaunts is our best estimate of the amount of gaieberedit losses in our
existing accounts receivable. We review our alloseafor doubtful accounts and determine the allowdrased on an analysis
of customer past payment history, product usageigctand recent communications between us andtistomer. Individual
customer balances which are past due and oven@0aidstanding are reviewed individually for cotigulity. Account
balances are written-off against the allowance wherfeel it is probable the receivable will notreeovered. We do not have
any off-balance sheet credit exposure related t@astomers.

Inventories

The realizable value of inventories is based upertypes and levels of inventories held, forecadsdand, pricing,
competition, and changes in technology. Our confilmsehave an eighteen-month shelf life. Shouldenirmarket and
economic conditions deteriorate, our actual redegezould be less than our estimates.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncemest

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate No. 2014-1H®isclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s
Ability to Continue as a Going ConcefASU 2014-15). ASU 2014-15 requires managemenssess an entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, and to provide reffatethote disclosures in certain circumstances. Stardard is effective for
public entities for annual and interim periods loegig after December 15, 2016, with early adoptiermitted. We are
currently evaluating the provisions of ASU 20144l assessing the impact, if any, it may have orfioancial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB and the International AccinmStandards Board (“IASB”) jointly issued Accoingt Standards
Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contragith Customers (“ASU 2014-09"), a comprehensive mewenue
recognition standard that will supersede nearlg@lting revenue recognition guidance. The objeatif ASU 2014-09 is that a
company will recognize revenue when it transfemmpsed goods or services to customers in an antbanteflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to béledtin exchange for those goods or services. 28W4-09 will be effective
for the first quarter of 2017. An entity can elextaidopt ASU 2014-09 using one of two methods eeithll retrospective
adoption to each prior reporting period, or recagy the cumulative effect of adoption at the datanitial application. We are
in the process of evaluating the new standard antbtiknow the effect, if any, ASU 2014-09 will lemen the Consolidated
Financial Statements or which adoption method melused.

42




TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures @out Market Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio and have no foreign excleaogntracts. Our
financial instruments consist of cash and cashvedgmts. We consider investments that, when puathdsave a remaining
maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivaldrte. primary objectives of our investment stratagy to preserve principal,
maintain proper liquidity to meet operating neetsj maximize yields. To minimize our exposure t@edwerse shift in interest
rates, we invest mainly in cash equivalents andtgbon investments with a maturity of twelve mantir less and maintain an
average maturity of twelve months or less. We dadbetieve that a notional or hypothetical 10% cheamginterest rate
percentages would have a material impact on ther&hile of our investment portfolio or our intere@stome.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item may be fowmdpages F1 through F-23 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K with
the exception of the unaudited summarized quarfgrncial data which is presented below. Net jssscommon share is
calculated independently for each of the perio@sg@nted. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly rsstp@r common share
amounts will not necessarily equal the total far fihll fiscal year.

Year Ended December 31, 2014

First Third
Quarter Second Quarter Quarter Fourth Quarter Total
Revenues $1,331,583 $1,343,77¢ $1,427,820 $1,409,62° $5512,76
Cost of revenues 615,08: 655,33 639,02! 659,15¢ 2,568,60:
Gross profit 716,45t 688,43: 788,80: 750,47( 2,944,16:
Net loss (1,224,59) (2,170,71)) (1,461,71) (2,909,20) (7,766,22)
Net loss per common sha
basic and diluted $ 0.2) 3 (0.85) $ 0.19 3 (0.3¢) $ (1.54)
Year Ended December 31, 2013
First Third
Quarter Second Quarter Quarter Fourth Quarter Total
Revenues $1,401,45 $1,160,47. $1,314,720 $1,402,15. $5,278,80
Cost of revenues 569,78 501,16: 578,48: 544,83( 2,194,25!
Gross profit 831,67( 659,31: 736,24 857,32. 3,084,54
Net loss (2,253,41) (1,345,83) (716,269 (3,703,62) (8,019,13)
Net loss per common sha
basic and diluted $ (1.06) % 092 $ (0200 $ (0.87) % (3.07)

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no changes in or disagreementgedthuntants on accounting and financial disclomatters in the last
fiscal year.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedurg

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer, after evaluating the effectivenessaf disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulaslb8) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the peria@red by this Form 10-
K, have concluded that, based on such evaluationdisclosure controls and procedures were effe¢tvensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in tgarts that we file or submit under the Exchangeig\cecorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periodx#ied in the SEC’s rules and forms, and is acdated and communicated
to our management, including our principal exeaitind principal financial officers, or persons parfing similar functions,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regardemuired disclosure.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fhancial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such



term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(flemthe Exchange Act. Because of its
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inherent limitations, internal control over finaakreporting may not prevent or detect misstatemekiso, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whti ppolicies or procedures may deteriorate. Undestipervision and with the
participation of our management, including our €hirecutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officeve conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internaltoairover financial reporting as of December 3112®ased on the criteria in
Internal Control — Integrated Framewo(R013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omginns of the Treadway
Commission (“COSQ"). Based on our evaluation urtderframework innternal Control — Integrated Framewo(R013)
issued by the COSO, our management concluded tinamternal control over financial reporting waseetive as of December
31, 2014.

This Annual Report does not include an attestatort of our independent registered public acdagrfirm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Managere report was not subject to attestation by adependent registered public
accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC thlahpt us to provide only management’s report is thnnual Report.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repating.

There have been no changes to our internal comal financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢fjland 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during the quarter endezeBber 31, 2014 that have materially affectedrereasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over findgalareporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.

44




TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART Il
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table and biographical descriptiors forth information regarding our executive offis@nd directors, based
on information furnished to us by each executiiecef and director, as of December 31, 2014:

Name Age Position

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. 50 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer,
President and Secretary

Thomas T. Higgins 63  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer

Francis X. McGillin 54 Senior Vice Presidengrigral Manager Consumer

David E. Goodman, M.B1 (@) 58  Director

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.2) ®) 64  Director

Nancy E. KatD 55  Director

Timothy R. Surgendf®) ) 55  Director

David Van Avermaete 63 Director

(1) Member of Audit Committee
(2) Member of Compensation Committee
(3) Member of Nominating and Corporate GovernancmRittee

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.Dfounded our Company in 1996 and currently serveStesrman of our Board of Directors and
as our President, Chief Executive Officer and Sacye Since founding our Company in 1996, Dr. Gotes served in a
number of positions at our company including Chainrsince 1996, President from 1996 to 1998 and #0682 to the present,
Chief Executive Officer since 1997 and SecretangesiJuly 2008. Dr. Gozani holds a B.A. in compstgence, an M.S. in
Biomedical Engineering and a Ph.D. in Neurobioldgym the University of California, Berkeley. Hesalreceived an M.D.
from Harvard Medical School and the Harvard-M.Division of Health Sciences at M.1.T. Prior to fdng our Company, Dr.
Gozani completed a neurophysiology research felidgis the laboratory of Dr. Gerald Fischbach atwéad Medical School.
Dr. Gozani has published articles in the areasasfdand clinical neurophysiology, biomedical eegiing and computational
chemistry. The Board has concluded that Dr. Goghoild serve as a director because Dr. Gozanigneite knowledge of
engineering and neurophysiology, combined withuhigue understanding of our technology and busihedsas gained as our
founder and as a key executive, provides invalugisight to our Board and to the entire organizatio

Thomas T. Higginshas served as our Senior Vice President, ChiefginhOfficer and Treasurer since September 2009.
Prior to joining NeuroMetrix, from January 2005M@&arch 2008, Mr. Higgins was Executive Vice Prestdamd Chief Financial
Officer at Caliper Life Sciences, Inc, a providétechnology and services for life sciences reseaefore Caliper, Mr.

Higgins was Executive Vice President, Operatiorss @hief Financial Officer at V.l. Technologies, Iif¥itex), a
biotechnology company addressing blood safety. e¥itex, Mr. Higgins served at Cabot Corporatiorvarious senior
finance and operations roles. His last positioBathot was President of Distrigas of MassachusettpdZation, a subsidiary
involved in the liquefied natural gas business, jamnar to that he was responsible for Cabot's A&gific carbon black
operations. Before joining Cabot, Mr. Higgins waswPricewaterhouseCoopers where he started hégcavir. Higgins holds
a BBA with honors from Boston University.

Francis X. McGillin has served as Senior Vice President and GeneradéarConsumer Wearables since August 2014.
Prior to joining NeuroMetrix, from September 20@1January 2014, Mr. McGillin was Vice President &®heral Manager at
Philips, having served in a number of senior mankeand management positions in the company’s ecoesand healthcare

businesses. His last role with Philips, was leadivegglobalization of Philips Sonicare businesgoBePhilips, Mr. McGillin,
was Executive Director,
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Marketing at Johnson & Johnson, working acrossralrar of the company’s global consumer brands. MrGMin holds a
MBA from Fordham University and a BS degree fronrtReastern University.

David E. Goodman, M.D., M.S.E has served as a member of our Board of Directareesiune 2004. Since 2013, Dr.
Goodman has served as CEO of FeetFirst, a technfdogsed healthcare services company he co-foundtbdoperations in
California and Hawaii that is committed to prevagtihe devastating and expensive microvascular toatipns of diabetes.
Since 2012, Dr. Goodman has served as CMO of Ftedty a healthcare services company focused olmess and prevention.
Since 2011, Dr. Goodman has also served as angndept consultant. During 2010, Dr. Goodman hasesesis President and
Chief Executive Officer of SEDIine, Inc., a resdafocused company with the mission to expand tlpesand applications for
neuromonitoring. From 2008 to 2009, Dr. Goodmarestias Executive Vice President of Business Dewveéor for Masimo
Corporation, a manufacturer of non-invasive patreahitors. From 2006 to 2008, Dr. Goodman serveahasdependent
consultant providing product design, regulatory andlytical consulting services to medical deviod hiopharmaceutical
companies and also served in this capacity fron826@004 and from 2001 to 2002. From 2005 to 2@6Goodman served
as President and Chief Executive Officer of Bar@®einc., a medical device company focused on dpired minimally
invasive devices for the long-term treatment ofsifye From 2004 to 2005, Dr. Goodman served asidRresand Chief
Executive Officer of Interventional Therapeutic @@ns, Inc., an implantable drug delivery syst@mspany. From 2002 to
2003, Dr. Goodman served as Chairman, Presidenthied Executive Officer of Pherin Pharmaceuticalpharmaceutical
discovery and development company. From 1994 td 2D8. Goodman held various positions, includingeCExecutive
Officer, Chief Medical Officer and director, forfeMasters Supported SelfCare, Inc., a disease reamagt services company
that Dr. Goodman founded. Dr. Goodman also serseaddirector of Sound Surgical Technologies LL@rigate manufacturer
of aesthetic surgical tools from 2011 until its ais@tion by Solta Medical (Nasdaq:SLTM) in 2013.. @oodman holds a
B.A.S. in applied science and bioengineering aMIS.E. in bioengineering from the University of Reylvania. He also
received an M.D. from Harvard Medical School ang lttarvard-M.I.T. Division of Health Sciences and:fieology. Dr.
Goodman holds 18 patents and is a practicing playsiith licenses in California and Hawaii. The Bibhas concluded that
Dr. Goodman should serve as a director becaus€@dman’s medical and engineering background asmchhny years of
executive experience in the medical device indystoyide important experience and expertise tBtbard.

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D. has served as a member of our Board of Directareslanuary 2006. From December 2010 through
the present, Dr. Hinkle has served as the Chiefida¢®fficer of MVP Health Care, a not-for-profiehlth insurer. Dr. Hinkle
was the Chief Medical Officer and Senior Vice Pdesit for Tufts Health Plan in Massachusetts, athéasurance provider,
where he was responsible for medical managemengtars and initiatives from 2004 to 2009. Prior éztming the Chief
Medical Officer of Tufts Health Plan, Dr. Hinkle w&enior Medical Director and Vice President of lfe@are Quality, Policy
and Innovations at Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massaetts, a health insurance provider, from 200duiin September 2004.
From 1995 to 2001, Dr. Hinkle was the Chief Medi®éicer and Senior Vice President of Quality — dithcare Management
for Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Hampslainel Matthew Thornton Plan, health insurance providganizations.

Dr. Hinkle has over 40 years of experience in tbaltmcare field. Dr. Hinkle received a B.S. frore thniversity of
Massachusetts at Amherst and an M.D. from Albamstein College of Medicine in New York. He is boastdtified in

pediatrics and anesthesiology and is an Associatie$sor at Dartmouth Medical School. He also oseweral U.S. patents on
medical devices. The Board has concluded that Drklel should serve as a director because Dr. Hisklears of experience as
a physician and in executive positions in the eiaburance industry provide the Board with valeahbights in the areas of
product development and reimbursement.

Nancy E. Katzhas served as a member of our Board of Directarseddbecember 2010. From May 2011 to August 2014,
Ms. Katz served as Vice President, Consumer Mar§iett Medtronic, Inc., a medical technology compapm July 2005 to
July 2010, Ms. Katz was Senior Vice President, B&jiabetes Care — North America. Prior to this fiosi she was President
and Chief Executive Officer of Calypte Biomedicalr@oration, a manufacturer of HIV diagnostics, Riest of Zila
Pharmaceutical, Inc, a manufacturer of oral caoelpets, and held senior marketing positions withliliescan division of
Johnson & Johnson (blood glucose diabetes prod@tsering-Plough Healthcare Products, and with dcaa Home
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Products. She has previously served on the Bodifdgectors of Neoprobe Corporation (AMEX: NEOP xl¢pte Biomedical
Corporation, LXN Corporation and Pepgen Corporatféime received a B.S. in business from the Unityea$iSouth Florida.
The Board has concluded that Ms. Katz should saswe director because her experience in diabetesand marketing into the
diabetes sector provides valuable insight to therBand management in our diabetes strategy.

Timothy R. Surgenor has served as a member of our Board of Directaceshpril 2009. Since April 2009, Mr. Surgenor
has been a partner at Red Sky Partners, LLC, admosgf general management consulting servicekedoiotechnology and
medical device industries. Since July 2012 Mr. 8agg has also served as a director of Precisionuves, a developer of
medical and consumer devices. From 2003 to 2009SMigenor served as President, Chief Executivie@fand director of
Cyberkinetics Neurotechnology Systems (OTC: CYKN,RKmedical device company. From January 199@nadry 2003,
Mr. Surgenor was Executive Vice President at Haestios Corporation, which is a medical device conyp&inom 1994 to
1999, Mr. Surgenor was President of Genzyme TiBamair, the cell therapy division of Genzyme Coagpion. Previously,

Mr. Surgenor was Executive Vice President and Chilefncial Officer of BioSurface Technology, Inadaalso held various
positions in operations at Integrated Genetics.irgenor received a B.A. in Biochemistry from Vdiths College and an
M.B.A. from Harvard Business School. The Board ¢t@scluded that Mr. Surgenor should serve as atdirbecause Mr.
Surgenor’s long career in the medical device antebhnology business as both an entrepreneur asghior executive
positions in public companies provides the Boarthwnportant industry experience as well as valedinlance, accounting and
executive management expertise.

David Van Avermaetehas served as a member of our Board of Directaresteptember 2013. From April 2004 to
February 2013, Mr. Van Avermaete served as Chietchtive Officer of VeralLight, Inc., a medical dexicompany he
founded, that focuses on non-invasive screeningyfmr 2 diabetes. From 2000 to 2004, Mr. Van Avataaerved as Senior
Vice President Non-Invasive Technology of InLiglui®ions, a Johnson & Johnson company focusedamsfiormational
technology in the diabetes field. From 1998 to 2000 Van Avermaete served as U.S. President of.ifescan division of
Johnson & Johnson and, from 1990 to 1998, in vargmnior level positions at LifeScan concentratingales and marketing.
Previously, Mr. Van Avermaete served as Vice PagiGales and Marketing at Biotope, Director of kéding at Roche
Diagnostics, and Director of Marketing and SaleSyattex Medical Diagnostics. Mr. Van Avermaete reee a Master of
Business Administration and a Master of Sciencer®=@ Microbiology from the University of Arizorend a Bachelor of
Science Degree in medical technology and cheniing Ball State University. The Board has conclutieat Mr. Van
Avermaete should serve as a director because é@utixe level experience in the medical device dinbletes field, as well as
in entrepreneurial ventures, provides the Boartl wivaluable perspective in commercializing diabgteducts.

BOARD MATTERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatis amended, provides for a classified boadire€tors consisting of
three staggered classes of directors (Class Is@land Class Ill). The members of each classuofBoard of Directors serve
for staggered three-year terms, with the termauoiQass Il, Class Ill and Class | directors exgjrupon the election and
qualification of directors at the annual meetingstockholders to be held in 2015, 2016, and 2@4spectively. Currently:

e our Class I directors are Allen J. Hinkle, M.daTimothy R. Surgenor;
» our Class Il directors are Shai N. Gozani, MPh,D. and David Van Avermaete; and
e our Class Ill directors are David E. Goodman, MaBd Nancy E. Katz.

Our Board of Directors has determined that Dr. Goax, Dr. Hinkle, Mr. Surgenor, Ms. Katz, and Mr.'Vavermaete are
independent directors for purposes of the corparaternance rules contained in the NASDAQ MarketplRules, or the
NASDAQ rules.

Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, anpensation Committee, and a Nominating and Corpdsatvernance
Committee.
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The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Surge Chairman, Dr. Goodman, and Ms. Katz. The AQdilnmittee
operates pursuant to a charter that was approvedibBoard of Directors, a copy of which is avaiéabn our website at
http://www.neurometrix.comnder the heading “Investor Relations” and subheptiCorporate Governance”. The purposes of
the Audit Committee are to, among other functi@ssist the Board of Directors in overseeing theammn of a comprehensive
system of internal controls covering the integafyour financial statements and reports, compliamite laws, regulations and
corporate policies, and the qualifications, perfance and independence of our registered publicuaticg firm. Mr. Surgenor,
Dr. Goodman, and Ms. Katz are all “independentthas term is defined in the rules of the SEC amdatpplicable NASDAQ
rules relating to audit committee members. Our BadDirectors has determined that Mr. Surgenolifiea as an “audit
committee financial expert” as such term is defimethe rules of the SEC. The Audit Committee Held meetings during
2014.

Procedures by which Stockholders may Nominate Dir¢ors

There have been no changes to the proceduress#sdiio our proxy statement for the 2014 annual imgeff stockholders
by which stockholders may nominate directors.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsHtiat applies to all of our directors, officensl@mployees,
including our principal executive officer, princlfamancial officer, principal accounting officer eontroller and persons
performing similar functions. A current copy of tBede of Business Conduct and Ethics is availableuwr website at
http://www.neurometrix.comnder the heading “Investor Relations” and subheptCorporate Governance,” and we intend to
disclose on this website any amendment to, or waif;eany provision of the Code of Business Conduntt Ethics applicable
to our directors or executive officers that woutdeywise be required to be disclosed under the IS#S, to the extent
permitted, by the NASDAQ rules. A current copy loé tCode of Business Conduct and Ethics may alsbtaéned, without
charge, upon written request directed to us atrdMatrix, Inc., 62 Fourth Avenue, Waltham, Massass#its 02451, Attention:
Compliance Officer.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourctiims and executive officers and holders of moas th0% of our
common stock (collectively, “Reporting Persons”fite with the SEC initial reports of ownership areports of changes in
ownership of our common stock. Such Reporting Reyswe required by regulations of the SEC to flwrnis with copies of all
such filings. Our records reflect that all repavtsich were required to be filed pursuant to Secti6(a) of the Exchange Act
were filed on a timely basis, except that eightfk®# were not filed on a timely basis as a redudidoninistrative error for one
transaction for each of Dr. Shai N. Gozani, M.Dh,[®, Thomas T. Higgins, Francis X. McGillin, TinlmytR. Surgenor, David
Van Avermaete, Nancy E. Katz, Allen Hinkle, M.D.dabavid E. Goodman, M.D., all in connection witke thrant of equity
awards by us. We received a written statement fsandirectors, officers, and 10% stockholders anikifrom other means that
any required Forms 5 were filed or that no Formgebe required to be filed.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be coimizd in our definitive proxy statement for our 204Bnual Meeting of
Stockholders under the captions “Compensation etHtive Officers” and “Director Compensation Tabte2015” and is
incorporated by reference herein.
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ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ovners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter
PRINCIPAL AND MANAGEMENT STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain informatiooncerning beneficial ownership as of February0lL52 except as noted
below, of our common stock by:

e each of our directors;

» each of our named executive officers;

« all of our directors and executive officers agreup; and

« each stockholder known by us to beneficially awore than five percent of our common stock.

The number of common shares “beneficially owned&bgh stockholder is determined under rules isbydtie SEC
regarding the beneficial ownership of securitigsisTnformation is not necessarily indicative ofibécial ownership for any
other purpose. Under these rules, beneficial ovliieif common stock includes (1) any shares ashticlwthe person or entity
has sole or shared voting power or investment pandr(2) any shares as to which the person orydrds the right to acquire
beneficial ownership within 60 days after Februbr2015, including any shares that could be puethay the exercise of
options or warrants on or within 60 days after kaby 1, 2015. Each stockholder’s percentage owigistbhased on 8,152,746
shares of our common stock outstanding as of Fepfiy&015 plus the number of shares of commorkdtuat may be
acquired by such stockholder upon exercise of optar warrants that are exercisable on or within®&gs after February 1,
2015.

Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowleddlepersons named in the table have sole votimgimrestment power
with respect to their shares of common stock, extethe extent authority is shared by spousesmecm@munity property
laws.

Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership

Name and Address? of Beneficial Owner chrtr;nc”llgn Options @ Total Cli;:rscgfn 'tl'gIaI
Directors and Executive Officers
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. 87,05! 107,26 194,31: 2.4%
Thomas T. Higgins 32,43( 43,20t 75,63¢ *
Francis X. McGillin — — — *
Allen Hinkle, M.D. 834 1,97: 2,80¢ *
David E. Goodman, M.D. 834 972 1,80¢ *
Timothy R. Surgenor 834 972 1,80¢ *
Nancy E. Katz 834 972 1,80¢ *
David Van Avermaete — 3,12¢ 3,12¢ *
Michael Williams, Ph.D. — — — *
Guy Daniello — — — *
All Current Directors and Executive Officers as a

group (10 persons) 122,81¢ 158,47¢ 281,29 3.4%

Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership

Common Percent of
Name and Addres<Y of Beneficial Owner Stock Warrants @ Total Class of Total

Beneficial Owner of 5% or More Other than
Directors and Executive Officers

Sabby Management, LL® 793,63: — 793,63: 9.¢%



* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sledie@mmon stock.
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(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of etmtkholder is c/o NeuroMetrix, Inc., 62 Fourthelwe, Waltham,
Massachusetts 02451.

(2) Includes all options that are exercisable owithin 60 days from February 1, 2015 by the besiafiowner, except as
otherwise noted.

(3) This information is based on a Schedule 13@/% foy the Reporting Person with the SEC on Jan8aR015, which
reported beneficial ownership as of December 3142Reflects shares of common stock beneficiallpedvby Sabby
Healthcare Volatility Master Fund, Ltd. and Sabbylatility Warrant Master Fund, Ltd.. The amount silo®t include
823,320 and 234,003 shares of common stock issugble exercise of warrants issued to Sabby Heakh¢alatility
Master Fund, Ltd. and Sabby Volatility Warrant Magtund, Ltd., respectively, all of which are sabj® a 9.99%
beneficial ownership limitation and related warrarércise restriction. Sabby Management, LLC anidVHiatz do not
directly own shares of common stock, but are deaimé@dve beneficial ownership over these sharesmimon stock
because Sabby Management, LLC is the investmenageaifor both Sabby Healthcare Volatility Masten&ulLtd. and
Sabby Volatility Warrant Master Fund, Ltd. and Wéihtz is the manager of Sabby Management, LLC. dthdress for the
reporting persons is 10 Mountainside Road, Suite Ppper Saddle River, New Jersey 07458.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information as ofd@enber 31, 2014 regarding the number of secutiid® issued upon
exercise, and the weighted average exercise prisetstanding options, warrants, and rights underegjuity compensation
plans and the number of securities available farrfuissuance under our equity compensation plans.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of DecembeB1, 2014

Number of
securities remaining

Number of available for future
securities to be issuance under
issued upon Weighted average equity
exercise of exercise price of compensation plan:
outstanding outstanding (excluding
options, warrants  options, warrants  securities reflected
and rights and rights in column a)
(@) (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved by securityédrsld
@ 561,76 $ 6.31 626,3842)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders® 200,00( 1.8¢ 200,00(

Totals 761,76° $ 5.1¢ 826,38

(1) Includes information related to our Amended &edtated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock Plamended and Restated
1998 Equity Incentive Plan, Sixth Amended and Redt2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, and ZBhployee Stock
Purchase Plan.

(2) As of December 31, 2014, there were 502,104estavailable for future grant under the Sixth Adethand Restated 2004
Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 124,280 sharasable under the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Rlo new stock
grants or awards will be made under the AmendedResdated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock PidheoAmended
and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan.

(3) Includes information related to our Amended &edtated 2009 Non-Qualified Inducement Stock Ridmich is designed to
provide equity grants to new employees. Pursuatitisoplan, we were authorized to issue Non-Quadifstock Options,
Restricted Stock Awards and Unrestricted Stock Alsar

50







TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transadbns, and Director Independence

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Pursuant to our audit committee charter curremtlgffect, the audit committee is responsible fetewing and approving,
prior to our entry into any such transaction, hsactions in which we are a participant and ifctvlany parties related to us
has or will have a direct or indirect material net&t. As required under SEC rules, transactionsnlialve an amount in excess
of $120,000, in which we are a participant andlatee person is determined to have a direct oréetimaterial interest, are
disclosed in our proxy statement.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

See Item 10, “Directors, Executive Officers andfibwate Governance — Board Matters and CorporatefBance”.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

ACCOUNTING FEES

Aggregate fees for professional services rendeye@ricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the years endegmber 31, 2014
and 2013 are as follows:

Audit Fees

The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fofggsional services rendered for the 2014 audiiofannual financial
statements and the review of the financial statésniecluded in our quarterly reports on Form 10e@led $448,000, of which
$308,000 was billed in 2014 and $140,000 was bihe2D15.

The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fofggsional services rendered for the 2013 audiiofannual financial
statements and the review of the financial statésniecluded in our quarterly reports on Form 10e@led $456,000, of which
$350,000 was billed in 2013 and $106,000 was bite2D14.

Audit-Related Fees
There were no audit-related fees for Pricewater&@Gospers LLP in 2014 and 2013.
All Other Fees

Fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for servidesrdhan audit-related services were $19,300 a6¢BH0 for 2014 and
2013, respectively, and included annual fees of 8i¥in 2014 and $15,000 in 2013 in connection with Corporate Integrity
Agreement with the Office of Inspector Generallaf tUnited States Department of Health and Humavic&es regarding the
previously-disclosed investigation into certairoof past sales and marketing practices relatirautdNC-stat System and
$1,800 in both years for a software subscripticedu® review accounting literature.

Tax Fees
There were no tax fees for PricewaterhouseCoopepsih 2014 and 2013.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee approved all audit and non-aselivices provided to us by PricewaterhouseCodgdpsduring the
2014 and 2013 fiscal years.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(&) 1.Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements are listaiéraccompanying index to financial statementpame F-1 .

2. Financial Statement Schedule

The Schedule on page Sis filed as part of this report. Other financiatsiment schedules required under this Item and
Item 8 are omitted because they are not applicatiiee required information is shown in the corgatied financial statements
or the footnotes thereto.

3. Exhibit Index

The following is a list of exhibits filed as paftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit

Number

Description

21

3.1.1
3.1.2

3.1.3

3.14

3.15

3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.2.1
3.2.2
4.1

421

4.2.2

4.2.3

4.2.4

4.3
4.4
4.5

Asset Purchase Agreement dated November 7, 20@8dbpetween NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Advan
Diagnostics, LLG")

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Inceaion of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated July 27, 2064

Certificate of Designations for Series A Junior Quative Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per
share, dated March 7, 2067

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténabrporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated
September 1, 20134

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténzbrporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated
February 15, 2018

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigitg himitations of Series A-1 Convertible Preferred
Stock, par value $0.001 per share, dated Junel3,(2%0

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigd himitations of Series A-2 Convertible Preferred
Stock, par value $0.001 per share, dated Junel3, (2%

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigitg himitations of Series A-3 Convertible Preferred
Stock, par value $0.001 per share, dated June0a4,(?")

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigd himitations of Series A-4 Convertible Preferred
Stock, par value $0.001 per share, dated June0a4,(?")

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of NeuroMetrix(©)
Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and RestatEwByf NeuroMetrix, Inct*)
Specimen Certificate for Shares of Common Stbck

Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of Mar@90d7, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and American
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Adéht

Amendment to Shareholder Rights Agreement, datpte8der 8, 2009, between NeuroMetrix, Inc.
and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, ahiRig\gent®)

Amendment No. 2 to Shareholder Rights Agreemenigdddune 5, 2013, between NeuroMetrix, Inc.
and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, ahRig\gent2l)

Amendment No. 3 to Shareholder Rights Agreemengdddune 25, 2014, between NeuroMetrix,
and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, ahRig\gent2?)

Form of Unit Warrant to purchase Common Stgék
Form of Placement Agent WarrdHt)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (June 2843)
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Exhibit

Number Description

4.6 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (June 2894)

10.1.1  Lease Agreement, dated October 18, 2000, betweerth Avenue LLC and NeuroMetrix, Iné)

10.1.2  Amendment Number One to Lease, dated February®®, between Fourth Avenue LLC and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.1%)

10.1.3  Amendment Number Two to Lease, dated June 6, 2#t®een Fourth Avenue LLC and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.20)

10.1.4 Amendment Number Three to Lease, dated June 2@, @tween Fourth Avenue LLC and
NeuroMetrix, Inc(23)

10.1.5 Lease Agreement, dated August 27, 2014, betweem@uys Properties, LLC and NeuroMetrix, i
(28)

10.1.6  Lease Agreement, dated September 10, 2014, beeston Properties, Inc. and NeuroMetrix, Inc.
(28)

10.2.1 Loan and Security Agreement between NeuroMetrix, &amd Comerica Bank, dated March 5, 2010
(12)

10.2.2  First Modification to Loan and Security Agreemertween NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Comerica Bank,
dated March 1, 20146

10.2.3  Fifth Modification to Loan and Security Agreememttlveen NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Comerica Bank,
dated January 31, 201%)

10.3+  Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option/Restrigteck Plarf?)

10.4.1+ Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan

10.4.2+ Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998/Hacentive Plarfl)

10.5.1+ Sixth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optionmeehtive Plari24)

10.5.2+ Form of Restricted Stock Agreemé

10.5.3+ Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreeméfit

10.5.4+ Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Bampany Employe€d)

10.5.5+ Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Rwm-Employee Director®)

10.6+ 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Figh

10.7+  Second Amended and Restated 2010 Employee Stockdse Plaff®)

10.8+ 2009 Non-Qualified Inducement Stock Pfafi

10.9+ Form of Indemnification Agreement between Neurtiglnc. and each of its directof’8

10.10.1- Employment Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, by atdden NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N. Goz
M.D., Ph.D.®)

10.10.2- First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated Déegrl, 2008, by and between
NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph®)

10.10.3- Indemnification Agreement dated June 21, 2004,raytzetween Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D., and
NeuroMetrix, Inc)

10.10.4- NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (pursuant toAheended and Restated
1998 Equity Incentive Plan), dated as of June R042by and between Shai N.
Gozani M.D., Ph.D., and NeuroMetrix, &)

10.11.1- Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2009, betwéeuroMetrix, Inc. and Thomas T. Higgif$)

10.11.2- Indemnification Agreement, dated September 10, 209@&nd between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and

Thomas T. Higginét®
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.12.1- Letter Agreement, dated August 14, 2014, betwamroMetrix, Inc. and Frank McGillif$2)

10.13  Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated Séete@&) 2009 between the Company and each
investor(®

10.14t Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as ofustug, 2006, by and between Parlex Polymer
Flexible Circuits, Inc. and NeuroMetrix, In@)

10.15.1 Engagement Letter by and between NeuroMetrix, dnd. Dawson James Securities, Inc., dated
December 30, 20149

10.15.2 First Amendment to Engagement Letter by and betvidmiroMetrix, Inc. and Dawson James
Securities, Inc., dated January 30, 20#2

10.16  Engagement Letter by and between NeuroMetrix, dnd. Dawson James Securities, Inc., dated June
4,2013@1)

10.17+ Amended and Restated 2010 Employee Stock Puréhas€®)

10.18+ Management Retention and Incentive Plan, as neoliflated October 27, 20$%)

10.19  Securities Purchase Agreement by and between Neatrdiinc. and the purchasers named therein,
dated June 4, 2013V

10.20  Securities Purchase Agreement by and between NeatrdiMinc. and the purchasers named therein,
as amended, dated June 24, 2614

10.21  Registration Rights Agreement by and between Newetdl] Inc. and the purchasers named therein,
dated June 4, 2013V

10.22 Registration Rights Agreement by and between Neetal] Inc. and the purchasers named therein,
dated June 24, 201#)

*23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an indip#mregistered public accounting firm

*31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuao Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

*31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pwant to Section 302 of the Sarbari®dey Act of 200:

*32 Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifgipal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 o
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Anal Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2014, formatted in XBRL (eXtensiblesiBass Reporting Language); (i) Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, (ii)i8tatts of Operations for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, (iii) Statemein@hanges in Stockholdersquity for the year
ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, (iv) i8&atts of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2013, and (v) NotEstancial Statements.

*  Filed herewith.

+ Indicates management contract or any compensptany contract or arrangement.

t Confidential treatment has been granted with respecertain portions of this Exhibit, which pont®have been omitted &
filed separately with the Securities and Exchangm@ission as part of an application for confiddrttieatment pursuant to
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(1) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filedvtay 13, 2004, as
amended (Registration No. 333-115440).

(2) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on avwber 15, 2004 (File
No. 00(-50856).



(3) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Aug@s?2006 (File No. 000-
50856).
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(4) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Sepbem17, 2007 (File No.
001-33351).

(5) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetnig.'s Form 8-A12(b) filed on March 8, 2007 (Fi®. 001-33351).

(6) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetng.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filedfaugust 9, 2004 (File
No. 33:-118059).

(7) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Novemnl26, 2008 (File No.
001-33351).

(8) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on Mar2@, 2009 (File No. 001-
33351).

(9) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetnig.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Septembér 2009 (File No. 001-
33351).

(10)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed September2®)9 (File No.
001-33351).

(11)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,'BnCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2008 (File No.
001-33351).

(12)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2810 (File No.
001-33351).

(13)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule filedl on April 8,
2010 (File No. 001-33351).

(14)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,';nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Septemhbe2011 (File No.
001-33351).

(15)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,’;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Februaby 2013 (File No.
001-33351).

(16)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,'Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8,12 (File No. 001-
33351).

(17)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed ameJ8, 2009 (File No.
333-159712).

(18)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,'lmRegistration Statement on Form S-1 filed owéinber 23, 2011, as
amended (Registration No. 333-178165).

(19)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix B gufdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule il on April 16,
2012 (File No. 001-33351).

(20)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, mQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Aug8s2012 (File No.
001-33351).

(21)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,';nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on June 612QFile No. 001-
33351).

(22)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,'mmMAmendment No. 1 to its Current Report on F8AK filed on June
7, 2013 (File No. 001-33351).

(23)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, BnQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 2613 (File No.
001-33351).

(24)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule filel on April 7,
2014 (File No. 001-33351).

(25)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix B &ufdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule fifel on April 7,
2014 (File No. 001-33351).

(26)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Aprd,2014 (File No.
001-33351).

(27)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on June 2512 (File No. 001-



33351).

(28)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on OctoB8r 2014 (File No.
001-33351).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usidgeed, thereunto duly authorized.

NEUROMETRIX, INC.
By:/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 25, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant on Februar2@%5 in the capacities indicated below.

Name Title

/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D. Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.

/sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer arrdasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourdiOfficer)

Thomas T. Higgins
/s/ DAVID E. GOODMAN, M.D. Director

David E. Goodman, M.D.
/s/ ALLEN J. HINKLE, M.D. Director

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.
/s/ NANCY E. KATZ Director

Nancy E. Katz
/sl TIMOTHY R. SURGENOR Director

Timothy R. Surgenor
/sl DAVID VAN AVERMAETE Director

David Van Avermaete
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of N&detix, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheetstandelated statements of operations, of changstotkholders’ equity,
and of cash flows present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position of NeuroMetrix,.latDecember 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, and the results of its operatiol its cash flows for each of the three yeatsameriod ended December
31, 2014 in conformity with accounting principlesngrally accepted in the United States of Ametitaddition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listethsindex appearing under Item 15(a)(2) preseqitty f in all material
respects, the information set forth therein whextri@ conjunction with the related financial statens. These financial
statements and financial statement schedule aresipensibility of the Company’s management. Ospoasibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statememntdiaancial statement schedule based on our adtligsconducted our audits
of these statements in accordance with the stagaditthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@tdited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &dbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintrecial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includeamaing, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuats and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made agagement, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Weebe that our audits provide a reasonable basiedo opinion.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gaiag concern. As
discussed in Note 1 to the financial statementesQbmpany has suffered recurring losses from opesaind negative cash
flows from operating activities that raise substrtoubt about the Company’s ability to continseaagoing concern.
Management'’s plans in regard to these mattersismedascribed in Note 1. The financial statementaat include any
adjustments that might result from the outcomehis tincertainty.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 25, 2015
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Balance Sheets

December 31,

2014 2013
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,221,988 $ 9,195,775
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $39,%66 $35,895 at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively 580,24( 390,92:
Inventories 679,74( 563,03¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 608,16( 416,81t
Total current assets 11,090,12 10,566,52
Fixed assets, net 311,52( 229,31:
Other long-term assets 58t 922
Total assets $ 11,402,23 $ 10,796,76
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 522,87 % 322,89t
Accrued compensation 885,35: 386,00
Accrued expenses 1,264,871 870,19¢
Current portion of deferred revenue 25,04¢ 68,81:
Total current liabilities 2,698,14: 1,647,90:
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 9,63¢ 15,277
Common stock warrants 5,307,33. 1,938,60.
Total liabilities 8,015,11! 3,601,78:

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 steargmrized at
December 31, 2014 and 2013; no shares issued astdmding at
December 31, 2014 and 2013 — —

Convertible preferred stock, 11,083 and 4,438 shdesignated at
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resplyctaral
3,614.357 and 0 shares issued and outstandingcanider 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013, respectively 4 —

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 awtbdri8,152,746 ar
5,945,581 shares issued and outstanding at Dece3tb2014 and

2013, respectively 81¢ 59t
Additional paid-in capital 157,764,59 153,806,46
Accumulated deficit (154,378,30) (146,612,08)

Total stockholders’ equity 3,387,11! 7,194,97!

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 11,402,23 $ 10,796,76




The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income

Warrants offering costs

Change in fair value of warrant liability

Net loss

NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,

Net loss per common share applicable to com
stockholders, basic and diluted (See Note 2, Sumwofar

Significant Accounting Policies)

Weighted average number of common shares outs@gndin

basic and diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.

2014 2013 2012
$ 5512,76. $ 5278,80 $ 7,575,28
2,568,60; 2,194,25 3,588,80
2,944,16: 3,084,54 3,986,48;
4,075,97! 3,438,21i 3,545,79
2,913,11; 2,779,69! 5,727,48;
4,725,12: 4,225,47. 4,735,23
11,714,21  10,443,38  14,008,51
(8,770,04)  (7,358,84)  (10,022,02)
4,60¢ 5,66¢ 14,47:
(50,872 (376,301 —
1,050,09! (289,65 —
$(7,766,22) $(8,019,13) $(10,007,55)
$ (159 $ (307 $ (5.22)
6,973,97 2,862,09. 1,918,72
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Balance at December 31, 2011
Stock-based compensation expense

Issuance of common stock and warrants
public offering

Issuance of common stock on redemptio
warrants

Issuance of common stock under employ
stock purchase plan

Other issuances of stock from option plai
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2012
Stock-based compensation expense

Issuance of common stock and Series A:
and A2 preferred stock under Securiti¢
Purchase Agreement

Issuance of common stock upon convers
of preferred stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise
warrants

Reclassification of warrant liability to equ

Issuance of common stock under employ
stock purchase plan

Common stock issued to settle incentive
compensation obligations

Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2013
Stock-based compensation expense

Issuance of common stock and Series A!
and A4 preferred stock under Sercurit
Purchase Agreement

Issuance of common stock upon convers
of preferred stock

Issuance of common stock under employ
stock purchase plan

Common stock issued to settle incentive
compensation obligations

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2014

Series A1 - A4
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

361431 $ 4

8,152,741 $

$157,764,59

$(154,378,30)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.
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Additional
Number Number Paid-In Accumulated
of Shares Amount of Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

— $ — 650,72( $ 65 $139,673,84 $(128,585,39) $ 11,088,52

— — — — 319,36¢ — 319,36¢

— — 1,421,73! 14z 7,376,901 — 7,377,04:

= = 23,12, 2 2) = =

— — 8,89t 1 23,03} — 23,03¢

= = 36,39« 4 4) = =

—_ — — — —_ (10,007,55) (10,007,55)

— $ — 2,140,87. $ 214 $147,393,15 $(138,592,94) $ 8,800,42:

—_ — — — 245,84: — 245,84:
4,436.7¢ 4 248,14° 2E 876,75 — 876,78t
(4,436.71) (4) 2,117,78 21z (20¢) — —
= = 1,308,61. 131 2,617,09. = 2,617,22.

— — — e 2,362,25! — 2,362,25!

— — 16,094 2 26,28: — 26,28t

—_ — 114,07 11 285,28 — 285,29!

— — — — — (8,019,13) (8,019,13)

— $ — 594558 $ 59t $153,806,46 $(146,612,08) $ 7,194,97

—_ —_ —_ —_ 289,87: —_ 289,87
6,644.2. 7 664,60( 6€ 3,539,87. — 3,539,94'
(3,029.81) 3 1,485,22! 14¢ (14¢€) = =
—_ — 14,72¢ 1 24,13¢ — 24,13]
42,61¢ 4 104,40: 104,40}

—_ — — — —_ (7,766,22) (7,766,22)

81¢

$ 3,387,11!
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows for operating activities:
Net loss $(7,766,22) $(8,019,13) $(10,007,55)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsegerating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 145,10( 150,66: 297,09
Stock-based compensation 289,87 245,84 319,36¢
Inventory charges — 151,55¢ 234,84
Warrants offering costs 50,87 376,30t —
Change in fair value of warrant liability (1,050,09) 289,65 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (189,319 175,52¢ 343,26
Inventories (116,709 119,93. 694,32°
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (195,459 52,74¢ (76,880)
Accounts payable 199,97! 65,53¢ (371,85
Accrued expenses and compensation 998,43: (54,635 (530,14
Deferred revenue, deferred costs, and other (44,956 (108,90 (78,04¢)
Net cash used in operating activities (7,678,49) (6,554,90) (9,175,56)
Cash flows for investing activities:
Purchases of fixed assets (227,309 (86,079 (107,46Y
Release of restricted cash — — 229,50(
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (227,309 (86,079 122,03!
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of stock and warramtgjding
public offering and equity plans 7,932,03: 7,155,19: 7,482,88
Payments on capital lease — (17,929 (20,320
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,932,03. 7,137,26: 7,462,56.
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 26,23: 496,27! (1,590,96)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 9,195,75: 8,699,47i 10,290,44

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $9,221,98! $9,195,75. $ 8,699,47

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Common stock issued to settle incentive compensafidigation $ 104,40 $ 28529! §$ —

Warrants issued under Securities Purchase Agredamigally
recorded as a non-current liability $4,418,82. $4,011,20! $ =

Common stock issued in exchange for warrants $ —  $ — $ 127,88!

Warrants issued in public offering $ — % — $ 2,373,26




vt e e sremre s B T TR LI S L TRt SR

~J
exercise of warrants $ — $2,362,25' $
The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentatio

NeuroMetrix, Inc., or the Company, a Delaware coagion, was founded in June 1996. The Company dpgelearable
medical technology and point-of-care tests thap Ipatients and physicians better manage chronit, parve diseases, and
sleep disorders. The Company markets the SENSUSain Management System, or SENSUS, which is a \uksatiaerapeutic
device designed for relief of chronic, intractapén. The Company also markets DPNCheck®, whiehdsantitative nerve
conduction test that is used by physicians andiheale professionals to evaluate systemic neung@gsasuch as diabetic
peripheral neuropathy, or DPN. The Company’s hisabneurodiagnostic business is based on the ADEZENM NCS/EMG
System, or the ADVANCE System, which is a comprehenplatform for the performance of traditionahreeconduction
studies and invasive electromyography procedurdsadnich is primarily used in physician offices asithics.

On June 26, 2014, the Company entered into a Siesufiurchase Agreement, as amended providingnéoissuance of (i)
664,600 shares of common stock at a price of $2eD4hare, (i) 2,621.859 shares of Series A-3dPred Stock at a price of
$1,000 per share, (iii) 4,022.357 shares of SexidsPreferred Stock at a price of $1,000 per sheamd, (iv) five year warrants
to purchase up to 3,921,569 shares of common stiiblan exercise price of $2.04 per share (the £20ffering”). The 2014
Offering resulted in approximately $8.0 milliongnoss proceeds, before deducting expenses. Nezguedrom the 2014
Offering were approximately $7.9 million. Duringetsecond and third quarter of 2014 all of the Seki€ Preferred Stock was
converted into a total of 1,285,225 shares of comstock. In addition, during the fourth quarte26fL4, a portion of the Series
A-4 Preferred Stock was converted into a total@d,200 shares of common stock. See Note 12, Stéabddtsd Equity, for
further details.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd on a basis which assumes that the Compahgoniinue as a
going concern and which contemplates the realinaifaassets and satisfaction of liabilities and ootments in the normal
course of business. The Company has suffered eguasses from operations and negative cash ffosvs operating
activities. The Company’s net losses for 2014, 2&1@ 2012 were approximately $7.8 million, $8.0liovl and $10.0 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2014, the Companyanaaccumulated deficit of $154.4 million. The Camnyp held cash and
cash equivalents of $9.2 million as of December2B14. The Company believes that these resouraktharcash to be
generated from expected product sales will be @efit to meet its projected operating requiremémisugh the third quarter of
2015. The Company continues to face significantiehges and uncertainties and, as a result, thep@owis available capital
resources may be consumed more rapidly than clyrexpected due to (a) decreases in sales of tihgp@ny’'s products and
the uncertainty of future revenues from new prostudt) changes the Company may make to the busihasaffect ongoing
operating expenses; (¢) changes the Company mag imdtls business strategy; (d) regulatory develem® affecting the
Company’s existing products and delays in the Fpgraval process for products under developmengl{ahges the
Company may make in its research and developmemndapy plans; and (f) other items affecting the @any’s forecasted
level of expenditures and use of cash resourcesrméingly, the Company will need to raise additidiaads to support its
operating and capital needs in the fourth quarft@0@5 and beyond. These factors raise substattidit about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The finahstatements do not include any adjustments tigtitmesult from the
outcome of this uncertainty. The Company intendstti@in additional funding through public or priedinancing, collaborative
arrangements with strategic partners, or througlitiadal credit lines or other debt financing sas¢o increase the funds
available to fund operations. However, the Compaay not be able to secure such financing in a timenner or on
favorable terms, if at all. Furthermore, if the Guany issues equity or debt securities to raisetiaddi funds, its existing
stockholders may experience dilution, and the ngwite or debt securities may have rights, prefeesrand privileges senior to
those of the Company’s existing stockholders. éf @ompany raises additional funds through collaimmalicensing or other
similar arrangements, it may be necessary to neligvaluable rights to its potential products mpietary technologies, or
grant licenses on terms that are not favorablagdompany. Without additional funds, the Comparay tme forced to delay,
scale back
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or eliminate some of its sales and marketing effogsearch and development activities, or otheratjpns and potentially
delay product development in an effort to provid#isient funds to continue its operations. If afythese events occurs, the
Company’s ability to achieve its development anchioercialization goals would be adversely affected.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith United States generally accepted accountiigciples requires
management to make significant estimates and agmmaphat affect the reported amounts of assetdiahilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the redaimounts of revenue and
expenses during reporting periods. Actual resutgd:differ from those estimates.

The Company bases its estimates on historical equ and various other assumptions that it bedi¢wde reasonable
under the circumstances and regularly assessesdbtmates, but actual results could differ maligrfrom these estimates.
Effects of changes in estimates are recorded ipéhied in which they occur.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith an original maturity of ninety days or lesstte cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are recorded at cost which appeies fair value. The Company invests cash prignaria money market
account and other investments which managemergvesliare subject to minimal credit and market risk.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose tlen@any to concentrations of credit risk consistnariily of cash and cash
equivalents in bank deposit accounts and tradevages. The Company invests its funds in hightgdanstitutions and limits
its investment in any individual account so thatytldo not exceed FDIC limits. The Company has rRpegenced significant
losses related to cash and cash equivalents asdhdb®elieve it is exposed to any significant @rasks relating to its cash
and cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2014, one customer accounted fitr @0accounts receivable. For the year ended Deeeih 2014 one
customer accounted for more than 10% of revenuethiéoyears ended December 31, 2013, and 2012ngle €ustomer
accounted for more than 10% of revenue.

The Company relies on in-house assembly and thiekparty manufacturers to manufacture the magotipn of its
current products and product components. The dismupr termination of the supply of these produmts significant increase
in the cost of these products from these sourcelsl¢tmve an adverse effect on the Company’s busjfieancial position, and
results of operations.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased comgnts, are stated at the lower of cost or magkest is determined
using the first-in, first-out method. The Compangtes down inventory to its net realizable valuedgcess or obsolete
inventory.

Fair Value

The carrying amounts of the Company’s accountsvabée, accounts payable, and accrued expensesxamgite their fair
value at December 31, 2014 and 2013 due to thé-sdrar nature of these assets and liabilities. Company’s cash
equivalents and its warrant liability are carri¢dadr value determined according to the fair vahirrarchy described in Note 9.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitgria have been met: persuasive evidence of mmgement exists,
delivery has occurred and risk of loss has paghedseller’s price to the buyer is fixed or deterafile, and collection is
reasonably assured.

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEces to customers and distributors are recognigeeh shipment,
provided that the selling price is fixed or detematile, persuasive evidence of an arrangement ge@lsction of receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastifyable, and no continuing obligations exist. Téweenues from the sale of
an ADVANCE communication hub together with accesBléuroMetrix information systems are considereel onit of
accounting and deferred and recognized on a straighbasis over the estimated period of time thatCompany provides the
service associated with the information systenthigfe years. The resulting deferred revenue arefrdef costs are presented
as separate line items on the accompanying bakiress. Revenues related to extended service agnéefoethe devices are
recognized ratably over the term of the extendeda®=agreement. Revenues associated with theottle SENSUS and
DPNCheck devices are recognized upon shipmentjgeduhat the selling price is fixed or determimalgersuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, collection of receivaldesasonably assured, product returns are reblgoestimable, and no
continuing obligations exist. Revenues also inclsales of consumables, including single use ngyeeific electrodes and
other accessories. These revenues are recognipedshfpment provided that the selling price is dixe determinable,
persuasive evidence of an arrangement existsctiolteof receivables is reasonably assured, anduystaeturns are reasonably
estimable.

When multiple elements are contained in a singiergement, the Company allocates revenue betweegl¢ments based
on their relative selling prices. The Company detaes selling price using vendor specific objectwédence, or VSOE, if it is
available, third-party evidence, or TPE, if VSOme available, and best estimate of selling priceBESP, if neither VSOE
nor TPE are available. The Company generally espibett it will not be able to establish TPE du¢ht® nature of the markets
in which it competes, and, as such, it will typigaletermine selling price using VSOE or if not éable, BESP. The objective
of BESP is to determine the selling price of awdgtible on a standalone basis. The Company’s ditation of BESP involves
a weighting of several factors based on the spefEfits and circumstances of an arrangement. $qahif the Company
considers the cost to produce the deliverableatttieipated margin on that deliverable, the selprige and profit margin for
similar parts, its ongoing pricing strategy, théuesof any enhancements that have been built rgaléliverable, and the
characteristics of the varying markets in whichdleéverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includiagessments of expected returns and expected custatenship
periods. The Company analyzes various factorsydhieyy a review of specific transactions, its higtalrreturns, average
customer relationship periods, customer usagepmestbalances, and market and economic conditidmsnges in judgments
or estimates on these factors could materially chg#e timing and amount of revenues and costgrézed. Should market or
economic conditions deteriorate, the Company’saatturn or bad debt experience could exceedttmate. Certain product
sales are made with a 30-day right of return. StheeCompany can reasonably estimate future retitmecognizes revenues
associated with product sales that contain a o§he¢turn upon shipment and at the same time d@rdsca sales return reserve,
which reduces revenue and accounts receivableeogrttount of estimated returns.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable on the balance sheet are redaret of the allowance for doubtful accounts neadglie and the reserve
for estimated returns. The allowance for doubtdaunts is the Company’s best estimate of the atrafysrobable credit
losses in its existing accounts receivable. The @aomw reviews its
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allowance for doubtful accounts and determinestlosvance based on an analysis of customer pastgrayhistory, product

usage activity, and recent communications betwieerCompany and the customer. Past due balancesvéewed individually
for collectibility. Account balances are writtenfafyainst the allowance when the Company feefsptobable the receivable
will not be recovered. The Company does not hayeofirbalance sheet credit exposure related touttomers.

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asddiadnility method. Deferred income tax assets keduilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences ataillatto differences between the financial stateroanying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respeciticome tax bases, and operating loss and tak cexdyforwards. The
Company’s financial statements contain certainmedetax assets, which have arisen primarily assalt of operating losses, as
well as other temporary differences between firalrend tax accounting. In accordance with the ioms of the Income
Taxes topic of the Codification, the Company isuiegd to establish a valuation allowance if thelifkood of realization of the
deferred tax assets is reduced based on an ewaldtobjective verifiable evidence. Significantmagement judgment is
required in determining the Company’s provisionifarome taxes, the Company’s deferred tax assetfiabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against those nericefeax assets. The Company evaluates the welfigtiitavailable evidence
to determine whether it is more likely than notttb@ame portion or all of the net deferred incomeassets will not be realized.

Utilization of the NOL and research and developneeatlit carryforwards may be subject to a substhatinual limitation
due to ownership change limitations that have aeclpreviously or that could occur in the future paovided by Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well miai state provisions. Ownership changes may fhétamount of NOL and
tax credit carryforwards that can be utilized ttsef future taxable income and tax, respectivelygdneral, an ownership
change, as defined by Section 382, results fronms#éetions increasing the ownership of certain $twdders or public groups in
the stock of a corporation by more than 50 perggnfmints over a three-year period. If the Compzag/experienced a change
of control, utilization of its NOL or tax creditauryforwards would be subject to an annual limitatinder Section 382. Any
limitation may result in expiration of a portion e NOL or research and development credit canydods before utilization.
Subsequent ownership changes could further impadirhitation in future years. Further, until adyus completed and any
limitation known, no amounts are being presenteanasncertain tax position. A full valuation allowee has been provided
against the Company’s NOL carryforwards and reseanc! development credit carryforwards and, if @nstment is required,
this adjustment would be offset by an adjustmeniéovaluation allowance. Thus, there would bempaict to the balance sheet
or statement of operations if an adjustment weneired.

Management performed a two-step evaluation obalpositions, ensuring that these tax return postmeet the “more
likely than not” recognition threshold and can beasured with sufficient precision to determineliraefit recognized in the
financial statements. These evaluations provideagament with a comprehensive model for how a comphould recognize,
measure, present, and disclose in its financigstants certain tax positions that the Companytdden or expects to take on
income tax returns.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in research and development arensggeas incurred. Included in research and devenpoosts are wages,
benefits, product design consulting, and other &gy costs such as facilities, supplies, and aexidirectly related to the
Company’s research and development efforts.

Product Warranty Costs

The Company accrues estimated product warrantg ebvshe time of sale which are included in costadés in the
statements of operations. The amount of the acamaedhnty liability is based on historical inforrimat such as past experience,
product failure rates, number of units repaired| estimated cost of
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material and labor. The liabilities for product waarty costs of $1,784 and $4,719 at December 314 26d 2013, respectively,
are included in accrued expenses in the accompagugiance sheets.

Fixed Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and deprecisitegl the straight-line method over the estimatexfuldife of each asset.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are cdmexpense as incurred. On disposal, the rekssets and accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts aydresulting gain or loss is included in the Compsustatement of
operations. Leasehold improvements are amortizedthe shorter of the estimated useful life ofithprovement or the
remaining term of the lease.

The Company periodically evaluates the recovetshifi its fixed assets and other long-lived assdtsnever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that an eveimigdirment may have occurred. This periodic revieay result in an
adjustment of estimated depreciable lives or asgeirment. When indicators of impairment are pnésthe carrying values of
the asset are evaluated in relation to the aspetating performance and future undiscounted dastsfof the underlying
assets. If the future undiscounted cash flowses® than their book value, an impairment may extst.impairment is
measured as the difference between the book vallighe fair value of the underlying asset. Faiuealare based on estimates
of the market prices and assumptions concerningri@unt and timing of estimated future cash flomd assumed discount
rates, reflecting varying degrees of perceived risk

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost is generally recednatably over the requisite service period. Tben@any uses the
Black-Scholes option pricing model for determinthe fair value of its stock options and amortizestock-based
compensation expense using the straight-line methloel Black-Scholes model requires certain assumgthat involve
judgment. Such assumptions are the expected shiaeevplatility, expected life of options, expectadnual dividend yield, and
risk-free interest rate (See Note 3 — Stock-Baseah@nsation and Stockholders’ Equity).

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed bdidiyinet loss applicable to common stockholderthbyweighted
average number of common shares outstanding dtivéegeriod. Unvested restricted shares, althouggilieissued and
outstanding, are not considered outstanding fapgmes of calculating basic net income per shatate®i net loss per common
share is computed by dividing net loss by the wigidtaverage number of common shares outstandirggdiine period plus the
dilutive effect of the weighted average numberwitanding instruments such as options, warragssricted stock, and
preferred stock. Because the Company has reportetllass for all periods presented, diluted lcessgpmmon share is the
same as basic loss per common share, as the effatilizing the fully diluted share count would\reareduced the net loss per
common share. Therefore, in calculating net losspare amounts, shares underlying the followingmally dilutive
weighted average number of common stock equivalgats excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per common
share because their effect was anti-dilutive faheat the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Options 500,82t 161,39: 53,99¢
Warrants 2,436,33 2,055,73. 741,54t
Unvested restricted stock 4,48¢ 22,38’ 31,69¢
Convertible preferred stock 912,57( — —

Total 3,854,22. 2,239,51. 827,24
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The Beneficial Conversion Feature, or BCF, recoiiddabth the 2014 Offering and 2013 Offering hasrbeecognized as a
deemed dividend attributable to the Preferred Stoukis reflected as an adjustment in the calariaif earnings per share. See
Note 12, Stockholders’ Equity, for further details.

Net loss per common share applicable to commorkistdders, basic and diluted was determined asvisliio

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $ (7,766,22) $(8,019,13) $(10,007,55)
Deemed dividend attributable to preferred

stockholders in connection with beneficial

conversion features (2,955,66) (766,877) —
Net loss applicable to common stockholc $(10,721,89) $(8,786,00) $(10,007,55)
Net loss per common share applicable to com

stockholders, basic and diluted $ 159 % (3.0 $ (5.29)
Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding, basic and diluted 6,973,97 2,862,09 1,918,72.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising and promotional costs are expensed@agied. Advertising and promotion expense was $R) $151,000,
and $242,000 in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive | tems

For 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company had no coemsf other comprehensive income or loss otleer et loss.
Segments

The Company operates in one segment for the sateedical equipment and consumables. Substantihibf the
Company’s assets, revenues, and expenses for 2013, and 2012 were located at or derived fromatjers in the United
States. Revenues from sales outside the UnitedsSaatounted for approximately 19% of total revenne014, 16% of total
revenues in 2013, and 7% of total revenues in 2012.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to risks common to companiése medical device industry, including, but histited to,
development by the Company or its competitors @f technological innovations, dependence on keygmersl, customers’
reimbursement from third-party payers, protectibproprietary technology, and compliance with reduans of the FDA and
other governmental agencies.

Recently | ssued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate No. 2014-1®isclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s
Ability to Continue as a Going ConcefASU 2014-15). ASU 2014-15 requires managemenssess an entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, and to provide reffatethote disclosures in certain circumstances. Stardard is effective for
public entities for annual and interim periods Ibegig after December 15, 2016, with early adopiermitted. The Company
is evaluating the provisions of ASU 2014-15 andceasig the impact, if any, it may have on finanpwdition, results of
operations or cash flows.
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In May 2014, the FASB and the International AccaumStandards Board (“IASB”) jointly issued Accoing Standards
Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contragith Customers (“ASU 2014-09"), a comprehensive mevenue
recognition standard that will supersede nearlgxiting revenue recognition guidance. The objeobf ASU 2014-09 is that a
company will recognize revenue when it transfemspsed goods or services to customers in an antbanteflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to bétledtin exchange for those goods or services. 2BW4-09 will be effective
for the first quarter of 2017. An entity can elexadopt ASU 2014-09 using one of two methods eeiftll retrospective
adoption to each prior reporting period, or recaing the cumulative effect of adoption at the d#tanitial application. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the nemdstal and does not know the effect, if any, ASU402 will have on the
Consolidated Financial Statements or which adoptiethod will be used.

3. Stock-Based Compensation

During 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stocio®pind Incentive Plan, as amended and restat2@ddé, 2008, 2009,
2012 and 2013. At the Annual Meeting of Stockhaddeszld on May 6, 2014, the stockholders of the Camgapproved the
Company’s Sixth Amended and Restated 2004 Stoclo®phd Incentive Plan (the “2004 Stock Plan”), ethiamong other
things, increased the number of shares of the Coytypaommon stock authorized for issuance thereubg&00,000 shares.
The 2004 Stock Plan, among other things, providegifanting of incentive and nonqualified stockioptand stock bonus
awards to officers, employees and outside congslt@utstanding options under the 2004 Stock Péareiglly vest over three
or four years and terminate 10 years after thetgtaie, or earlier if the option holder is no longa executive officer,
employee, consultant, advisor or director, as apple, of the Company. As of December 31, 20146279 shares of
common stock were authorized for issuance unde2@4é Stock Plan, of which 212,408 shares had tsseed, 561,767
shares were subject to outstanding options at ghted average exercise price of $6.31 per shar®@®d04 shares were
available for future grant.

During May 2009, the Company adopted the 2009 Naalfjed Inducement Stock Plan (the “2009 Inducentdan”). The
2009 Inducement Plan is intended to encourage aable employees, including prospective employeietheoCompany upon
whose judgment, initiative, and efforts the Compkamgely depends for the successful conduct diutsiness to acquire a
proprietary interest in the Company. The 2009 Irdoent Plan, among other things, provides for thatyrg of awards,
including non-qualified stock options, restrictédck, and unrestricted stock. As of December 3142@00,000 shares of
common stock were authorized for issuance unde2@8 Inducement Plan, of which 200,000 shareskad issued and were
outstanding.

The exercise price of stock options awarded urtteP004 Stock Plan and the 2009 Inducement Plamigye less than
the fair market value of the common stock on the déthe option grant. For holders of more thaoldf the Company'’s total
combined voting power of all classes of stock, irise stock options may not be granted at less 11886 of the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock at the datgrafit and for a term not to exceed five years.

In June 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Emplsi@ek Purchase Plan (the “2004 ESPP”). All of@eenpany’s
employees who had been employed by the Comparat feast 60 days and whose customary employmént more than 20
hours per week and for more than five months in@aigndar year were eligible to participate and emyployee who owned
5% or more of the voting power or value of the Camps stock was not eligible to participate. Th@2&SPP authorized the
issuance of up to a total of 10,417 shares of t@any’s common stock to participating employees.

In May 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Empl&teek Purchase Plan (the “2010 ESPP”). The 201(PHSGiRally
authorized the issuance of up to a total of 6,9Bes, of the Company’s common stock to partiaigagimployees plus an
annual increase on the first day of each of the omy's fiscal years
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beginning in 2011, equal to the lesser of (i) 6,94&res, (ii) 1 percent of the shares of commockstatstanding on the last day
of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or @ich lesser number of shares as is determinecetdard. At the Company’s
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 14, 2ah2 stockholders of the Company approved the Goryip Amended

and Restated 2010 Employee Stock Purchase PlatAmiended and Restated 2010 ESPP”), which, amoimgrdhings,
increased the number of shares of the Company’srmonstock authorized for issuance thereunder ly6I6shares. All of the
Company’s full-time employees and certain part-tengployees are eligible to participate in the Amezhdnd Restated 2010
ESPP. For part-time employees to be eligible, thegt have customary employment of more than fivethmin any calendar
year and more than 20 hours per week. Employees aites exercising their rights to purchase shareter the Amended and
Restated 2010 ESPP, would own shares represeding Bnore of the voting power of the Company’s camrstock, are
ineligible to participate.

Under the Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP, pattigpgamployees can authorize the Company to withkplto 10% of
their earnings during consecutive six-month paynpeniods for the purchase of the shares. At thelosion of each period,
participating employees can purchase shares atd3%B& lower of their fair market value at the begng or end of the period.
The Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP is regardecoaspensatory plan. For the years ended Decembh@032 and 2013
the Company issued 14,725 and 16,094 sharesadrtson stock, respectively, under the Amended awlaRed 2010 ESPP
and the 2010 ESPP, respectively. As of Decembe2@1l4, there were 124,280 remaining shares tosoedunder the
Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricingehfor determining the fair value of shares ahogon stock issued
or to be issued under the 2010 ESPP and the AmeamikRestated 2010 ESPP. The following assumpéionssed in
determining fair value: The risk-free interest ragsumption is based on the United States Treasaoyistant maturity rate for
a six month term (corresponding to the expectetoperm) on the date the option was granted. Kpeeted dividend yield is
zero because the Company does not currently pagetisls nor expects to do so during the expectadrofgrm. An expected
term of six months is used based on the durati@aoh plan offering period. The volatility assuroptis based on a
consideration of stock price volatility over the shoecent period of time corresponding to the etqueterm and is also based
on expected future stock price volatility.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of stqations used in the calculation of stock-basedmamsation expense in
the accompanying statement of operations for tlaesyended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 islatdd using the
following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
1.4% — 1.4% - 0.6% —
Risk-free interest rate 1.8% 1.7% 0.9%
Expected dividend yield — — —
Expected option term 5 year: 5 year: 5 year:
Volatility 70.(% 70.(% 70.(%

The risk-free interest rate assumption is basetthetnited States Treasury’s constant maturity fiata five year term
(corresponding to the expected option term) ordtte the option was granted. The expected divigézid is zero as the
Company does not currently pay dividends nor exptcto so during the expected option term. Theetgal option term of
five years is estimated based on an analysis ahhoption exercises and a review of comparableicaédevice companies.
The volatility assumption is based on weekly histrvolatility during the time period that corresls to the expected option
term, a review of comparable medical device comgmaind expected future stock price volatility. Phe-vesting forfeiture
rate is based on the historical and projected geetarnover rate of employees.
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A summary of option activity for the year ended Braber 31, 2014 is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual Aggregate
Options Exercise Price Life (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 310,14¢  $ 13.2(
Granted 537,30( 1.82
Exercised — —
Forfeited (84,559 10.3(
Expired (1,125 249.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 761,76 5.1t 9.1t  $ 109,46(
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 691,40: 5.4¢ 9.11 100,76:
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 146,64t 19.1( 7.8: 21,58¢

Expected to vest options are determined by applfiegre-vesting forfeiture rate to the total cansling options.
Aggregate intrinsic value represents the totaltpreintrinsic value (the aggregate difference betwihe closing stock price of
the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 28xdpplicable, and the exercise price for thé@rmoney options) that
would have been received by the option holder# tha in-the-money options had been exercised ecenber 31, 2014.

The weighted average per share grant-date faiesadfioptions granted during 2014, 2013, and 2042 $1.06, $1.02, and
$2.67, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options issuedxarcised during 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $0.

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation celstied to non-vested stock options was $538,18&hakelated to
615,953 shares with a per share weighted fair valli$9.87 as of December 31, 2014. This unrecognipst is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of ajpmately 2.3 years.

Stock options granted to non-employees are recatlfadr value and adjusted to market over theinggieriod. The
Company determines fair value using the Black-Sehoption pricing model, an expected term equtidmption term, a risk-
free interest rate corresponding to the expectex, ta stock price volatility over the most receatipd of time corresponding to
the expected term and also based on expected ftaak price volatility, and a dividend yield ofree There were no options
granted to non-employees during the years endedrbleer 31, 2014, 2013 or 2012.

Beginning in 2010, certain employees have beentgdamestricted stock. There were no restrictedksgpants in 2014.
During 2013, and 2012, the Company granted 2,00 3&,167 shares of restricted stock, respectiviédg. restricted stock
vests based on continuing employment. The fairevalirestricted stock is calculated based on their) sale price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of issuance.

A summary of restricted stock activity for the yeaded December 31, 2014 is presented below:

Weighted

Average
Restricted Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Restricted shares at December 31, 2013 17,47¢ $ 4.62
Granted — —
Vested (16,649 (4.75)

Canceled — —
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During 2014, 2013 and 2012, certain employeeseindf paying withholding taxes on the vestingedtricted stock,
authorized the withholding of an aggregate of 214,and 721 shares, respectively, of common stwshtisfy the minimum
tax withholding requirements related to such vegstihares withheld were calculated using the mamke¢ of the common
stock.

Cash received from option exercises and purchasdsr the 2004 ESPP and the 2010 ESPP for the §6&4ds 2013, and
2012 was $24,000, $26,000, and $23,000, respegtiVee Company issues new shares upon option eestgiurchases under
the Company’s ESPPs, and vesting of restrictedstoc

The Company recorded stock-based compensation ssméi$290,000, $246,000, and $319,000 for 20143 2énd 2012,
respectively.

4. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
Purchased components $ 209,42t $ 205,32
Finished goods 470,31 357,71t

$ 679,74 $ 563,03

5. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

Estimated December 31,
Useful Life
(Years) 2014 2013
Construction in process $ 182,75 —
Computer and laboratory equipment 3 1,782,331  $ 1,748,56!
Furniture and equipment 3 109,61 249,37
Production equipment 7 745,59¢ 997,29
Leasehold improvements * 7,26¢ 185,25!
2,827,56! 3,180,49!
Less — accumulated depreciation (2,516,04) (2,951,18)

$ 311,52 $ 229,31

* Lesser of life of lease or estimated useful life.
Depreciation expense was $145,100, $150,663, a8, $238 for 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

F-16




TABLE OF CONTENTS

NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

6. Accrued Compensation and Expenses

The following table provides a rollforward of thebility balance for severance obligations whictsweacorded as research
and development and sales and marketing expertse ompany’s Statement of Operations for 20142818. The balance as
of December 31, 2014 which is included as a compiboieaccrued compensation on the balance sheldvevaid by June 30,
2015.

December 31,

2014 2013
Balance — beginning $110,60¢ $ —
Accrual for severance 302,75¢ 532,11!
Severance payments made (264,44) (421,50
Balance — ending $148,92: $ 110,60¢

Accrued expenses consist of the following for tearg ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:

December 31,

2014 2013
Technology fees $ 450,000 $ 450,00(
Professional services 257,02 263,64.
Consulting fees 173,75¢ —
Clinical study obligations 74,00( 51,42«
Sales taxes 34,20¢ 32,68t¢
Personnel related obligations 37,76: 12,32:
Federal excise tax 25,98¢ 24,60(
Other 212,13 35,52(

$1,264,87¢ $ 870,19t

7. Income Taxes

Current income tax expense (benefit) attributableantinuing operations consists of the followiog the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012.

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Federal — — —
State — — —

Total — — —

The Company’s effective income tax rate differgrirthe statutory federal income tax rate as follfavghe years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012.

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Federal tax provision (benefit) rate (34.0% (34.0% (34.0%
State tax provision, net of federal provision (7.0 (4.9 (3.5




Federal research and development credits
Expiration of tax attribute
Valuation allowance

Effective income tax rate
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7. Income Taxes — (continued)

The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of thefimg:

December 31,

2014 2013

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $35,449,69 $ 32,253,60

Research and development credit carryforwards 1,855,58 1,735,26!

Accrued expenses 657,13. 493,07!

Stock-based compensation 590,00¢ 565,07"

Other 13,50¢ 1,061,21:
Total gross deferred tax assets 38,565,92 36,108,23
Valuation allowance (38,565,92) (36,108,23)

Net deferred tax asse $ — % —

At December 31, 2014, the Company has federal tatel set operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”") ofd514 million and
$24 million, respectively, as well as federal atatestax credits of $1.2 million and $1.0 milliamspectively, which may be
available to reduce future taxable income and ¢feged taxes thereon. This amount includes taxflieé $3.9 million and
$71,000 attributable to NOL and tax credit carryfards, respectively, that result from the exerofsemployee stock options.
The tax benefit of these items will be recorded asedit to additional paid-in capital upon rediiza of the deferred tax asset
or reduction in income taxes payable. The fedefaL begin to expire in 2019 and the state NOL'gihdo expire in 2015.
The federal and state research and developmentschedh begin to expire in 2018.

In accordance with the provisions of the Incomeekatopic of the Codification, the Company has eatald the positive and
negative evidence bearing upon the realizabilitiofleferred tax assets, which are comprised ipdtly of net operating
losses. Management has determined that it is nialy than not that the Company will not recogniize benefits of federal
and state deferred tax assets and, as a resaliya@ion allowance of approximately and $38.6 willand $36.1 million has
been established at December 31, 2014 and 20}#®atésely. Utilization of the NOL and research atevelopment credit
carryforwards may be subject to a substantial drimaation due to ownership change limitationstimhave occurred
previously or that could occur in the future, asvided by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Gidi986, as well as similar
state provisions. Ownership changes may limit thewnt of NOL and tax credit carryforwards that banutilized to offset
future taxable income and tax, respectively. Inegah an ownership change, as defined by Secti@nrg8ults from
transactions increasing the ownership of certaamediolders or public groups in the stock of a caafion by more than 50
percentage points over a three-year period. IXbmpany has experienced a change of control, afiitiz of its NOL or tax
credits carryforwards would be subject to an antioddation under Section 382. Any limitation magsult in expiration of a
portion of the NOL or research and developmentitrzaryforwards before utilization. Subsequent evahip changes could
further impact the limitation in future years. Fhet, until a study is completed and any limitatimown, no amounts are being
presented as an uncertain tax position. A full agéan allowance has been provided against the Coyp&lOL carryforwards
and research and development credit carryforwardsifian adjustment is required, this adjustmeotild be offset by an
adjustment to the valuation allowance. Thus, teyeld be no impact to the balance sheet or stateaieperations if an
adjustment were required.
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8. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

In June 2013, the Company amended the lease agnedated October 18, 2000 between Fourth Avenue ah@the
Company for office and engineering laboratory spgaaextend the term of the lease through Marct2815. Base rent for the
period from January 2014 through March 2015 is $52 per month.

The Company plans to relocate its corporate heatiEsaand operations facilities. In August 2014, @ompany entered
into a 5-year operating lease agreement with opeas-extension option for manufacturing and ordéiiiment facilities in
Woburn, Massachusetts (the “Woburn Lease”). The Wohease commenced December 15, 2014 and hasthlynbase rent
of $7,350. In September 2014, the Company entertedai 7-year operating lease agreement with oness-gxxtension option
for its corporate office and product developmenivdes in Waltham, Massachusetts (the “Walthanase?'). The term of the
Waltham Lease commences on February 20, 2015 ahales fixed payment obligations that escalate tweinitial lease
term. Average monthly base rent under the 7-yemelés approximately $37,792. These payment oigatvill be accrued
and recognized over the term of occupancy suchrémtexpense is recognized on a straight-linesbakider the Waltham
Lease, the landlord is responsible for making @eitaprovements to the leased space at an agremdagst to the landlord. If
the landlord and the Company mutually agree to niralpeovements that cost in excess of the agreed lgallord cost, the
landlord will bill that excess cost to the Compasyadditional rent. This additional rent, if andemtincurred, will be included
in the net calculation of lease payments, so st @xpense will be recognized on a straight-liagidover the remaining term
of occupancy.

Future minimum lease payments under non-canceltgigeating leases as of December 31, 2014 ardlaws$o

2015 $ 594,90¢
2016 515,72.
2017 527,69:
2018 539,66!
2019 544,28!
2020 475,40¢
2021 487,38(
2022 81,56
Total minimum lease payments $ 3,766,62.

Total recorded rent expense was $638,679, $635z01$709,164 for the 2014, 2013, and 2012, resedctThe
Company records rent expense on its facility lease straight-line basis over the lease term.

Other Commitments

At December 31, 2014, other commitments, compridgairchase orders, totaled approximately $76,338.

9. Fair Value Measurements

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures TdpigeoFinancial Accounting Standards Board (“FASBQcounting
Standards Codification (the “Codification”) definfesr value, establishes a framework for measufangvalue in applying
generally accepted accounting principles, and edpaisclosures about fair value measurements.Jdification topic
identifies two kinds of inputs that are used teedeiine the fair value of assets and liabilitiessetvable and unobservable.
Observable inputs are based on market data or émdiemt sources while unobservable inputs are aséte Company’s own
market assumptions. Once
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9. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

inputs have been characterized, this Codificatigictrequires companies to prioritize the inpusdu® measure fair value into
one of three broad levels. Fair values determinedddwvel 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjustedictive markets for
identical assets or liabilities. Fair values idBeti by Level 2 inputs utilize observable inputhertthan Level 1 prices, such as
quoted prices for similar assets or liabilitiesptpd prices in markets that are not active or ott@uts that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market dataufmstantially the full term of the related assetfiatwilities. Fair values
identified by Level 3 inputs are unobservable gatimts and are used to measure fair value to ttenethat observable inputs
are not available. Unobservable inputs reflectGbenpany’s own assumptions about the assumptiohsrfket participants
would use at pricing the asset or liability.

The following tables present information about @@mpany’s assets and liabilities that are measairéair value on a
recurring basis for the periods presented and a&tegcthe fair value hierarchy of the valuation tégbes it utilized to determine
such fair value. In general, fair values determibgd.evel 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjdyte active markets for
identical assets or liabilities. Fair values detiead by Level 2 inputs utilize data points that abservable such as quoted
prices, interest rates, and yield curves. Faireslletermined by Level 3 inputs are unobservalike mizints for the asset or
liability, and include situations where there tidi, if any, market activity for the asset or lii.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 4,107,47 $ 4,107,47¢ $ — % —
Total $ 410747 $ 4,107,470 $ —  $ —
Liabilities:
Common stock warrants $ 5,307,33 $ — 3 — $ 5,307,33
Total $ 5307,33 $ — $ — $ 5,307,33

Due to the lack of market quotes relating to oungwn stock warrants, the fair value of the comntonkswarrants was
determined at December 31, 2014 using the Blacloi&shmodel, which is based on Level 3 inputs. ABe€ember 31, 2014,
inputs used in the Black-Scholes model are preddrgow. The assumptions used may change as theglying sources of
these assumptions and market conditions changedBasthe Black-Scholes model, the Company recoadsmmmon stock
warrants liability of $5.3 million at December 2014.

Black-Scholes Inputs to Warrant Liability Valuation at December 31, 2014

Stock Exercise Expected Risk-Free Expected

Price Price Volatility Interest Term Dividends
Warrants:
2014 Offering $ 198 $ 2.04 71.11% 1.51% 4yr 6mc none
2013 Offering $ 198 $ 2.0C 75.71% 1.24% 3yr 5mc none

The following table provides a summary of changethée fair value of the Company’s Level 3 finandiabilities between
the initial warrant issuances in June 2013 and Bxes 31, 2014.

2014 Offering 2013 Offering Total
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — 3 — 3 —
Initial fair value of warrants at issuance in J@043 — 4,011,20! 4,011,20!

Change in fair value of warrant liability — 289,65° 289,65°
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9. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

2014 Offering 2013 Offering Total
Reclassification of liability to additional paid-gapital upon
exercise of warrants — (2,362,25)) (2,362,25)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ — $1,938,60: $ 1,938,60:
Initial fair value of warrants at issuance in J@04.4 4,418,82 — 4,418,82.
Change in fair value of warrant liability (185,09) (865,000 (1,050,09)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $4,233,72° $1,073,60. $ 5,307,33

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 3,926,600 $ 3,926,600 $ — $ =
Total $ 3,926,600 $ 3,926,600 $ — % —
Liabilities:
Common stock warrants $ 1,938,600 $ — % — $ 1,938,60:
Total $ 1,938,60: $ — 3 — 3 1,938,60:

Due to the lack of market quotes relating to oungwmn stock warrants, the fair value of the comntonkswarrants was
determined at December 31, 2013 using the Blaclol&shmodel, which is based on Level 3 inputs. ABe€ember 31, 2013,
inputs used in the Black-Scholes model are preddrgtow. The assumptions used may change as theglying sources of
these assumptions and market conditions changedBasthe Black-Scholes model, the Company recaadammon stock
warrants liability of $1.9 million at December 2013.

Black-Scholes Inputs to Warrant Liability Valuation at December 31, 2013

Stock Exercise Expected Risk-Free Expected

Price Price Volatility Interest Term Dividends
Warrants:
2013 Offering $ 292 $ 20C 67.6(% 1.71% 4yr 5mc none

10. Retirement Plan

The Company has established a 401(k) defined tanivin savings plan for its employees who meebaerervice period
and age requirements. Contributions are permitpetbthe maximum allowed under the Internal Revebode of each covered
employee’s salary. The savings plan permits the oy to contribute at its discretion. In 2014, 2@h8 2012 the Company
made no contributions to the plan.

11. Credit Facility

The Company is party to a Loan and Security Agregnae the Credit Facility, with a bank. As of Dedger 31, 2014 the
Credit Facility permitted the Company to borrowta®$2.5 million on a revolving basis. The Credithity was subsequently
amended and extended until January 15, 2016. Ammdartowed under the Credit Facility will bear nest equal to the prime
rate plus 0.5%. Any borrowings under the Creditiligiavill be collateralized by the Company’s casgttcounts receivable,
inventory, and equipment. The Credit Facility ird#s traditional lending and reporting covenant&sEehinclude certain
financial covenants applicable to liquidity tha¢ & be maintained by the Company. As of Decembef@14, the Company
was in compliance with these covenants and hatorobwed any funds under the Credit Facility. Hoee$451,731 of the



amount available under the Credit Facility is riestd to support letters of credit issued in
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11. Credit Facility — (continued)

favor of the Company’s landlords for its existingmise and the premises leased in September 2014 fature corporate
offices. Consequently, the amount available fordawmg under the Credit Facility as of December 2114 was $2.0 million.

12. Stockholders’ Equity
Public Offerings of Common Stock and Warrants

During June 2014 and June 2013 the Company enitgieedecurities purchase agreements for two eauiferings that were
similar in structure and in terms. The purchaseagent entered into in the 2014 Offering”) providedthe issuance of (i)
664,600 shares of common stock at a price of $2eD4hare, (ii) 2,621.859 shares of Series A-3dPred Stock at a price of
$1,000 per share, (iii) 4,022.357 shares of SexidsPreferred Stock at a price of $1,000 per shamd, (iv) five year warrants
to purchase up to 3,921,569 shares of common stihlkan exercise price of $2.04 per share. The ZDffdring resulted in
approximately $8.0 million in gross proceeds, befdeducting expenses. Net proceeds from the 20fe4iQf were
approximately $7.9 million.

The purchase agreement entered into in June 20832013 Offering”) provided for the issuance 9fZ#8,147 shares of
common stock at a price of $2.095 per share, (@$8.254 shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stockpaita of $1,000 per share,
(iii) 3,370.510 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Bttca price of $1,000 per share, and (iv) fiveryearrants to purchase up to
2,365,934 shares of common stock with an exergise pf $2.00 per share. The 2013 Offering resulegpproximately $5.0
million in gross proceeds, before deducting placgragent fees and other expenses. Net proceedslim#013 Offering were
approximately $4.5 million.

In these equity offerings, each share of Prefeftedk has or had a stated value of $1,000 andhigectible at the option of
the holder into the number of shares of commorkstietermined by dividing the stated value by thevession price which is
subject to adjustment as provided in each Certd#ich Designation for the Preferred Stock. The &refl Stock has no dividend
rights, liquidation preference or other preferenmesr common stock and has no voting rights exasgtrovided in each
Certificate of Designation for the Preferred Stackl as required by law.

The terms and conditions of the Preferred Stoclevegaluated based on the guidance of the Deriva#ind Hedging topic
of the Codification to determine if the conversfeature was an embedded derivative requiring béfiwo. It was concluded for
both equity offerings that bifurcation was not riegd because the conversion feature was clearlycksely related to the
Preferred Stock. The conversion price at whicheshaf Preferred Stock were convertible into shafe®mmon stock was
determined to be lower than the fair value of comratck at the date of the Purchase Agreement.“frhithe-money”
beneficial conversion feature, or BCF, requiredasafe recognition and measurement of its intriialae (i.e., the amount of
the increase in value that holders of PreferrediStmuld realize upon conversion based on the valilke conversion shares
on the date of the Purchase Agreement). For batlyegfferings, the BCF measurement was limitedhsytransaction
proceeds which had been allocated to the Pref&imck. Because there was not a stated redemptterfatethe shares of
Preferred Stock, the BCF was recognized as a dedimielénd attributable to the Preferred Stock agftected as an adjustment
in the calculation of earnings per share. The anwofthe BCF totaled $2,955,668 and $766,900 eetspely, for the 2014
Offering and the 2013 Offering.

The Series A-4 Preferred Stock outstanding as eEBer 31, 2014 is convertible into an aggregatg ©f1,744 shares of
common stock. During June and July 2014, all ofsih@res of the Series A-3 Preferred Stock wereere into 1,285,225
shares of common stock and in October 2014 a podfithe Series A-4 Preferred Stock were converted200,000 shares of
common stock. All of the Series A-1 Preferred Stankl the Series A-2 Preferred Stock issued in 88 Dffering was
converted in 2013 into a total of 2,117,787 shafesommon stock.
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12. Stockholders’ Equity — (continued)

The Company will continue to revalue unexercisedrargs from both the 2014 and 2013 offerings aheaporting period
over the life of the warrants using the Black-Selsahodel and the changes in the fair value of theamts will be recognized
in the Company’s statement of operations. The wisrissued in connection with the 2013 Offering #red2014 Offering are
within the scope of the Derivatives and Hedgingda the Codification. This Codification topic reiges issuers to classify as
liabilities (or assets under certain circumstanéi@shcial instruments which require an issuerdttls in registered shares. As
the warrants are required to be settled in regidtshares when exercised and since the Compaegusged to pay cash in the
event it does not make timely filings with the SE@ Company reflected the warrants as a liabilitthe balance sheet.

The fair value of the warrants issued in conneciith the 2014 Offering was estimated to be $4.Hioni on the offering
date using a Black-Scholes model with the followarsgumptions: stock price of $2.00, exercise mfck2.04, expected
volatility of 67.5%, risk free interest rate of 4%, expected term of five years, and no dividefiti®se warrants remain
outstanding. They were revalued at December 314 #0the amount of $4.2 million using the same Bi&choles model and
the liability was reflected in the December 31, 2B&lance sheet.

The 2013 Offering warrants were estimated at aviaine of $4.0 million on the offering date usinglack-Scholes model
with the following assumptions: stock price of ¥2.6xercise price of $2.00, expected volatility78f6%, risk free interest rate
of 1.05%, expected term of five years, and no dindk. These warrants were revalued at each subgeagperting period
using the same Black-Scholes model. The liabititythe remaining 1,057,323 warrants from the 20ff@ridg was reflected in
the balance sheet at December 31, 2014 in the ambéa.1 million.

In 2014 and 2013, the Company issued shares gffalited common stock in partial settlement of ganzent incentive
compensation. The 2014 issuance totaled 42,618shath a value of $104,400 reflecting the $2.4%itilg price of the
Company’s common stock as reported on the NASDARQit@aViarket on February 25, 2014. The 2013 issadotaled
119,370 shares with a value of $285,300 refledfireg$2.39 NASDAQ Capital Market closing price omdu, 2013.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 50,000s8a€fes of common stock authorized and 8,152, 7d@slssued and
outstanding. Each share of common stock entitiedtiider to one vote on all matters submittedtota of the Company’s
stockholders. Common stockholders are not entilgéceive dividends unless declared by the BoaRirectors.

At December 31, 2014, the Company has reserveddzgid shares of common stock for future issuasdeliows:

Warrants 5,760,84
Outstanding stock options 761,76
Possible future issuance under inducement plan 200,00(
Possible future issuance under stock option plans 502,10:
Possible future issuance under employee stock paecplan 124,28l
Total 7,348,99

13. Management Retention and Incentive Plan

The Company has adopted the Management Retenttbmaentive Plan (the “Plan”), under which a pantiaf the
consideration payable upon a change in controb&etion, as defined in the Plan and its amendmenisld be paid in cash to
certain executive officers and key employees androed as compensation expense within the Statesfi€@yerations during
the period in which the change of control trangacticcurs. The Plan is structured to work in cocjiom with, and not replace,
the Company’s other incentive programs and is aesido provide market-based incentives which velreduced over time by
any future equity grants to participants.
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13. Management Retention and Incentive Plan — (ctinued)

NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning of costs and other Recoveries/ End of
Description Period expenses accounts (Deductions) Period
December 31, 2014
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  $ 35,000 $ 26,04: $ — $ (23,04) $ 38,00(
Sales Returns Reserve 89t — 49,11« (48,049 1,96¢

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation
Allowance 36,108,23  3,280,60. —  (822,91)@ 38,565,92

December 31, 2013

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 130,000 $ 111,29 $ — $ (206290 D g 35,00(
Sales Returns Reserve 21,61¢ — 38,27¢ (58,999 (M 895
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation

Allowance 34,347,46  2,976,80 —  (1,216,04) @ 36,108,23

December 31, 2012

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $  286,61: $ (12,999 $ — $ (14361)®D $  130,00(
Sales Returns Reserve 13,30: - 180,06¢  (171,75) @ 21,61¢
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation

Allowance 30,487,08  3,900,38 — (40,009 @ 34,347,46

(1) Net write-offs.

(2) Expiration of Federal and State Net Operatingd_Carryforwards and other reductions.
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:-BL8059, 333-
135242, 333-151195, 333-159712, 333-159713, 333-86,7333-173769, 333-183071, 333-186827, 333-189383190177,
and 333-197407) and on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-150083-1%2303, 333-178165, 333-186855, 333-189392,13%2105 and
333-199359) of NeuroMetrix, Inc. of our report dhteebruary 25, 2015 relating to the financial stegnts and financial
statement schedule, which appears in this Form .04 also consent to the reference to us underghding “Selected
Financial Data” in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 25, 2015




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Shai N. Gozani, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16ffeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#tate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indighe circumstances under which such statenvwesits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the registesnof, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiarinéion relating to the registrant, including itmeolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is
being prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the teai$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant'sthad directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 25, 2015 /sl SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas T. Higgins, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16ffeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#tate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indighe circumstances under which such statenvwesits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the registesnof, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiarinéion relating to the registrant, including itmeolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is
being prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the teai$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant'sthad directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 25, 2015 /sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS

Thomas T. Higgins
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer an@asurer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned offisENeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporatiore(titompany”), does
hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @14 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliesgth the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéeasrExchange Act of 1934, as amended, and tlwerirdtion contained in the
Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respetit® financial condition and results of operatiohthe Company.

Date: February 25, 2015 /sl SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 25, 2015 /sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS

Thomas T. Higgins
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer ah@asurer

This certification is being furnished and not fileshd shall not be incorporated into any documenafy purpose, under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securitiesok 1933.




